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NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE ENTERED DURING THIS HEARING


Thursday, October 12, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  The Board is sitting today in connection with an application filed on August 25th by Enbridge Gas Distribution under section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act and also with respect to a Procedural Order that the Board issued on October 4th regarding that matter, setting out, amongst other things, that the Board will sit today to deal with the issues in this proceeding.


Can we have the appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Fred Cass for Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Chairman, members of the Board, Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Klippenstein.


MR. POCH:  Good morning, sir, David Poch for the Green Energy Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd for the School Energy Coalition.  

And I'd like to enter an appearance, as well, for my colleague John DeVellis, who will be representing the HVAC Coalition.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. MANNING:  Good morning.  Paul Manning of the Low ‑‑ representing the Low Income Energy Network.  Thank you.


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes, it's Eric Hoaken for Direct Energy.  Good morning, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  It's Elisabeth DeMarco for Coral Energy, for TransAlta Energy Corporation, and for Superior Energy Management.  My submissions today will be strictly on behalf of TransAlta and Superior.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, Robert Warren for the Consumers' Council of Canada.  

I want to enter an appearance, as well, for Peter Thompson on behalf of the Industrial Gas Users Association and for Union Energy LP.  Mr. Thompson has provided me with instructions to speak on his behalf -- or, rather, his clients' behalf, with respect to one of the issues.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar for Board Staff, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Mr. Millar, how do you want to proceed?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


I think the first item of business, unless somebody tells me differently, should be the Enbridge request regarding VECC and LIEN and the intervenor and cost status of those two parties.


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Enbridge Gas Distribution, as the Board is aware, has submitted a letter to the Board regarding the interventions by VECC and LIEN.  That letter, essentially, sets out the position of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It's dated September 28th, 2006 and was written on behalf of Enbridge by Mr. Stevens, who is here with me today.


In light of the contents of that letter, I don't have a lot more to say, but I did have some brief submissions on the issue, if it's in order for me to proceed with that now, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Please proceed.


MR. CASS:  All right.


Mr. Chair, the proposition that Enbridge Gas Distribution starts from in relation to the issue raised by these interventions is that the cost of interventions, of course, is ultimately borne by all ratepayers.  


As a result of that proposition, Enbridge Gas Distribution believes that there is a fundamental issue for the Board to think about in relation to these two interventions, and that fundamental issue is whether it is appropriate for ratepayers as a whole to fund the costs of two interventions on behalf of one interest.


I think that we all accept that it's appropriate for ratepayers as a whole to fund one intervention on behalf of an interest, like low‑income consumers of gas, if the intervention is conducted responsibility and in accordance with the Board's guidelines.


So to make the point very clear, Enbridge Gas Distribution does not object to VECC on its own as an intervenor with eligibility for costs, or to LIEN on its own as an intervenor with eligibility for costs.


I noticed in the VECC materials for this motion that VECC has a list of -- I think it's more or less current proceedings before the Board that VECC is involved in.  It's certainly not disputed that VECC is involved in those proceedings, and, again, the point does not have to do with the intervention of VECC or LIEN on its own.  The point has to do with the extent to which ratepayers should fund more than one intervention for a particular interest.


In the company's view, this really falls to the Board to decide, in the public interest and in the interests of ratepayers, how much representation should be funded for one interest.  If the Board does decide that ratepayers should fund multiple interventions on behalf of a single interest, then Enbridge does believe that other issues will flow from that.  


Will this apply equally to every interest represented before the Board, or is it only certain interests that will be entitled to funding for multiple representation?  And if there is going to be funding for multiple representation, is it going to be limited to two representatives or is there any limit on the number of representatives for a particular interest?


Then the other issues that Enbridge Gas Distribution finds troubling, in the event that the fundamental proposition of allowing funding for multiple representations is accepted, relate to how positions will be presented to the Board.


If two representatives of the same interest put different positions to the Board, it's our submission that this leaves the Board in a very difficult spot.  It puts the Board at risk of figuring out which of those positions truly represents the best result for the particular constituency that's represented by two different intervenors.


In my submission, the Board should not be in the position of figuring out which of different positions is in the best interests of a constituency.  In my submission, that's the very purpose of having a representative of the constituency, for it to figure out the best interests, to put that to the Board, and then for the Board to take that into account in its consideration of the overall public interest.


So to the extent that there are different positions, in my submission, put forward on behalf of the same interest -- in my submission, that's problematic for the Board.


On the other hand, if there's going to be consistency on the positions throughout a particular case, then of course it becomes questionable whether there is added value for the additional cost burden that will be borne by all ratepayers.


Now, VECC and LIEN, I think ‑ or at least VECC - has explained its intention to cooperate, and that, of course, is commendable, but the point is that if the interventions are to be conducted in such a fashion as to avoid duplication, essentially one cost award should be sufficient.  


In other words, if there is truly no duplication between two interventions on behalf of the same interest, then one cost award should be adequate compensation for representation of that interest.


So, fundamentally, perhaps this issue comes down to a matter of costs and whether there should be more than one cost award available to these two representatives.


Enbridge Gas Distribution would submit that, at an absolute minimum, when costs are to be considered at the end of this case, where there's multiple representation of the same interest, there should be a special responsibility when making a claim for costs, to show how duplication has been avoided throughout the case.


So those are essentially the comments of a general nature that I wish to add to the letter that's already been submitted to the Board, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Mr. Buonaguro, are you here for VECC?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Before we hear from some of the other parties on this ‑ I know they all have submissions to one degree or another ‑ what is the difference between the clients of VECC and LIEN?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I actually ‑‑ that's part of my submissions, and it's right near the beginning, so perhaps I can go through my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  All right, if you wish.  I just thought maybe we could get to the main point.  Is there a difference between the clients?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I've actually prepared, as Enbridge has pointed out, a book of materials, which I believe is before the Board.  

Perhaps we can get an exhibit number for that.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a copy of that, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  No.  I have a copy of the LIEN materials, but I don't have anything from VECC.

     MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps Mr. Batais can distribute it.  The Exhibit number will be KA1.1.

     MR. KAISER:  While we're doing that, Mr. Millar, is the letter that Mr. Cass was referring to marked?

     MR. MILLAR:  It isn't.  It's on the record, but if it's helpful, I'll mark that as well.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  It's in our book of materials.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  It's in Mr. Buonaguro's book of materials.

     MR. BATTISTA:  It's the submissions of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, it's this book.


MR. BATTISTA:  And then the documents?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, the document book for sure needs

an exhibit number, and that's this one.

     MR. KAISER:  Have you distributed copies to your friends?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I have copies.  Some people have them; some people don't.

     EXHIBIT NO. KA1.1:  SUBMISSIONS OF VECC

     MR. MILLAR:  And, Mr. Chair -- I'm sorry, KA1.1 will be the submissions of VECC, and KA1.2 will be the documents.

     EXHIBIT NO. KA1.2:  DOCUMENTS OF VECC

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, we have it?  Please proceed.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BUONAGURO:

     MR. BUONAGURO:  As Mr. Millar has indicated, I also have included a written version of my submissions.  I've primarily prepared that for the reporter in case I speak too softly or too quickly, but since I've done it, it may be useful for the Board to have it in front of them.

      VECC views the issue of its intervention in two parts; first, its eligibility to be registered as an intervenor, and second, the criteria by which it is eligible for costs.

      With respect to eligibility, Enbridge objects to both VECC and LIEN participating as full, independent intervenors on the basis that both groups represent the same interest; namely, low-income gas customers.

      VECC's general response, which I will detail, is that

Enbridge's characterization of VECC's constituencies is simply incorrect.  VECC represents a range of consumers that are particularly vulnerable to the marketplace for a variety of reasons, including but not limited to low income.

      With respect to costs, Enbridge appears concerned that to the extent VECC and LIEN have intersecting interests, that there will be duplication of evidence and argument, resulting in inefficiency and unfair advantage.  In the alternative, Enbridge argues that if and when VECC and LIEN advance contradictory positions, an absurdity results.

      VECC's response, again, which I will detail, is that

VECC has a long history of co-ordinating its interventions, not only with LIEN but with all intervenors, in order to avoid inefficiency and unfair advantage.

      With respect to contradictory positions, VECC submits that the DSM example put forward by Enbridge overstates the different positions of VECC and LIEN in that proceeding, fails to acknowledge the specific co-ordination between VECC and LIEN with respect to the evidence in the proceeding, and in any event simply highlights the fact that VECC and LIEN are two distinctly different organizations with different interests and perspectives.

      In addition, it is VECC's position that it has, for all practical purposes, been accepted by Enbridge as a full intervenor in these proceedings since at least April 2006. 

Enbridge has engaged VECC as a representative of vulnerable consumers, including low-income consumers, in preparation for this rate case on a broad range of important issues through its consultative process.  Because of this prior involvement, limiting VECC's participation in either of the ways suggested by Enbridge would unfairly prejudice not only VECC's participation in the proceeding but also the participation of the other intervenors who have already

co-ordinated with VECC on major issues.

      To move first to the eligible for intervenor status, which I believe will address the Board's specific question at the outset in terms of the difference between the two constituencies.

      In Mr. Stevens' letter he mentioned a little confusion about PIAC and VECC, so I'd like to set out some submissions on what PIAC is and how it relates to VECC.

      PIAC is a non-profit federally incorporated organization founded in Ottawa in 1976.  It seeks to advance the interests of individuals and groups who are generally unrepresented or underrepresented in issues of major public concern, particularly the delivery of important public and utility services.  

Additionally, PIAC undertakes legal and research services on behalf of consumers.  The centre focuses on consumer issues in a variety of fields, including energy.

      Although the organization is not itself a member of

VECC, PIAC assists in the representation of the interests of vulnerable consumers in Ontario by ensuring the availability of competent representation and advice to VECC interventions before the OEB.

     As well, PIAC co-ordinates the participation of VECC in ongoing efforts to advance the interests of its constituency outside the formal hearing process.  PIAC has played this role in energy policy and rate-making in Ontario both inside and outside the hearing room for over two decades.

      From a practical standpoint, this has involved interventions in hundreds of Board proceedings, many of which have tracked the regulatory response to the restructuring of the energy industry.  As a non-profit organization with charitable status, PIAC relies on

VECC's eligibility for funding at the OEB in order to provide sufficient resources to effectively advance and protect VECC's interests.

      VECC itself is a coalition between two groups that represents the interests of energy consumers who, because of their distinguishing characteristics, such as age or income, have a set of concerns that may differ in kind and magnitude from either average residential consumers or commercial/industrial consumers.

      VECC's general concerns are that electricity rates should be kept as low as possible, consistent with the need to maintain reliability and quality of service.

      The first VECC group is the Federation of Metro Tenants' Associations.  A non-profit corporation founded in

1974, it is the oldest and largest tenant federation in

Canada.  The FMTA is comprised of affiliated tenant associations and of individual members, with over 3,000 association and individual members.

      In addition to encouraging the organization of tenants and the promotion of decent and affordable housing, the federation provides general information, advice, and assistance to tenants.

      Tenants are vulnerable consumers of energy for several reasons.  By way of example, tenants are typically dependent on their landlords both as the customer of the utility and the owner of the heating/cooling and other major equipment, even though the costs of energy are generally passed on to the tenant.

      Additionally, low-income consumers are disproportionately represented in rental housing.

      The second group that makes up VECC is the Ontario

Coalition of Senior Citizens Organizations, a coalition of over 120 senior groups as well as individual members across Ontario.  OCSCO represents the concerns of over 500,000 senior citizens in Ontario through its group and individual members.  OCSCO's mission is to improve the quality of life for Ontario's seniors.

      Senior citizens can be, as a class, vulnerable consumers of energy for a variety of reasons.  Again, by way of example, senior citizens are susceptible to age-related problems that make them vulnerable in the marketplace and are commonly targeted for their vulnerability.  Senior citizens are often on a fixed income, which makes them particularly sensitive in the marketplace as well. 


Additionally, a significant portion of low-income owner-occupied households are led by senior citizens, which we learned from the DSM proceeding.

      Given the foregoing, it is a mistake for Enbridge to characterize VECC's constituency as consisting only of low-income consumers or customers.

      VECC represents consumers who are vulnerable for a variety of factors in addition to income level.  Low-income vulnerability is an important factor, and VECC has and will continue to advocate on behalf of low-income consumers as a significant portion of its constituency, but it is no by no means the only characteristic of its constituency.

      In terms of its eligibility for status as an intervenor before the OEB, VECC clearly meets the Board's criteria.  And I believe Enbridge has accepted that in this proceeding.

      VECC relies on the numerous interventions it has conducted over the years on behalf of vulnerable consumers.  I respectfully submit that over the course of these interventions, VECC has been viewed as a responsible and effective intervenor, providing the Board with valuable evidence and argument on the entire range of issues within the Board's jurisdiction in the course of advancing and protecting the rights of vulnerable consumers.

      I have provided the Board with a partial list of VECC's current list of interventions.  And that's our book at tab … it's in here somewhere.  Actually, it hasn't made it to my book, but it was sent to the Board by electronic copy.


It's a list of approximately eight current open and important interventions before the Board, including things like the DSM, NGEIR, incentive regulation for natural gas utilities, second generation incentive regulation for electricity, cost of capital for electricity, and so on.


In all these proceedings, VECC has been granted full intervenor status and deemed to be eligible for costs and is trusted by the Board to continue to provide valuable assistance to Board proceedings and to abide by the principles enunciated by Rule 5 of to Board's cost eligibility criteria when VECC's interests coincide with other intervenors.  


In addition, in this year alone VECC has intervened in dozens of rate applications, including active participation in over 30 electricity rate applications, many in which VECC was the only intervenor.


Now, in its letter of objection, Enbridge complains that there are already as many as 15 active intervenors in this proceeding.  And, again, we've heard today a concern about multiple intervenors representing interests of similar classes.


In response, I point out that in the 2007 rate case for Union, there were 29 registered intervenors, including VECC and LIEN.  Of those 29, 13 were eligible for funding; whereas to VECC's knowledge, there are only eight intervenor groups seeking eligibility for costs in this proceeding.


Of those eight, two are Pollution Probe and the Green Energy Coalition, whose interests are not tied to any particular ratepayer group but, rather, reflect societal interests, including environmental impact, conservation, and energy efficiency.


Furthermore, both Pollution Probe and the GEC have confirmed an interest in only two discrete issues in this proceeding, fuel switching and demand‑side management.


As the Board is aware, the details of demand‑side management are the subject of another proceeding, such that the roles of Pollution Probe and GEC, as in the Union rate case, will or should be minimal.


I should point out that I actually confirmed those positions of the GEC and Pollution Probe before I put them in my submissions, so I don't think I'm speaking out of turn.


IGUA and SEC are ratepayer groups, but neither represent consumer interests within Enbridge's residential rate class.  And while Energy Probe has thousands of residential supporters, its focus is on the broader public interest concern with respect to the environment and the overall financial health and operational integrity of utilities.  Similarly, OAPPA does not represent a residential ratepayer perspective.


And, again, in terms of characterizing Energy Probe's focus, I confirmed that with them before putting it in my submissions.


I have in my written submissions that Enbridge has approximately 1.7 million customers.  I believe that's actually more in the order of 1.8, and they can correct me if I'm wrong or if the difference is material.


But I do note that over 1.6 million of those customers are residential users, inclusive of various ratepayer groups, whose interests as ratepayers are represented by the Consumers' Council of Canada, VECC, and, more recently, LIEN.


In addition, there are uncounted tenants who live in buildings served by Enbridge's commercial rate class, whom VECC represents through its association with the FMTA.


Accordingly, there are only three intervenor groups seeking to represent the specific interests of approximately ‑ and depending on the actual number ‑ over 90 percent of Enbridge's customers, plus the uncounted tenants who pay for energy.


The remaining ratepayers are represented by two or three groups, which include IGUA, the SEC and OAPPA, while all other intervenors represent either general societal interests or specific business interests.


In addition, I'd point out that by VECC's calculation, having reviewed some of the material in this application, that although Enbridge's application refers to an average 14 percent rate increase, the increase faced by Enbridge's residential customers is approximately 21 percent in the delivery charge.  


The number of residential customers, coupled with the high proposed increase in this proceeding for those customers, highlight the need for comprehensive representation of ratepayer groups within Enbridge's residential rate class, as opposed to the exclusion or restriction of representation.


Based on the foregoing, I submit that Enbridge's complaint with respect to the number of active intervenors is without merit.


There are significantly fewer total intervenors than in the Union rate case, and there are significantly fewer intervenors seeking eligibility for costs, despite the fact that Enbridge's claimed revenue deficiency is approximately $70 million higher than Union's.


For all the reasons I have outlined, I respectfully submit that VECC is eligible to be accepted by this Board as a full and independent intervenor.


I will now move on to discuss its eligibility for costs.


In the context of this rate proceeding, as I outlined at the outset, VECC has effectively been treated as a full intervenor for the past six months, participating in Enbridge's application process since approximately April 2006.


Enbridge provides a summary of the within application at Exhibit A2‑1‑1, which is in my book at tab 6, and I would just draw the Board's attention to page 1 of that, at paragraph 5, where Enbridge refers to the 2006 test case where VECC intervened on behalf of vulnerable consumers, participated fully, and was awarded its full cost of participation.


Coming out of that proceeding, Enbridge was directed by the Board to engage in consultative processes in preparation for the application in order to review company initiatives, business processes, allocation methodology, and software replacement plans with the engagement of interested intervenors.


Enbridge lists its six consultative processes on the following page, page 2 of that exhibit.


Now, VECC was invited by Enbridge to participate in all six consultatives as a fully-funded intervenor in April 2006, and VECC accepted.


Accordingly, VECC has been engaged in the issues in this proceeding not only as they relate to the 2005 decision, but also as Enbridge has considered those issues in the intervening year.


In particular, I would highlight VECC's participation in two consultatives, the Corporate Cost Allocation Consultative and the Open Bill Access Consultative.


With respect to the Corporate Cost Allocation Consultative, VECC is the lead intervenor through its consultant, Mr. Rodger Higgin, who is directly engaged in the retention by Enbridge of the independent evaluator to review Enbridge's corporate cost allocation.


In the case of the Open Bill Access Consultative, VECC is the only ratepayer group actively participating in the consultative at all, with the SEC observing the process and the remaining participants advancing specific business interests in Open Bill Access.


Now, as an aside, I would mention that the Open Bill Access is an example of an issue of particular interest to VECC's senior citizens' constituency, as it relates to the use of Enbridge's bill to provide advertising and billing services to Enbridge customers in an effective and responsible way.


Accordingly, VECC takes exception to any suggestion from Enbridge that VECC's ability to fully engage itself in this proceeding should be compromised, as VECC has already been fully engaged for months at the specific request of Enbridge.


Limiting VECC's participation by designating it as something less than a full and independent intervenor would unfairly prejudice VECC's ability to represent its constituencies.  Moreover, limiting VECC's participation would unfairly prejudice other intervenors that have relied on VECC's ongoing role with respect to these issues, trusting VECC to advance the common intervenor position.


Specifically, again, I would mention the Corporate Cost Allocation Consultative, where I think it's fair to say that many intervenors rely on the fact that VECC, through Roger Higgin, is directing that consultative on behalf of intervenors.


I would also like to draw attention to VECC's participation as a registered intervenor in EB‑2006‑0209 concerning multi‑year incentive rate regulation for natural gas utilities.  


VECC was invited by the Board to participate in an information session on October 6, 2006 to discuss the upcoming process.  At that session, it was confirmed that the 2007 rates cases for Union and Enbridge, the within application, would be proffered as the base years for incentive regulation for a term of up to five years.


Accordingly, this rate case is not simply a review of Enbridge's cost of service for the coming year but will set the base for Enbridge's rates for a term of up to five years.


As a registered intervenor in a proceeding which will determine rates for a term of up to five years, based on the rates determined in this proceeding, it is particularly important that VECC continue to be funded as a full intervenor, in order to maximize its effectiveness in both proceedings.


The question that remains for the Board is:  How, assuming it allows VECC to fully participate in this proceeding, duplication of evidence and argument before the Board can be avoided.  

From VECC's perspective the answer lies in VECC's demonstrated ability to co-ordinate with intervenors with similar interests in the past, including but not limited to LIEN.

      Enbridge raises two examples in its letter, the

Generic DSM proceeding for natural gas utilities and the

NGEIR proceeding.  And VECC refers in its initial written submission to the Board to Union's 2007 rates case.

      All three are examples wherein both VECC and LIEN were accepted by the Board as full and independent intervenors. 

      Moving chronologically, LIEN's participation in the

Union's 2007 rate case was highlighted by its rate assistance proposal.  LIEN did not tender evidence, cross-examination, or provide argument on any other issue.  Likewise, VECC did not participate with respect to LIEN's rate assistance proposal.  Accordingly, the hearing was not extended unnecessarily, nor was there any duplication of evidence or argument before the Board.  

The Board recognized this in its decision when reviewing the cost submission of VECC and LIEN under Rule 5 of the cost guidelines and awarded both organizations 100 percent of their claimed costs.  And I've included in my material our letter responding to a letter from Union on the Union rate case and the Union rate case decision which sets out what the Board did.

      In the NGEIR proceeding VECC co-ordinated with several parties in both the rate issues and the storage regulation issues sections of the proceeding.

      With respect to the rate issues, VECC co-ordinated with the SEC, LIEN, LPMA, and Energy Probe to have the

Consumers' Council of Canada advance a single argument against a potential rate impact on residential customers as

a result of IGUA's position on Enbridge’s proposed rate changes.

      With respect to storage regulation, VECC co-ordinated with the Consumer’s Council of Canada, IGUA, CME, SEC, and the City of Kitchener, to retain Mr. Mark Stauft to provide expert evidence on storage regulation.

      In the Generic DSM proceeding, VECC co-ordinated with LIEN, who then provided a single expert with respect to the targeted low-income program proposal, which evidence was ultimately relied on by all intervenors, save perhaps CME, in support of the low-income program adopted by the Board.

      At the hearing, VECC asked only one question of that witness, clarifying a typographical error in the witness's exhibit.  

Further, as Enbridge points out in its letter, VECC participated in a partial settlement proposal with SEC, CCC, IGUA, Energy Probe, LPMA, and both utilities, on all the financial issues and related mechanisms, including the low-income program, which significantly reduced the presentation of evidence and argument before the Board.

      LIEN's dispute with the low-income program that was accepted by the Board was really with respect to only two points.  The first was a factual point concerning whether the statistical data before the Board supported a finding that 14 percent of the residential customers of Enbridge and Union were at or below 125 percent of LICO - I think two of these Board Members were on that panel, so would know what I'm talking about - or whether 18 percent was the more accurate figure.  


The second dispute was whether the low-income program spending should be tied to the low-income customer contribution to overall revenue, a very discrete point, which was dealt with in no more than a few minutes of argument.  


Aside from those two minor points, LIEN agreed, I think it's fair to say, to the manner in which the low-income program related to the overall DSM framework.

      With respect to LIEN's position on the overall levels of spending, I believe it is fair to say the LIEN supported the evidence and argument put forward by Pollution Probe and the GEC consistent with LIEN's mission statement with respect to environmental issues but did not in fact provide additional evidence or argument on that point.

      I also note that although Enbridge brings it up in this proceeding, Enbridge was given the opportunity to raise issue against VECC and LIEN's cost awards in the generic DSM proceeding and did not do so.

      In the current proceeding, based on a historical precedent, VECC anticipates that it would naturally take a lead amongst intervenors on several issues, including corporate cost allocation, open bill access, cost of capital, and the continuation of the risk-management program, coordinating evidence and argument with the other intervenors.  I note that LIEN is advancing its rate assistance program proposal in this proceeding and that it is a contested issue to be heard today, and VECC can state now that it intends not to participate either in the issues debate nor if the issue is accepted in the evidentiary or argument basis or related to the proposal.

      Now, ultimately, Enbridge asked the Board for one of two things:  Either require VECC and LIEN to combine their interventions, or share one set of costs, as was ordered with respect to the Ontario Association of School Board

Officials and Ontario Public School Boards Association in Enbridge's 2004 rate case.

      VECC submits that neither request is reasonable or necessary.

      As I've already set out, VECC and LIEN do not

represent the same constituency.  VECC represents vulnerable consumers, highlighted by its two member groups, Senior Citizens and Tenants, with low-income vulnerability

being only one element of its constituency.  In the Schools

situation referred to by Enbridge, the school board

officials and the school boards represent exactly the

same schools from precisely the same perspective.  That is

simply not the case between VECC and LIEN.  Forcing VECC to

engage in a single intervention with LIEN would only serve

to prejudice the interests of its members and obscure the

two different mandates that for which the organizations were formed.

      Likewise, forcing VECC to share a single cost award would cripple VECC's ability to participate in the proceeding, within which Enbridge has already engaged VECC as a full intervenor, representing not only its own interests but also the interests of other intervenors, as well as co-ordination has already begun.

      To the extent that VECC and LIEN have had similar interests in the proceedings that they have both participated in, VECC has coordinated with LIEN, as it always does with other intervenors, in order to eliminate duplication of evidence and argument while continuing to provide efficient and effective representation before the Board as an independent intervenor.

      Accordingly, VECC submits that the appropriate solution is for the Board, as it has done previously, to rely on VECC to continue to act responsibility and effectively as an independent intervenor, to take the steps necessary to avoid duplication of evidence and argument before the Board by co-ordinating with LIEN and others wherever interests intersect.

      Subject to any questions from the Board and subject to any reply that I might have to the submissions that follow, those are my submissions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro, as I understand the structure of the agency you work for, the public interest advocacy agency, it essentially has VECC as a client and VECC has two other consumer groups.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  The Federation of Metro Tenants and the Ontario Coalition of Senior Citizens.  How do you get your instructions from those two groups?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, we ... PIAC receives its instructions from the groups together.  There's a general

--

     MR. KAISER:  Do you actually meet with those two groups and say, We're going into the Enbridge case.  Here are the issues?  What position do you want us to take?  Or how does it work?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  PIAC is based in Ottawa.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And the main contact between PIAC and the two VECC members would be Michael Janigan.

     MR. KAISER:  Right.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So he would be receiving instructions from them.

     MR. KAISER:  "Them" being the two organizations?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The two organizations.

     MR. KAISER:  You would meet with those two organizations before proceeding and get some instructions?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  As necessary.

     MR. KAISER:  Does it happen, do you know?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm not in Ottawa, so I can say that

VECC --

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Janigan does it.  He phones you, and says, Michael, here's –

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I get my instructions from Ottawa, yes.  

Now, as I said, VECC has come together for a specific purpose with a specific mandate, which I outlined in my submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  I was just trying to understand the mechanics of getting instructions.



Mr. Cass, Mr. Buonaguro makes a point that he has been involved in this proceeding for some time, and taking a major role.  He refers to this consultative process, corporate cost allocation, the open bill access.  Dr. Higgin has been working, he suggests, at your open invitation.  So as he says this is pretty late in the game and pretty unfair to be objecting to his participation by your client.  What is your response to that?

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Yes, again, I don't think anything in my submissions or the company's submissions were intended to take away from activities that

VECC is already involved in.  To the extent that Dr. Higgin is a leader of something like the corporation cost allocations issue, which I think he is, there's no reason why that wouldn't continue.

      The issue is whether another party representing the same interest would be funded to participate in those same things that VECC is involved in and in things that VECC may even be taking the lead in.

      Again, there's no suggestion that VECC would be forced to drop things that it's involved in; the issue is whether you need two parties representing the same interests to be doing the same things.

     MR. KAISER:  So is it fair to say your complaint is really with LIEN, not VECC?

     MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Chair, as I said in the opening submissions, it's not one or its own or the other on its own; it's the combination of the two being involved in the same things.

Again, we're hearing very positive things about cooperation and avoiding duplication, and, as I said before, that's commendable.  But, ultimately, avoiding duplication really, in my submission, lands on one set of costs.  


Yes, VECC can continue to do the things where Dr. Higgin is taking a lead, but then LIEN doesn't need to be involved in those.  If there's something else that LIEN would have a claim to be involved in, then presumably VECC wouldn't need to be involved in that, and I think we've heard that from Mr. Buonaguro.


Again, that just takes one to the end result that one set of costs should cover it.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I understand that, and how is that any different than the Board looking at costs and saying, Okay, here's duplication; we're not going to allow both sides their costs; we're going to cut the costs down?


I mean, are we just talking semantics here?  I mean, that's what we do.  You've pointed to cases ‑‑ I should say Mr. Buonaguro's pointed to cases, I think it was your '94 rate case, where there were two associations and the Board took the proper steps and said, We're not going to give them both costs.


MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, the duplication point is an interesting one, because Mr. Buonaguro has addressed it.  And each time he referred to it as I was taking notes, he talked about duplication of evidence and argument.


MR. KAISER:  Right.


MR. CASS:  Now, that's a very interesting approach to duplication, because that, of course, is what's very visible to the Board and, of course, understandably, is very important to the Board not to have the same questions repeated, not to have the same arguments repeated.  


I don't deny that that is not extremely important. However, that's just a small part of duplication.  The real costs that come through in cost claims and are borne by ratepayers have to do with having representatives day in and day out at settlement conference, through the hearing, through every step of the process, having people sitting there and attending.


Now, that sort of duplication doesn't get addressed just by ensuring that there is no repetition of questions or no repetition of arguments.  It's having representatives, potentially more than one representative, on behalf of different groups for the same interests at every step of the way through a process.


That's the duplication that really builds up the costs.


MR. KAISER:  How is that any different than the case that Mr. Buonaguro is pointing to back in wherever it was, in '94, your '94 case?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it's the 2004 case.


MR. KAISER:  Or 2004 case, where there were two association, and I presume they got one set of costs.  Is that what happened?  What happened there?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I think Mr. Shepherd can give you the details, but as I understand it –


MR. KAISER:  All right, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps that's the best thing to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can help you.  As I understand it, the Schools Energy Coalition didn't exist then.  There were two representatives of schools separately represented, separately instructed, separately paid.  And Enbridge's first reaction was, We think this is a problem ‑‑ and told us, We think this is a problem.  And we said, Give us some time to work it out, and they did.


And so the 2003 case, they did nothing.  In the 2004 case, they said, Okay, we gave you some time.  What's going to happen?  And we said, We haven't sorted it out yet.  We're trying.  And so they said, Well, we want to take another step.  We want to sort of motivate you to have a common intervention.


And so we had to share costs in a very small case.  The 2004 case was the formula case, so the total costs were $25,000 for both of us.


But, nonetheless, it was a penalty and got my client's attention, certainly.


And the result was, over the course of the next several months, the two schools organizations formed the School Energy Coalition, which is now one intervenor.


But the point of this - and I think it's a very important point - is there was no question that those two organizations were representing exactly the same interest.  There were 3,000 schools in the Enbridge area.  We were both representing those 3,000 schools and their energy interests.


So we couldn't say, Well, we should really both be here.  We didn't have much of an argument.  All we could say is, Give us some time.


That's not the case here.


MR. KAISER:  Are there cases where you've had a different position than your friends at LIEN?  I think we've seen cases where the environmental groups sometimes have different positions.  Are there cases like that in your area where you simply disagree on certain positions?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, the history of LIEN, as I understand it, only extends back to the beginning of this year.  But the clearest example would be the DSM proceeding, which I believe two of the three Board members were on.


And the difference that you would see would be in the positions that were taken on the overall levels of spending.  VECC took a position which coordinated with, like I said, six -- CCC, IGUA, SEC, Energy Probe, both utilities, and itself put together a settlement proposal which indicated a certain level of spending, along with associated financial mechanisms.


And LIEN -- LIEN is here and can speak for itself, but generally supported the position and arguments put forward by, I think fairly characterizing Pollution Probe and GEC – sorry, not?  Sorry - GEC, with respect to the level of spending, which was much higher than what was proposed.


I think you'll see from LIEN's material that that would be because part of their mission statement, is a specific ‑‑ it's with respect to specific reference to environmental concerns and as a mandate which we don't, as VECC, have.  We certainly have an interest in environmental issues, but from a ratepayer perspective as the priority.  


That would explain the split between the two.


But, again, in terms of duplication in evidence, we coordinated with eight of the twelve parties to provide a single option for the Board, and all of the submissions and argument and evidence was severely reduced or comprehensively reduced by the fact that we were able to put forward that unified position.


Likewise, on the other side, GEC and LIEN essentially coordinated with each other.  And, again, LIEN can speak for itself, but as I understood it, LIEN was supportive of GEC's position without further adding to the complexity of the proceeding.


So it happens.  It happens because of precisely the fact that we're two different organizations with different mandates and different constituencies, which seems to get glossed over continually.


One of the two groups we have is OCSCO, which represents over half a million senior citizens with the specific purpose of advancing senior citizens as a vulnerable group within the rate proceedings.


Yes, there's an overlap with low income, because a significant proportion of senior citizens are in fact low income, and low income is, itself, properly characterized as a vulnerability in the marketplace.


But, also, there's a separate issue with respect to senior citizens which we also advance.


So in that sense, we have a broad mandate with respect to who we deal with, and we've been able to coordinate that before the Board as vulnerable consumers.  That itself distinguishes us, to a great extent, from anything ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  So there would be senior citizen issues that have nothing to do with income.  There's probably some wealthy senior citizens around, as well.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  And the example I give you is the Open Bill Access.  We are participating specifically in the Open Bill Access, and, as I said, the only ratepayer group to do it actively, with the exception of SEC, who is participating, but as an observer, I think it is fair to say, because we're concerned about how the bill is used to advertise to senior citizens, who are generally targeted as a group with respect to advertising practice.  


I'm not saying that Enbridge is going to undertake that.  In proper advertising practices, it is opening its bill, and we want to be there to ensure that it's done properly.


MR. KAISER:  And has that been ‑‑ you use that as an example of a unique interest.  Is that particularly a concern of your clients, that association that you represent?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I also point out the FMTA, which has the tenants.  It is a completely different and expansive area of vulnerability, too, which I mentioned in my submissions.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I can follow up on a couple of items.  You heard Mr. Cass claiming that the majority of the costs are hidden from this panel.  Now, we only see you in the hearing room cross‑examining, making submissions, et cetera.  But the majority of the costs are associated leading up to this process, which may include also reading, in this case, six or seven binders.  


Those are fixed costs, upfront costs.  What is your response to that?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  I hear in the background "it's true."  And that's the nature of a rate case.  There is extensive evidence, and in order to properly identify your clients' interests, there is a lot of basic work that has to be done.  All intervenors have to do it, and I think they do it responsibly.  It doesn't waste the Board's time.  


The ratepayers do pay for it, but to the extent that ratepayers are paying for intervenors to represent their interests - for example, the fact that we have, like I said, half a million senior citizens as part of a coalition advancing the interests of vulnerable consumers, including senior citizens - to the point that we can review the evidence in the rate case and identify even one or two specific reductions to the costs-of-service application, to the revenue deficiency, we've more than justified the cost of our intervening ten-fold.

      And it's a reality that in order to do a proper job, you have to review the evidence, then determine what your issues are going to be, and then co-ordinate with other intervenors.

      Now, I've referred to the consultative process, which divides six of the major issues which are going to be heard in this hearing.  We were a participant in all six.  But I'd highlight another consultative which I haven't mentioned before, which would be the CIS consultative, which is a major item in this proceeding.  The group of intervenors who have shown an interest in that particular consultative have elected a steering committee, which has, for example, the SEC on it and the CCC on it, to co-ordinate the review of the CIS consultative as it moves along and report back to the seniors.

      So our costs associated with intervening the consultative on that particular issue are significantly reduced because we trust the other intervenors to advance the common interest.

      It's a remarkably effective way of doing things, and I think that when you're talking about the hidden costs, when you recognize that's the kind of co-ordination - which is also hidden from the Board – that is going on, I don't think that's such a concern.

      I don't know if I mentioned it, but the other hidden cost would be the settlement conference, because it's confidential what goes on there.  But I don't think the Board can underestimate the combined effect of having a number of intervenors with different interests coming together, having reviewed the material, and able to come together with a common position.

      I think that it is remarkably effective.  And I point to the Union rate case, where we settled a requested almost 

$100 million revenue deficiency to approximately a $24 million revenue deficiency.  That's because the intervenors co-ordinated with each other but had also done the work.  And I think the value to the ratepayer in that was phenomenal.  


Those would be my submissions on that point.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And Mr. Cass also pointed out that in the event there are different or contradictory positions by the two groups, that it puts the Board in an untenable position.  I'm not sure that you responded to this.

      First of all, they don't have to be contradictory positions.  One could take a position; the other party could be silent on it because simply they may not disagree or agree but they cannot decide.  So it does put the Board in an untenable position.  What is your response to that?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  When issues specific to low-income consumers come up, LIEN and VECC talk.  It would be irresponsible for us not to.  

But I guess the rate assistance proposal is a good example, where, although we both represent interests of low-income consumers - us as a subpart of our constituency and LIEN as part of its constituency - we have different mandates, the groups who make up our different organizations come together.  They have different mandates.  We do not have as part of our mandate a rate assistance proposal.  Therefore, we do not participate or seek to advance that as a recommendation.

      To the extent that our position is aligned with other ratepayers, from a ratepayer perspective, we allow them to provide that argument for the Board.  And I think assuming that that goes on as a contested issue, today you'll hear that position from the other ratepayers.  

LIEN is the proponent for that rate assistance program.  You'll hear that position from them.  The fact that we both have low-income consumers as part of constituencies is not the end of the story in terms of why the two organizations exist.

      And I think that what's maybe being lost here is that -- because this is a regulatory proceeding and because this is a proceeding that has to do not with rights but rather interests, we're dealing with a broad range of interests every time something comes before the Board.

     And intervenors are here to assist the Board with providing different perspectives.  They're not determinative of the issues.  VECC's perspective on low-income consumers is not determinative of the low-income position; it can't be.  Neither is anybody's position on rates.  But it is of assistance to the Board to hear these perspectives fully presented in argument before the Board.

     And to the extent that there are two different perspectives provided, even though they may come from similar ratepayer groups, similar special-interest groups, as long as those perspectives are responsibly and effectively communicated to the Board, both perspectives are going to be of assistance.  And I think that is true in many cases when it's come up before the Board.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, let's deal with that as a specific example, because it's a good example.  LIEN proposes rate assistance.  You say I'm not going to take any position on that, which, I think, is what you've said.

      Should we take from that that here's another low-income group that doesn't think rate assistance is necessary, or simply that you're not taking a position?  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you should take it as we've taken no position.

      The point is that to the extent that a rate assistance program would be in the interests of low income, obviously LIEN is going to proffer that perspective to the Board.  To the extent that a low-income assistance program is detrimental to the interests of everybody but low-income consumers, you're going to get that perspective from the other intervenors.  And you're also going to get the perspective -- for example, the main issue, as I understand it, that comes up with rate assistance program is jurisdiction.  That's a legal question which is independent of any particular perspective, I would argue.

     MR. KAISER:  No, I'm just trying to understand Mr. Cass' argument.  Mr. Poch may say “I have no

Position” on this rate assistance program.  Are we suddenly thrown into a quandary because he has no position or you have no position?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  No.  No.  I don't think you are --

     MR. KAISER:  Lots of people have no position.  And if you disagreed with it, it might actually be instructive to the Board that here's one low-income group that doesn't think it's necessary and here's another that thinks it's necessary.  So I don't understand this quandary argument.  Neither do you, of course.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't think there's a quandary.

     MR. KAISER:  I was referring to my friend.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And what keeps getting lost --

     MR. KAISER:  Which I shouldn't do.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  What keeps getting lost -- it's very easy and, I think, inappropriate, and it keeps coming up, to reduce VECC and to reduce LIEN to that single phrase "low-income consumer."   It's much more than that, and I don't want to sound like a broken record, but I keep talking about the half a million senior citizens that they represent and the countless and uncounted tenants within Enbridge's area who don’t have a direct relationship with Enbridge but who pay for gas.  And we represent their interests, as well as the vulnerable consumer.

     MR. VLAHOS:  If I can just follow up, you talked about the mandate.  And I guess PIAC provides the instructions, as I understand?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  No, they get --

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's the corporate nature of intervention for VECC.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  They co-ordinate it, yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  What does “co-ordination” mean?  Can you help me?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  They retain us as their counsel.  We retain consultants on their behalf.  PIAC is a non-profit, charitable, legal research, and legal representation.   We represent a number of different boards for a number of different interests:  information technology, CRTC.  And

VECC is one of our clients, who are also non-profit organizations, who then are -- we co-ordinate their efforts because, quite frankly, the Ontario Energy Board is a very complicated place to be represented in, and because the PIAC has specialized expertise in regulatory proceedings, in particular the Energy Board, and a history of 20 years-plus intervening before the Ontario Energy Board with respect to consumer issues.  We help them do it.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So VECC is a client.  You're here on behalf of PIAC or VECC?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I work for PIAC, and PIAC is here on behalf of VECC.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So let me talk about PIAC, then.  PIAC is, what, comprised of a board of directors?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And has membership?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And what is that membership?  What does it total, do you know?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I can tell you, for example, that

OCSCO is a member of PIAC, so ...

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The half million people in OCSCO, the Ontario Senior Citizens Coalition, who are one of the two members of VECC, happens to be a member of PIAC as well.  But there are thousands of members of PIAC.  In fact, I often wonder why PIAC doesn't intervene on its own behalf, but it doesn't.  It represents the specific interests of VECC in these proceeding.

     MR. VLAHOS:  What I was trying to be enlightened on is the mandate of PIAC to co-ordinate VECC's intervention before the Board, that comes from the membership?  The membership says, Who wants to be the Ontario Energy Board for X number of -- those kinds of things?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  VECC was specifically formed to intervene in Ontario Energy Board proceedings for the interests represented by OCSCO and the FMTA; that's why it exists.  It does so by retaining PIAC, because PIAC knows how that's done.


MR. KAISER:  So when you go before the CRTC -- I mean, PIAC, you would be representing some other group?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Or representing PIAC on its own.  I'm specifically retained in Toronto.  To tell you the truth, I'm specifically retained in Toronto specifically to intervene on the OEB, because, like I said, PIAC is based in Ottawa, the CRTC is based in Ottawa, but PIAC -- because VECC has such an interest in the OEB proceedings, I'm here to do specifically that.


So I know that PIAC does CRTC, but I don't personally do the CRTC work.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just one last question, sir, for now, anyways.


You mentioned or made reference to some other cases that you had been involved with over the years, and the Board has made certain findings in terms of your status and cost eligibility, et cetera.


Are you suggesting that this panel is not in a position, should not be in a position, to change that finding of previous panels?


MR. BUONAGURO:  What I'm suggesting is that ‑ and I think Enbridge supports this ‑ there's nothing wrong with VECC's intervention.  The question here is:  To the extent the Board is concerned about duplication before the Board, what can it do?


And I think our position is fairly clear.  What's happened in the past, which makes perfect sense to us, is that the Rule 5 of the costs guidelines outline the different things that the Board should consider when it's determining whether costs should be awarded.  


We don't see any reason why that should change here.  Of course the Board always has its power ‑‑ let me put it this way:  Every time that we intervene in a proceeding, we have to do it fresh.  We have to provide a new intervention letter.  And so it becomes, in theory, a new issue before the Board each time.


But to the extent that it hasn't changed, for example, over the ‑‑ the responsibility of VECC to intervene before the Board hasn't changed over the years, and to the extent that the Board in concurrent proceedings - I think I've put in a list of about eight important proceedings before the Board - the fact that we are intervening in eight other proceedings should be an indication to the Board that perhaps VECC should also be, for consistency alone, allowed full intervenor status in this case.


But, I mean, technically, you have the jurisdiction to do what you have to do.


MR. VLAHOS:  So if LIEN's scope of intervention was only the rate assistance -- let's make that hypothesis.  I don't know.  I'll have to ask the question.  If that is the case and if that issue remained on the issues list, now, could it be workable that VECC, for example, could present or take on that issue on behalf of LIEN if your own constituency would not give you the mandate on that specific issue?  Couldn't you do that?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I don't think so.


MR. VLAHOS:  Why not?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Because it violates the mandate.


MR. VLAHOS:  On behalf of LIEN.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?


MR. VLAHOS:  On behalf of LIEN.  You present two different groups now.  Say you present two different groups, VECC and LIEN, and you present VECC on that specific narrow issue called rate relief or special rates.


MR. KAISER:  Like Mr. Warren representing IGUA and the Consumers Council.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, but IGUA ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  That gives me an opportunity to speak for a higher power, sir.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, Ms. DeMarco represents about four or five clients.  You don't have time to write them all down.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But they are separate clients.  They have separate interests, and they give instructions and they decide collectively that they're going to retain a single lawyer to do it.  


I can't force LIEN to retain PIAC, and I don't think the Board can force LIEN to retain PIAC to represent it. It has retained, I believe, Willms & Shier to represent its interest.


MR. VLAHOS:  I'm sorry, Ms. DeMarco is here on behalf of four or five clients, and, forgive me, I don't know the precise number.  But the costs that eventually the ratepayer would pay now ‑‑ I'm sorry, she's not asking for costs, but if she were asking for costs, there would be only one counsel or one set of consultants, if you like, that would be involved in the process, as opposed to four or five different ones.  You can see the merits of that argument that Mr. Cass is making.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Again, I'm not intimately familiar with her clients, but they are specific individual businesses with specific individual interests in the proceeding.  They're not -- to that extent, they can ‑‑ the four clients that you're talking about, who have their own unique interest, they come together and determine that they have a common interest, and then they jointly retain a single lawyer to represent their interests to save costs, obviously.  That's not the case with LIEN.


MR. KAISER:  I don't think there's any joint retainer in the case of Ms. DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  If I can just clarify for the record specifically so I don't get into trouble with my client.  In many instances, in fact, they are very active on quite different issues, and the reality is --


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. DeMarco, is your microphone on?


MS. DeMARCO:  I think so.  Is that better?  

Again, so I don't get into any challenges with my client group, the client group are quite active on different issues, and where the benefit of the group representation comes into play is rationalizing the initial costs of reviewing procedural orders, reviewing the evidence, and those costs are shared uniformly.


But quite different interests are represented on different issues.  They have different areas of focus, and, as a result, they benefit from the rationalized costs but also from the individualized advocacy in relation to certain issues, and that's a very noteworthy distinction, I think.


MR. VLAHOS:  So quite often you would -- when you make a submission, you clarify for the Board as to on whose behalf you're making the submission?


MS. DeMARCO:  Not often enough, if you ask Ms. Nowina, but, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can go back to the specific example of the rate assistance program.  In theory, if LIEN would approach us, we could do it, but it would be a ‑‑ we have already a client.  We have a client; that's VECC.  VECC is already two organizations who have coordinated their efforts.


We have specific ‑‑ remember that VECC's clients include senior citizens, and senior citizens are not necessarily who are low income but are vulnerable consumers who may be adversely affected by the rate assistance program.  So that would put us in a conflict of position; right?


And is it possible that the two organizations could work it out?  It's possible, but I don't think you can force us into that position.


LIEN, as an organization, has the right to retain counsel.  They have the right to put forward their argument on a particular issue without having to compromise it.


So it can be done, but unless they want to do it, it won't be done.  And I don't think ultimately we could accept it in terms of our mandate as a separate organization with the way it is organized.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, a lot of discussion in this debate on the constituency, the size of the constituency, and the Chair questioned how the mechanics of getting the opinions of the constituency up and have that form direction.


What are your thoughts on how the Board should weigh that, as to what are the mechanics - Is it a grassroot?  What size of the population are we talking about? - versus the nature of the submission?  And I'll give you an extreme example.


If we have to individual approach the Board with an idea and make submissions and suggest that this is how a rate design should work, they're a constituency of one and the Board is informed by that, versus a half a million senior citizens.  Within that vast group, I'm doubtful that we would find a homogenous opinion across the board on anything.


What I'm getting at is:  What do you think should inform the Board of how the Board should weigh the content of the submission, versus how many it represents and how that constituency is actually polled for its opinions, and those sorts of things?


MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm starting to feel like we're having a generic proceeding on the nature of interventions, which I haven't prepared for.  It is like I've missed a test at school or something.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, no, and specifically -- and it is raised often in this debate, and I wouldn't raise it had you not mentioned the half a million senior citizens, and the Chair asked, What are the mechanics of getting those opinions of that organization in the form of direction on your intervention?  So how do we weigh that?  How do we weigh the mechanics of it versus the content of it?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, in terms of the mechanics, OCSCO is an organization which has its own hierarchy.  It's already come together and has given the authority to a particular person to speak on behalf of that constituency.  And by its participation in VECC, it's created a mandate specific to the OEB, which I've said in my submissions, so that's how that works. 
     In terms of weighing the strength of the membership, would it be preferable if you had all 1.6 residential customers signed on a list (sic) jointly attend a lawyer? 

It could.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren already has those.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  But off the top of my head, because I'm really in a position where even the applicant in this case doesn't dispute the fact that we are a legitimate intervenor in this process; right?  So the lawyer in me says, that's sort of moot at this point, because we're not actually being challenged on that basis.

     You want to be sure that the intervenors aren't intervening without some backing, and to the extent that an intervenor is able to show that backing in terms of that perspective that they're bringing to the Board, you want to be sure that it's an important perspective.  

I mentioned the half a million senior citizens because I think that shows, quite honestly, that there's a significant perspective being advanced through VECC at this Board and to encourage the Board that they should ignore it.  To the extent the Board discerns that it is not going to hear that perspective, that would have weight too.

     The substance of the submissions that are made by a particular intervenor group are a separate issue.  And that's the issue that I think falls under Rule 5 of the cost submissions.  

You could in theory have an intervenor who has every single customer of Enbridge signed up on a list and supporting that, but if they're irresponsible at the hearing, if they're wasting the Board's time, if they're bringing up issues that have nothing to do with a rate proceeding, they're not going to get their costs, and I wouldn't expect them to.  But that's a separate issue.  They may have the right and the privilege to be there, but if they're going to abuse that privilege, then the Board has the authority under Rule 5 to do what it needs to do to disallow costs.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  That's helpful, thank you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Can you just clarify something for me, sir?  You said that if a million residents intervened they have a legal right to be there.  Is that so?  Isn't the

Board also charged with a responsibility of conducting a efficient hearing and the Board and demand -- we are in control of our own processes -– and demand that there should be co-ordination of those?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That's why I qualified.  I said “the right” and then “the privilege”, because obviously there may come a point where there are just too many people.  You know, you have a hundred intervenors.  Then you're going to have to subdivide them.  But that's a reality that hasn't happened.  

And as I pointed out in my submissions, we have significantly fewer intervenors than we had in the Union case, and in that case we had a substantial settlement on all the major issues, with only, I believe, four major issues going to the hearing.  And the hearing proceeded quite quickly with the co-ordinated effort among the intervenors.

     So I'm a little surprised because we're really talking about hypothetical problems that haven't existed.  And until they happen, I don't see why the system that's working should be changed.  I think the system that we have is where we have, according to Enbridge, something along 15 active participants that can -- you add VECC and LIEN; that's significantly fewer than a lot of other proceedings.

     MR. KAISER:  Has Enbridge ever disputed your costs?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Not that I know of.  If somebody else who's been here longer than me knows of an example.

     MR. KAISER:  I don’t know why Mr. Cass is so mad today but --

     MR. VLAHOS:  If I can extend that question,

Mr. Buonaguro.  Do you feel you have the right to have intervenor status in view of LIEN or CCC or other organizations may view this as presenting a similar interest?  Do you believe you have the right to have that status, or a privilege?  You mentioned that an individual has only a privilege, not a right, because of the Board's other considerations for efficiency, et cetera, and public interest.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That particular question, I don't think I'm prepared to answer.

     The fact is that VECC hasn't changed a lot in the years it's been before the Board, and it has literally been accepted as an intervenor in hundreds of applications.  For it not to be accepted as an intervenor, I think something significant would have to change, and if that something significant happened, I'm going to know about it before I come to the Board. 


And in this case, we're not talking about objection to our status as intervenor; we're talking about is there a possibility here -- or a probability, I should say, that we're going to be wasting the Board's time.  And I've said no.     

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  That's fair.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, just to clarify, are you objecting to the intervenor status of either LIEN or VECC? 

     MR. CASS:  No, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  So we're just talking about costs?

     MR. CASS:  I think ultimately, yes.  I think I said that at the end of my submission in-chief.  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Manning.

     Mr. Manning:  Thank you, sir.  I just need to check that you have the correct set of materials.  There will be submissions of the Low-Income Energy Network response to intervention objection as one document, and another document is the Book of Authorities for the Intervention Objection Response of the Low-Income Energy Network.

      There's another document for the contested issue, which is a book of authorities which you -- and I just really want to make sure that you have the right set.

     MR. KAISER:  Should we have three books or four books?

     MR. MANNING:  I have produced three books to the Board, two of which relate to this section, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, the first one, submissions of the Low-Income Energy Network in response to the objection is KA1.3.

     EXHIBIT NO. KA1.3:  SUBMISSIONS OF THE LOW-INCOME 
ENERGY NETWORK TO OBJECTION

     MR. MILLAR:  The second one is a book of authorities that Mr. Manning referenced, again, in relation to the objection to intervenor status.  That will be KA1.4.

     EXHIBIT NO. KA1.4:  BOOK OF AUTHORITIES RELATING TO 
OBJECTION OF INTERVENOR STATUS

     MR. MILLAR:  And I believe the third document, I guess, is a general book of authorities from the Low-Income Energy Network for the Issues Day conference.  And that will be KA1.5.

     EXHIBIT NO. KA1.5:  GENERAL BOOK OF AUTHORITIES FROM

LOW-INCOME ENERGY NETWORK RE ISSUES DAY CONFERENCE

     MR. MANNING:  Do you want to admit at this stage or in the later discussion?

     MR. MILLAR:  If there are no objections to it, I'd just as soon do it now.

     MR. MANNING:  I have [inaudible] --

     MR. MILLAR:  I've looked at it.  I don't see anything controversial in it.

     MR. MANNING:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MR. MANNING:  Well, there has been a lot of discussion, and many of the important issues have been fleshed out.

     Sorry, as I see documents being presented to you, I just would like to know that you have the submissions before you before I start, because I'm going to be referring you to those.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes, we have.  We now have two of everything.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MANNING:

     MR. MANNING:  In the first four pages of those submissions, I'm dealing, really, with a question of whether LIEN are a proper intervenor - and that's now accepted - and whether LIEN are entitled to be eligible for an award of costs, and I'm suggesting that on its track record LIEN is entitled -- it is the kind of body that is mentioned in the Practice Direction, and should be entitled to eligibility for an award of costs.

And so I wasn't proposing, really, to go through all that in any great detail, because I think there are two issues remaining to be dealt with and which I would like to address, and I don't want to waste the Board's time.  

One is the question of conduct and its effect on an award of costs.  The other, which I think is the key issue for this particular debate, is the difference between LIEN and VECC.    


So with your permission, sir, I will move straight to page 5 of my submission, pausing only just to mention that the Board has acknowledged in numerous previous decisions that there can be an overlap in the constituency or interests represented by several intervenors, not just LIEN and VECC, but as approved eligibility for intervention and cost awards of each proposed intervenor.

Moving to page 5 of my submissions, I want to go straight to the point that the question of duplication isn't dealt with under the provisions in the Board's Practice Direction on costs for whether a party is eligible for an award.  It's dealt with in section 5, the principles in awarding costs in section 5.01 of the Practice Direction.  It's not an issue relevant to eligibility for a costs award.  And I'd like to take you to that very briefly in tab 2 of my materials.


Section 5 is marked on page 4.  And I don't intend to read through it.  I just want to make the point that it's not focussed on hidden costs, the hidden costs that I think Mr. Vlahos was interested in and which Mr. Cass was complaining about.

The issue that the Board is directed to by these provisions is the question of the conduct of the parties ...


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead.


MR. MANNING:  Section 5 basically directs the Board to the question of the conduct of the parties and how they have endeavoured to combine to facilitate the hearing process before the Board and not to delay the Board.


It is, I respectfully suggest, necessary for a party who is raising an issue to understand and participate in most every, if not every, day of a hearing and the settlement conferences to be able to know how to combine its efforts in a hearing, and also to inform itself as to the submissions it's going to make on the issues that concern it.


So moving back to the submissions on page 5, number 13, I'll read from there, if I may.


This is still on the question of conduct, and it is clear that LIEN's and VECC's track record has demonstrated their ability to comply fully with section 5 of the Practice Direction.  In fact, the Board has considered the issue of overlap between LIEN and VECC in its recent decision on cost awards dated September 12, 2006 in the Union Gas Limited 2007 rates proceeding.


Union asked the Board to consider the degree of overlap between VECC and LIEN and whether they made reasonable efforts to combine their intervention because, Union alleged, both parties represent less affluent or low-income residential customers.


The Board held as follows: 

"The Board accepts the submissions of the PIAC and finds that there was no duplication of interventions in this proceeding.  The Board notes that the determination of duplication of intervention between LIEN and VECC is an issue that will need to be determined on the case‑by‑case basis.  

“Intervenors may find at times they represent constituents that share common interests in general.  Costs will not be considered unreasonable due to duplication so long as the intervenors remain focussed on separate issues in the proceeding.  

“All prospective intervenors should be mindful of section 403 of the Practice Direction on cost awards when submitting their intervention notices.  

“The Board finds that Energy Probe, Pollution Probe, VECC, CCC, IGUA, SEC, WGSPB, LPMA, LIEN, and OAPPA are entitled to 100 percent of their reasonably incurred costs of participating in this proceeding." 


Enbridge was a party to that proceeding.  There is no substantive difference between LIEN's intervention in that proceeding and in this proceeding.


Accordingly, LIEN respectfully submits that, subject to the discretion of this panel, the Board has already considered the essential elements of duplication between LIEN and VECC and has concluded that there is no duplication which stands in the way of full intervention and eligibility for an award of costs by each party.


Then I'd like to move on to the second main issue which I think has emerged from the debate so far, and it's the question of differences between LIEN and VECC.


Enbridge's contention that LIEN and VECC represent a single interest is false.  Mr. Shepherd mentioned a little earlier the question of the history of the schools coalition and experience on costs in that, and it was quite clear in that case that there was a single interest, nay a single set of clients.  And that's a pretty clear duplication, just a waste of time.  It was for the parties to sort themselves out, and sort themselves out they did.


There's nothing of the sort here, and I'd like to go through what I see as the three simple heads that will substantiate that.


First will be the objectives, on which we've heard some discussion already; secondly will be the different memberships; and lastly will be the different positions taken by LIEN from VECC in other proceedings.


So dealing with the different objectives -- and I hope you don't mind me troubling you with reading through the objectives.  It's helpful to keep them in mind.


LIEN's intervention letter states its objectives.  It aims to ensure universal access to adequate affordable energy as a basic necessity, while minimizing the impacts on health and on the local and global environment of meeting the essential energy and conservation needs of all Ontarians.


It also promotes programs and policies which tackle the problems of energy, poverty and homelessness, reduce Ontario's contribution to smog and climate change, and promote a healthy economy through the more efficient use of energy, a transition to renewable resources of energy, education, and consumer protection.


VECC's intervention letter states that it represents the interests of those energy consumers who, because of their household income or other distinguishing characteristics, such as age, literacy, et cetera, have a set of concerns that may differ in kind and in magnitude from those of more affluent residential consumers, as well as commercial and industrial consumers.  

Then it states the members, on which we've heard more from Mr. Buonaguro, as the Ontario Coalition of Senior Citizens, OCSCO, and the Federation of Metro Tenants Association.


And you've now heard from Mr. Buonaguro in some detail about his client and their structure and their interest and their main focus.  And whilst it's clear that there's some overlap between the constituencies of the two organizations, it is clear that there are significant distinguishing features between LIEN's focus and that of VECC.  


LIEN is focussed on low-income groups and conservation.  VECC does not have a conservation mandate, but its focus has a bias to senior citizens and tenants.


Whilst VECC's member clients include a significant proportion of low-income households, VECC does not purport to speak for the low-income sector.


Secondly, the question of memberships, which, sir, I think you asked specifically about.  It's clear that LIEN and VECC have substantially different memberships and significantly different constituencies.  I've just mentioned the membership of VECC.  LIEN is an organization of more than 50 member associations from across Ontario, including energy, public health, legal, tenant housing, education and social and community organizations.  


A list of those members is provided at tab 5 of LIEN's intervention book of authorities, and it may be worthwhile just turning to that briefly, if I may take you there.  That's tab 5, the second, third, and fourth pages of that tab.


Without going through them, you can see the extent and broad range of LIEN's support and the distinction from the membership of VECC.


Lastly in my list of three key differences is the position that LIEN has taken on issues that demonstrate the difference in the mandates of the two respective organizations.  LIEN and VECC have consistently worked to coordinate with each other and with other intervenors to avoid unnecessary duplication in all other proceedings in which they have participated.  


Nonetheless, the differences in the constituency and objectives of each have become manifest on major issues in other proceedings where LIEN and VECC have taken different positions.


For example, in the Union Gas rates case earlier this year, LIEN sought to include the same issue as contested issue 6.5 in this proceeding, a rate assistance plan.  Union Gas opposed the inclusion of that issue and sought by motion to strike out LIEN's evidence.


Enbridge was a party to the proceeding and opposed LIEN's position in submissions by Mr. Cass covering some seven pages of transcript.  So Mr. Cass and Enbridge are fully aware of this position.


VECC did not support, as Mr. Buonaguro has said, or oppose LIEN's position.  LIEN also understands that VECC will take the same stance in this proceeding, which I think Mr. Buonaguro has confirmed, and Enbridge is therefore well aware that there is at least one very significant issue in this proceeding which is not duplicative and which Enbridge's objection will serve to limit or constrain, if not prevent entirely, if that objection is allowed by the Board today.


The Board may conclude that Enbridge's objection is really designed to deter opposition, rather than assist the proceedings by avoiding duplication.

     A second example is the preceding DSM generic hearing, which has also been referred to.  

As a result of a settlement conference in that year, LIEN and VECC joined with other parties to agree to certain issues as completely settled, an example of co-ordination and co-operation.  The parties, including VECC but excluding LIEN, agreed to a financial package constituting a partial settlement proposal that was put to the Board on other issues.

     LIEN took to the hearing in that matter certain issues relating to its targeted programs for low-income customers.  VECC as a party to the partial settlement proposal did not support LIEN's position.

     These matters, I respectfully suggest, demonstrate that while LIEN and VECC work to co-operate and co-ordinate with other parties and reach agreement where possible, they have taken materially different stances on issues where their interest, focus, objectives, and constituencies do not coincide.  

It is respectfully submitted that to deny full intervention status and full cost eligibility to both parties would unfairly deny to each of them and the interests that they represent the opportunity for full and fair participation in this proceeding, contrary to the rules of natural justice and the Board's own rules and

Practice Directions.

     In conclusion, LIEN respectfully requests the Board to grant it unconditional intervenor status and unconditional eligibility for an award of costs subject to the Practice Direction.  


And that is the end of my submissions, subject to any questions the Panel may have.  Thank you.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  I just want to understand one thing,

Mr. Manning, and this relates to paragraph 24 of your factum.  What was it that Enbridge was opposing in the Union case?  Were they opposing your status as an intervenor or your eligibility for costs or what?

     MR. MANNING:  They were supporting Union's motion to strike out our evidence supporting the same issue as issue 6.5 in this proceeding.  And that's it, sir.

     MR. KAISER:  In that case, just so I have it right,

VECC took no position one way or another on that issue?

     MR. MANNING:  VECC took no position one way or the other on that issue.  I think I'm right in understanding that were LIEN not involved in this proceeding, or in that proceeding, for that matter, that it is not an issue that

VECC would take of itself.

     MR. KAISER:  That's what I understood.  

Is that right, Mr. Buonaguro?  You said that was a part of your mandate.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  We have no plans to put forward a rate assistance program to the Board.

     MR. KAISER:  And you're not going to take any position on that issue in this case?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, I guess I'll give you a heads-up as to the question I will be asking, and that is, the tenant scope of LIEN's participation in this proceeding, and it's quite obvious that contested issue

6.5 is one.

     MR. MANNING:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Any other issues?

     MR. MANNING:  There are no other significant issues, sir.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, could you qualify "significant issues"?  Are there any other issues on the proposed issues list that LIEN as of this date intends to participate at?

     MR. MANNING:  No.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you very much.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just as a follow-up to that, Mr. Manning, and it goes to the nature of the proceeding:  At what point in the proceeding do we examine this issue?  Back to your submission and just to go back to on page 5 of your submission, the excerpt of the decision from the Union case:

"The Board notes the determination of duplication of intervention between LIEN and VECC is an issue that will need to be determined on a case-by-case basis."


Now, "need to be determined on a case-by-case basis," I would suggest that the most opportune time to do that is when we receive the letter of request for intervention, which you have in your book of authorities at tab 4.  And this is what, obviously, the applicant would be reacting to.

     On page 2 of 3 of your letter, you note not only in your scope of intervention list low-income rate assistance but also fair and equitable rates, fuel switching, conservation, and demand management.


Are you now saying that those three areas are areas that you'll not be participating in, or are the rates so low compared to the first one? 

     MR. MANNING:  I think the problem you put forward is a proper problem, but it's a particular problem for intervenors.  

One receives a considerable amount of technical evidence.  Before embarking on that, one wants to understand if an intervention will be accepted, and if eligibility - I can't say the word - eligibility for costs will be awarded.  So the time that one wants to devote to those documents has to be balanced.

     At the time for putting in an intervention request, an intervenor hasn't even seen that, so you have to try and second-guess what you might see and raise the issues that you think you may be interested in.

      Even now, at this stage, I hesitate and use a weasel word, a significant issue, in reply to Mr. Vlahos, because we haven't instructed an expert as yet because we don't, obviously, want to waste costs if they're going to be vulnerable.  And you never know what will emerge as the case develops.

     So I find myself a little bit hamstrung in giving an absolutely clear answer to that for that reason; there are necessarily some procedural difficulties for intervenors, as well as for the Board.  

I know that's not a complete answer, but I hope it assists.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  It would be helpful, I suppose, if we map the scope of your intervention back to the organizations' mandate.

     If within the mandate there are elements of environmental interests, I think it obviously goes to the fuel switching and the conservation and demand management. 

You know, up to this point, and in the discussions this morning, we've concentrated on the low-income rate element, but there are other elements that you have put forward in your scope of intervention.  

Even with the lack of the full record being developed through interrogatories, if at the beginning of that process you have an interest in these areas, it makes it difficult for the Board to really separate out, okay, what's the hierarchy of those interests, what's the level, where there may be duplication surface, and it's also difficult for the applicant to make a determination of that as well.  I don't have an answer.  I'm just asking you to comment on that area.

     MR. MANNING:  I think it, again, exemplifies some difficulties in the timing, trying to second-guess the issues that will develop from a consideration of evidence and discussion with one's expert witness and understanding how everything relates.  

It's a simple matter of a lawyer looks at these documents and will not necessarily be able to get to grips with - due deference to my colleagues who may understand more of this than I do - but may not necessarily understand all the sophistry of some of the economics and will combine judiciously with a team of people and understand those as they develop.

     So on day one of intervention, that was brought in with the established areas that the client is interested in; when we get to the Issues Conference, an experienced economist, Dr. Malcolm Jackson, appeared at the issues conference.  I did not attend, again to avoid unnecessary duplication of costs and to make sure the right area of expertise was fielded.  


To say that we'd had an immense amount of time to debate the issues that had emerged would be untrue.  The Issues Conference was on Tuesday.  I spent most of yesterday finalizing submissions for this and preparing my argument and submissions on the Issues Conference.  I'm sorry to reduce this to such mundane level, but that's the reality of how the thing emerges.  And whilst we would always try to refine and focus, the reality of it is that it is not as easy to do as may appear.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, perhaps I'll get you to comment on something, then.

     And this goes to the question I'd asked Mr. Buonaguro, is to weigh the issues versus constituency.  Your description of your constituency is quite wide ranging. 

There are low-income interests; there are environmental interests; there are health issues also represented there.

     If we were to take a look at the scope of the intervention, you could basically allocate the different areas here to those different interests within your organization.  But we could also see duplication with other intervenors that have those as their sole purpose.  If we were to take a look at fuel switching, I'm sure we could park that with someone else who is also at the table as an intervenor.  Conservation and demand management and fair and equitable rates I'm sure is something that CCC also has within its mandate.


So other than the low-income rate assistance, we're, you know, basically wrestling with constituency duplication, issues duplication, and at this point in time it's really difficult to wrestle with those things.  


I guess I'm searching for:  Is there a hierarchy here that we can really concentrate on?


MR. MANNING:  Yes.  May I assist with that?  The duplication of constituency and interests I've already made my submission on.  There may be an overlap with VECC, but there is no duplication.  There are very significant differences in membership and in main areas of focus.  


And in terms of focus of what LIEN wishes to and should be involved in, those are dictated by the mission statement, of which the two paragraphs appear in our intervention letter and in my submission.


All of the other issues that you're referring to are perfectly proper issues, but a lot of intervenors overlap in their interests and mandates, and ‑‑ well, I don't know about membership, but certainly in constituency.  And that is very efficiently dealt with through the principles in Rule 5.  Parties should work together to coordinate and cooperate, and not to duplicate, and we've shown ourselves to be able to do that.  


We bring added value, because there are certain major issues which are particularly relevant to our constituency and our main objectives, which would not be raised by VECC, and we bring those and we bring added value.  But in other issues, we endeavour to cooperate and combine and settle and do all those things that is symptomatic of a properly conducted intervention.  And I think Rule 5 is an excellent tool for the Board dealing with that and has worked pretty well to date.


I don't know if you wanted me to speak as to the substance of backing argument to be heard.  I don't think you ...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, it's part and parcel of, I think, the issue that you just addressed.  So I think I've captured your notion on that.


MR. MANNING:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, I need some clarification from you now, given the exchange you had with Mr. Quesnelle.


Let me tell you what my understanding was when he asked you the question is that, We are interested in issue 6.5, and if that issue is not approved by the Board or accepted by the Board as an issue for the hearing, then we'll walk away; our interests will be taken care of by the other interventions.  That's how I took your answer.  

Now, in your exchange with Mr. Quesnelle, now I hear you say that, Well, we do have a mandate.  We don't know exactly what will come out of this proceeding; therefore, we need a seat around the table.


So which one is correct?


MR. MANNING:  Well, I think if you're asking me will we walk away if that issue is not included, I would need to take my client's instructions.  I am not specifically instructed on that.


And with respect, sir, I'm not sure it's fair to ask me that ‑‑ to answer that question without instructions.  What I can say is that ‑‑


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, sir, this is the day we can sort those things out.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this, Mr. Manning:  Let's take the break and you can get instructions over the break.


MR. MANNING:  I'm happy to do that.  

If I may just add by way of assistance:  In the Union Gas rates case, although presented slightly different, we didn't walk away when that issue wasn't included.  But as of today, I can't speak to that issue without speaking to my client.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take half an hour.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 11:15 a.m. 
     --- On resuming at 11:57 a.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Does anyone else want to comment?  

Mr. Poch?

     MR. MILLAR:  If you could press the three buttons on the intercom.

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, the three buttons at the top?  We have "system go."  They're all flashing.  Is that the right thing?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. POCH:

     MR. POCH:  My light is lit, Mr. Chairman.

     Mr. Chairman, I won't delve into the differences between LIEN and VECC.  Just a few higher level observations that might assist the Board.

     Enbridge's stated basis for objection in its letter is it considers it neither necessary or appropriate for more than one intervenor to represent the -- the phrase they chose was "same constituency."  And we've since heard, I think, a narrowing of that objection not to intervention per se but to finding cost eligibility, or at least an unfettered cost eligibility.  

And I'd just observe the logic of Enbridge's position should not be restricted to the question of funded interventions.  This is only a difference of degree in terms of the concerns that Enbridge has raised about the efficiency of the hearing, the costs being borne in the hearing process between self-funded intervenors and intervenors that are relying on costs to be here.

     There is a difference of degree; I grant that.  But if the concern is about duplication extending the hearing, then that concern should apply equally to all intervenors, and to pick on, if I may, those who seek costs, sets up a double standard.

     You're going to potentially screen out intervention by constraining costs of the public interest intervenors, the intervenors that are representing dispersed interests, in favour of those interests that can afford to fund their own intervention, and that is a double standard that the

Board should be very careful about in a public hearing process.  You want to avoid that.

      And when we look at the list of intervenors in this case, it's abundantly clear there are numerous examples of intervenors that, if you take Enbridge tests, represent the same constituencies broadly defined.  You have all kinds of examples.

     Gazifère is from the gas delivery sector, as are EGDI itself and Union.  Union is in the pipeline business, as is TransCanada.  OAPPA and Schools are both in the institutional/commercial user sector.  Ontario Energy

Savings, Direct, and Superior are all concerned with retail commodity business.  GEC and Pollution Probe and GEC are all motivated by environmental implications.  OGP, Sithe, TransAlta Cogen are all generators.  CCC, IGUA, Energy Probe, and SEC, all full-time intervenors; all have similar, though I would stress not identical, interests in the revenue requirement phase of the case.

     And as I say, if you constrain those that are reliant on costs to whether there's any suggestion of any duplication, you've imposed a double standard.

     The Board deals with this problem routinely by allowing intervention but controlling against duplication by urging counsel to co-ordinate efforts, and if that guidance is ignored, certainly for those that are seeking costs, there's always the potential to be denied costs in whole or in part.

     But I would submit that counsel have been, I think, increasingly responsible in their respect for that guidance that the Board has given on this point.  It's not perfect, but I think there has been considerable effort and success, and I think it should be apparent to the Board in recent years that that effort at co-ordination has even been stepped up.  

And I will venture into the VECC and LIEN topic for a moment, just to observe from the standpoint of counsel who has been in the room with them in recent cases, that counsel for both of those parties have been quite diligent at co-ordinating evidence and cross-examination with GEC, where they shared an interest in the recent gas DSM case, and I saw this with counsel for LIEN, and I witnessed the same for counsel for VECC, who co-ordinated with the signatories to the majority settlement in that case.

     Now, Enbridge in its letter goes on to say that there could be unfairness because other parties -- or the company would have only one opportunity to present their own case but might face a similar case from two, VECC and LIEN.  

And I won't go through that intervenor list again.  I'll just observe you could make that observation about virtually everybody, that there's, quote, “two kicks at the can,” if you do what Enbridge is doing, which is look at this from 100,000 feet and simply ignore distinctions between the perspectives offered by these different groups.

      And that's really my central point that I would like to leave the Board with, which is that the Board's job here is precisely the opposite of that.  It is to examine the subtleties and the nuances, and the Board should welcome a limited overlap if that enables it to capture the nuances and the subtle distinctions.  

This is an arcane, complex area of regulation, and the Board's process is improved when those nuances are elaborated before it.

      Enbridge then goes on to make the opposite complaint; that is, that absurdity can result if two groups take inconsistent positions, two groups that Enbridge says represent the same constituency.

     Well, I think that's just my point, that the phrase

"constituency" is not particularly helpful here.  The fact that there can be two distinct positions taken - and Enbridge acknowledges that VECC and LIEN have taken different positions in recent cases - is just the point, that there are differing perspectives from within what Enbridge has called a sector.  

But the Board should welcome that.  If those perspectives are being put forward in a professional fashion and elaborated before you in a helpful way, that's exactly what the hearing process is for.

If it were cut and dried, you wouldn't need a hearing process.

     And I would pause to commiserate, I think, with my friend for LIEN when asked about, Are you in or out on the other issues?  And he observed that, well, these issues tend to evolve as the initial phases of the process goes, and there's a bit of a Catch-22 here, because you don't have shared costs yet, and yet he has to make a judgment about all these complex issues.  

And I think it's important for the Board to appreciate that from an intervenor/practitioner's perspective, sure, you can identify some key issues where you have an interest in the proceeding at the outset.  You know that from past cases; you know that from a glance at the application, a skim of the application.

     But the subtleties tend to emerge as you go through the interrogatory process, and particularly the ADR process is very helpful for that.  And that's also where the subtleties in perspective get refined, the differences in perspective between the different groups.  

And so the Board should be cautious about cutting off intervention at the outset, and I use the word "intervention"; I'll come back to that in a moment.

     Before the process has enabled these positions to fully form and to be informed by that process, yes, there is a cost to having several parties sit through that process at the front end and before they can say, Okay, I know where I stand on these issues; you take the lead on this and I'll bow out on that, what have you.  But I think that's an investment that's worthwhile for the public interest.

     A moment ago I said I'd come back to the question of intervention, and all I'm really saying here is if you constrain costs for those parties that are reliant on the opportunity to seek costs to be here, you are de facto constraining intervention.

      I would suggest, Mr. Chair, in closing, this is a public hearings process.  The whole point of the exercise is to have a public airing of issues.  It is a time-consuming and expensive effort compared to some bureaucrat deciding matters quietly at the corner of Bay and Wellesley, but the Board has elected to impose such a process.  And they've done so for two reasons.  

The first is to improve decision-making.  And that's the obvious one that we've been tending to focus on today.  But no less important it’s also a decision that the Legislature has made to give the public an opportunity to be heard and to be felt to be heard and to be seen to be heard.  And that is an important policy objective in a democratic decision‑making situation, and the Board should guard against the erosion of these fundamental characteristics of a public hearing process.

The notion of one set of costs has been floated, in effect, by my friend.  If you have one set of costs, you are not going to get two sets of options and two sets of perspectives that come forward, and that would be a loss.  

Those are my submissions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.  

Mr. Shepherd?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, members of the Panel, as is so often the case, I have the dubious pleasure of being the one to point out the elephant in the room, which in this case is the fact that the role of intervenors in adjudicative proceedings before the Board is currently and very recently in play, as they say on Bay Street, as a result of Mr. Vegh's controversial paper on that, which was just published by the Board.


The things we're talking about are the things that have been talked about in that process, and this is an example of movement in that direction.


And I guess I would not normally make submissions on issues related to VECC and LIEN.  They can sort it out themselves and make their positions before you.  But these same issues could be applied to GEC and Pollution Probe, to IGUA and CME, to Consumers Council and Energy Probe.


And step by step, we could lose a lot of voices in this process, voices that have helped the Board in the past.  Indeed, as Mr. Poch points out, it doesn't need to be limited to funded intervenors.  


I would dearly love to be able to stop Enbridge from spending ratepayer money participating in Union proceedings, but in the same way as it's not a good idea to do it here, it's not a good idea to stop them from spending ratepayer money there either.


So I just have a couple of things to say about this.


First, Mr. Vlahos has asked the direct and, I think, very pointed question which is the hub of this, and that is:  Do the intervenors have a right or a privilege to be here?  And my friend, Mr. Poch, has started to comment on this, but let me be even more direct on it.


The public has a right to be here.  That's the law.  The Board has an obligation to have a public hearing.  It does not have the freedom, any freedom, to exclude the public or public interest representatives from its processes.


It's quite clear ... I'm fading.


MR. KAISER:  Give him some Scotch.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It might work better.  You've seen this before, Mr. Chair.


It is absolutely true, of course, that the Board has to manage its process, but there's a lot of difference between managing your process, making sure that people don't waste your time, which you have to do.  If people don't behave, you have to slap them, of course.  But that's different from saying, You, representative of senior citizens, for example, we don't think you're going to add value.  A priori, we'll decide you're not going to add value.  You can't be here.


You can't do that.  You don't have that right.


And in that context, I want to make a distinction between the officious intermeddler which from time to time appears before this Board, as I'm sure you've seen - Mr. Vlahos has been here quite a long time and has seen more than his share, I'm sure - the officious intermeddler and the legitimate organization that has legitimate interests wanting to speak to them.  You can't say that The Federation of Metro Tenants' Associations or the Ontario Senior Citizens organization, whatever it is called, you can't say that they're not legitimate interests; they are.


And if they are concerned, as members of the public, about things that this Board is deciding, it's your obligation to hear them.  That's what you're here for.


That leads me to the next point, which sort of follows along that, I think -- and that is, Mr. Quesnelle talked about mandate and are these issues that you're looking at within your mandate.


That, of course, is an issue that has been raised in the general context of intervenor participation, and I've talked to my clients about that, and their answer is pretty blunt.  They can figure out what their interests are.  They don't need the Board to tell them what their interests are.  They already know what their interests are.  They already know what their perspective is.  They also know how to instruct counsel and whether they give counsel more freedom or less freedom.  

In my case, I have a very tight control with costs of reporting.  In other cases, organizations are not so tight.


But that doesn't matter.  A legitimate organization with a legitimate representation, like mine, like The Federation of Metro Tenants' Association, or GEC's member organizations, they're entitled to decide themselves what their interests are in this proceeding.  They still can't waste your time, but that's about process.  That's not about what they're allowed to talk about.


So, for example -- and this is a particular example in our case, because internally, within myself and my client, we've talked about this at some length:  To what extent should my client be interested in things that affect students?  We have 2 million students, many of them low‑income students.  Should we be interested in low‑income issues?  


Their conclusion is they don't have to be, because there are people here representing those interests, but if there weren't, then they would legitimately be able to say, Look, this is something that matters to us and we want to make sure that it's covered off.


Let me turn to just a couple of other points.


The question is asked about contradictory positions and whether that is an absurdity or confuses the Board in some way.  I think that misses the point.  We're not here to ‑‑ this is not a vote.  This is not a democracy.  


Your job here is not to see how many people are on one side or the other side.  Your job is to find the right answer.  And our job is to be helpful, is to give you suggestions to propose ways of looking at issues that will help you make good decisions.


And so the test of whether we're adding value is not whether we have a different position from somebody who has a similar interest.  The question of whether we're adding value is whether, when you're making your decision, some things we said helped you make it.  And if they did, then it doesn't matter whether my friend next to me agreed or disagreed or didn't care.


I have just two other comments.  The first is I think we have to keep this in perspective, in one sense.  The members of the two organizations that make up VECC collectively pay EGD probably $5- or $600 million a year in rates.  The VECC intervention will probably cost $100,000, maybe.  That sounds to me like money well spent, if you're spending $500 million on something, and you're protecting it with $100,000.  


The same thing could be said of LIEN.  I'm just using VECC as the example.


And so I think we have to be careful not to look at controlling the process in a way that prevents a relatively small amount of money from being spent to ensure that a relatively large amount of money is spent wisely.


And, finally, just one detail, I guess.  I think you, Mr. Kaiser, asked Mr. Buonaguro the question:  Couldn't you just represent the interests of LIEN on their particular point?

     MR. KAISER:  That was Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And we're in the position where we have two clients; we have Schools Energy Coalition and the HVAC Coalition.  In order to represent those two clients, we had to go to each one, make sure that they understand the positions of the other one, and make sure that there's no possible conflict or overlap.  We can't be in a position where we're speaking out of two sides of our mouth or where we're less effective for both.  

So, for example, we couldn't represent VECC or CCC.  It doesn't matter whether we agree with them on those things, because we would then be making our representation of School Energy Coalition less effective.

      I think that may very well be true here, that you have situations where the clients have decided, we need separate counsel for this for our interests to be protected.  They're the ones that make that call.

     Unless you have any questions, those are my submissions.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Anyone else?  Mr. Klippenstein?

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:

     MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  

Pollution Probe doesn't take a position on the specifics of these two parties, but I did take note of the point made in the written submissions for the utility and repeated in oral submissions on the argument that there's a problem with two contradictory positions coming from two representations of the same interest.  My friends have partly dealt with that, and Mr. Vlahos asked a question or two about that.

      I just want to submit to the Board that that may not be the problem that it's represented to be.  The reality is that there will be interests in which even economists and public policy experts will have very great and opposing and strongly held views on how to represent that interest.  And that's particularly applicable here, where one expert may say there should be a market-based solution and the other expert may say there should be a government regulation solution, and then, because this is a regulated utility, then you have sort of a third side to the equation, and you can have very thoughtful people having completely opposing solutions.

     And the underlying interests may not be, to use 

Mr. Quenelle’s word, homogeneous, and so, in fact, it may be completely normal to have completely opposing positions come from the same interest.  And that's the way the world works sometimes, and our job is, perhaps, to aggregate and streamline and focus and legitimately bring to your attention those viewpoints.

     And so I just want to suggest to the Board that may not be a valid point.

     Then the second point of note is that it appears from what I've heard today that one difference between LIEN and VECC is that LIEN has an explicit conservation aspect to its mandate and VECC does not.  And I don't -- to the extent that's true, that may be a significant difference, but then I think Mr. Quesnelle asked the question:  In principle, does that create an overlap with the environmental groups such as Pollution Probe?  And I would say Pollution Probe has never actually had an expertise in how conservation issues would manifest themselves in specific low-income contexts.

     And so we've never purported to attempt to do that. 

So there wouldn't be an overlap there, even though there might be a significant distinction between the two parties at issue here.

      There are significant aspects of this issue which were raised by Panel members which I won't address in today's context in terms of time required, and we don't take a position on this particular issue between the two parties, but I wanted to put that forward for your consideration.

     Thank you very much.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.

     Anyone else?  

Mr. Cass, any reply?

     MS. DeMARCO:  Excuse me.  Sorry, Mr. Chairman.

     MR. KAISER:  Oh, I'm sorry.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just to register that my client group takes no position on the relative merits of the LIEN and

VECC intervention, number one; and, number 2, on the sharing of costs; however, Mr. Poch did raise an issue in relation to the clumping of interests and was using that term quite broadly.  I think I feel it necessary to clarify that that interest, particularly in the marketer context, is certainly not a singular entity, and one needs only look to the Open Bill Access issue to realize that there are very distinct and different interests.  Number one.

     Number two, I do think there is a noteworthy distinction between funded intervenors, funded through the public purse, and those that choose to invest resources, significant resources in certain instances, in ensuring that their business objectives and their accountability to their shareholders has been discharged appropriately.

     Those are my two submissions on behalf of my clients, and I wonder if I might be permitted a second of indulgence just for personal comment that this certainly does appear to be a very threshold issue and a tipping point in the Board's determination of its process, so I'm anxious to hear the decision.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Cass.

     REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will try to keep my comments in reply as brief as I can, given the length of what has gone ahead of me.

     First, I wish to re-emphasize on behalf of Enbridge Gas Distribution that there's not an intention here to be critical of any particular party or prospective party.  The issue is a more general one, as I described it in my submissions in-chief, and I won't repeat those.

     As Mr. Quesnelle has pointed out, when a similar issue was considered in the Union Gas case, it was specifically observed by the Board that the determination of duplication of intervention between LIEN and VECC is an issue that will need to be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

     Really, Enbridge Gas Distribution is following up on what the Board itself said in that case about the need to have this determined from one case to the next.

     It was the view of Enbridge Gas Distribution that, in fairness to everybody, the issues should be raised at the outset; in other words, although as we've heard today it does ultimately resolve itself much into an issue of costs, it was certainly the company's view that it would be unfair to the parties involved to save this for the end of the proceeding and then to begin to argue about costs at that time.

     Now, in relation to the points that would be addressed about costs at the end of a proceeding, I believe it was LIEN included in their book of authorities an excerpt from the Board's principles in awarding costs.  I don't think you need to turn it up, but it's at tab 2 of LIEN's book of authorities on this issue.

     And what has not been touched on in relation to these principles is something that, in my submission, goes beyond just duplication.  

First of all, these principles are inclusive.  They don't purport to list everything that the Board would consider, as far as costs are concerned, at the conclusion of a case.

     But even beyond that, while they do make reference to duplication, they do also specifically say that one of the principles for the Board to consider is whether the party made reasonable efforts to combine its intervention with that of similarly interested parties.

     I read that to be something quite different from the proposition in the preceding paragraph about avoiding duplication.  I read that as an encouragement to use reasonable efforts to combine interventions.

     Now, one other point that I feel I should touch on. 

Mr. Kaiser, you in some of your questions to other counsel expressed your inability to understand what you called a quandary that I was describing.  So I think it behooves me to address that in a little more detail.

     Perhaps the best example I can take is this so-called rate affordability issue that is a contested issue on today's proposed issues list.  It was actually not my intention to get into this in much detail, because, to be very plain, Enbridge Gas Distribution strenuously opposes the inclusion of this on the issues list, and you will hear about that later.

     However, it has been touched on in much of the submissions that have preceded me, and I think it then becomes an example of the point I am trying to make.  

Now, ultimately it's for the Board to decide whether this is a problem or not.  If the Board does not see it as a problem, then that's end of the point.

     However, what we have is a particular group; we have two groups which intervene -- whether it's exclusively or largely, it seems clear that they intervene as representatives of low-income consumers of gas.

      And perhaps I should at that point just digress a little bit to reinforce why that's certainly my submission.


Enbridge Gas Distribution, when it assesses why these parties are intervening, has to go with what they put forward as the basis for their interventions.  Largely Enbridge Gas Distribution is not in a position to use anything other than what they've said themselves.


So on the issue of whether there are differences between these interventions, it would be my submission that essentially we ended up dancing on the head of a pin, at best, as to what those differences are.


And the reason I say "at best" is when I finish hearing the submissions, I'm not sure that the parties themselves have been able to discern what the differences are between their positions.  I was trying to listen as carefully as I can, and I hope I didn't make a mistake, but I understood Mr. Manning to say that VECC does not purport to speak for the low‑income sector.  I tried to write it down as he was saying it.


I then look at VECC's intervention letter of September 14th, 2006, and VECC says ‑‑ and I believe this is repeated also in its letter written in response to Mr. Stephenson's letter.  However, in the intervention letter, VECC says it is:

"... a coalition of groups that represent the interests of those energy consumers who, because of their household income ...."


So if I can stop at that point of the quote, right there the primary ground put forward for the intervention is representation of people who, because of household income, have a certain interest.


And then it does go on to refer to other interests, if I can continue the quote.  It goes on to say: 

"... or other distinguishing characteristics such as age, literacy, etc. ...." 


However, even in relation to that, it then brings it back, in my submission, to income, because continuing the quote again, it says: 

"... have a set of concerns that may differ in kind and in magnitude from those of more affluent residential customers." 


So whatever the concerns are, even on VECC's own letter it comes down to affluence, which I suggest is not considerably different than income in the context that we're addressing this.


So from the perspective of Enbridge Gas Distribution, it's certainly hard to see the distinctions that are attempted to be drawn between these two positions.


So then to come back to Mr. Kaiser's question and what I wanted to say about that.  You have an intervenor, like VECC, which apparently comes into this proceeding and becomes eligible for a costs award because, either primarily or wholly or partly, it is representing low‑income consumers of gas.


You then have another intervenor which ‑‑ again, this is a contested issue, so I don't want to make the Board think anything other than that as far as Enbridge Gas Distribution's position is concerned, but you have another intervenor bringing forward an issue that, in my submission, could not be more central to the issues of low‑income consumers of gas. 

The issue is a rate affordability program for those very consumers.


You have one of these representatives that comes into this proceeding on the basis that it represents low‑income consumers saying to the Board, We're not going to take a position on this.


Now, I leave it to the Board to decide whether that is a helpful approach to an intervention or by an intervenor.  I hesitate to use analogies, because every analogy that has been used in previous arguments unfortunately draw some other party it into.  But to take the example of industrial customers, if the Board were to allow a party in here to represent industrial customers, some other party brought a proposition forward that is directly relevant to the position of industrial customers and the Board said, Now, can we hear from your representative what you think of this?  And that representative said, Well, no, we're not going to be of help to the Board; we take no position.


I would think that the Board would find that a very unhelpful response for an intervenor that intervened on the very basis that it was representing that group.


However, again, it's in the Board's hands.  If the Board does not see these as problems, then of course that's the Board's determination to make.  However, I did feel the need to try to elaborate further on the concern that I was expressing.  


The concern is that the parties who intervene on a particular basis, that being that they're going to represent a certain interest, should then be of assistance to the Board in relation to issues concerning that interest.  And I question the extent to which it's at all helpful for one of those parties to say, Well, we're not going to take a position.


Now, in my submission, what drives us to that is the concern about duplication.  So we have LIEN bringing forward an issue that one might otherwise have thought is the very type of thing that VECC might want to bring forward, but there's the obvious duplication issue if VECC jumps on the bandwagon.  So, in my submission, we end up with a very contrived result, which is, in the interests of avoiding duplication, we have VECC taking no position on an issue which seems to be central to the interests of, if not its whole constituency, a main part of its constituency.


Anyway, I won't belabour that point any further.


I did just want to touch finally on one other issue that was brought up by Mr. Shepherd.  I had, as I had intended to do, stayed away from the paper that was recently issued by the Board.  And, I'm sorry, perhaps "paper" is not putting it highly enough.  Mr. Shepherd referred to this with words the effect that it was Mr. Vegh's paper, or something like that, which I took to mean that perhaps it doesn't have the status that I understood it to have.


The copy of this report that I have received came with a covering letter from the Chair of the Board, Mr. Wetston.  It indicated that this document, which is called, "A report with respect to decision‑making processes at the OEB", sets the direction in which we intend to go relation to hearings. 


So Mr. Shepherd referred to this as "the elephant in the room."  I don't know whether that's the case or not, but it's certainly my understanding that this report to which he referred is more than just some sort of discussion paper produced by Board counsel.  It is, in fact, a description of the direction in which the Board intends to go.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Those are my submissions in reply.


MR. KAISER:  I think you're right in that last regard, Mr. Cass.  I think Mr. Shepherd was just reflecting the fact that Mr. Vegh was involved substantially in drafting it, along with input from all the members of the Bar and others.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass, I hesitate to go too far down a hypothetical road here, but just to be clear as to ‑‑ you know, I'm having difficulty separating interests, as you call them, with positions; that we have a common interest and we arrive at that conclusion, that it's common interests primarily on the basis of common constituency.


Then I take it further that how can someone represent a constituency if it takes no position on things that directly affect that?


What would your thinking be or does it change your thinking if I put forward the hypothetical that VECC does take a position, took a position, on a rate subsidy program for low‑income instead of being opposed to it?  Does that change your view of how the interests are common, or constituency versus interest?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, Mr. Quesnelle, I fear that my view is not necessarily shared by Board panel members, but speaking for myself, if I was in the position of a Board panel member, I would have to start asking myself about representation of the constituency.  


If these two parties are both representing those whom they say they are representing and they took a contrary position on such a fundamental issue such as rate affordability for the groups that form at least part of their constituency, I, for myself, would have great difficulty understanding how they both can be truly representing that constituency.


I agree with, I think it was Mr. Klippenstein, that said, Yes, you can have experts come in and have different views on very technical issues.  That is certainly the case, but I don't think that's what I'm talking about.


What we're addressing here in relation to this rate affordability issue seems to be something that's fundamental to the interest represented by these groups, and for them then to come to the Board and say, We have opposing views on that, would strike me as raising questions about who is really representing the group.


Again, though, that's the Board's decision to make.  If the Board is not troubled by it, then it's an argument that doesn't carry a lot of weight.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  The difficulty I have with your answer, Mr. Cass, is that you say VECC should not be receiving funding because they're not taking a position on this issue, and if they took the position -- if they had said, By the way, we're for this low‑income affordability, you would say, See, I told you; duplication.


MR. CASS:  Exactly.  And that's ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  But isn't the fundamental problem here that Mr. Buonaguro has clients that are different from the clients that LIEN has?  He has these senior citizens.  That's half of his group.  They may be rich and they may be poor.  And they decided not to take a position on this.  Those are his instructions.  That doesn't mean that it's an absurd position to take.  It just means ...

      See, the problem I think you're assuming from the beginning is they represent exactly the same clients.  And what they're saying to us is, We don't.

     MR. CASS:  Well, again, Mr. Chair, we can only go on what is represented to us by these groups and --

     MR. KAISER:  No, you're right.  I have tried to figure out for two years who the hell VECC is.  I shouldn't use that word.  But I now understand that there are now these two groups behind them.  And it's very helpful.  

Maybe you didn't know either.  I didn't know anything about the senior citizens until this morning, and so I think once we have greater clarity as to who they represent, it's easier to understand.  

Sometimes these intervention statements are a little bit broad and they’re a little bit misleading, but I think once you understand who their clients are, it’s possible to understand why there may be different positions.

     MR. CASS:  Well, granted, Mr. Chair, that there isn't an important element of VECC that is senior citizens. 

However, when one tries to translate that into, well, why is that relevant to a rate proceeding, I don't see any strong submission being made to you that older gas consumers by virtue of their age have very different perspectives on issues than younger gas consumers.  

The way, at least until today, it seemed to be translated to you was it really comes down to income.  And that seemed to be what that letter was saying that I read to you from.

     Whether it's age, household income, or any of the three factors that were referred to, it was still brought back to affluence.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, but he gave you an example.  He was worried about these bill-stuffers that you were sending and he was worried that his clients had a concern about – that was a very unique concern to his clients that probably had nothing to do with the people that LIEN represents.

     MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair --

     MR. KAISER:  And he's more interested in this other program that LIEN's interested in.

     MR. CASS:  Mr. Chairman, I'm not aware of the bill-stuffers that have raised this particular concern of gas accumulation depending on their age.  If that's a specific issue that's going to be pursued in this hearing, it's news to me.  I'm not aware that it's on the issues list or has come up in any issues list discussion.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can clarify.  Your company has an Open Bill Access proposal.  There's a consultative that's been in the works for the last six months.  We're participating in that, and one of the issues is about how they're going to be allowing other companies not directly related to Enbridge to use their bill for advertising, and also in order to bill their clients on the Enbridge bill. 

     MR. KAISER:  Is that an issue in this case, by the way?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  It's a consultative.  It's a specific issue in the case.  In fact, you're going to hear submissions on it as a to-be-spoken-to issue because of its complexity.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Vlahos, I think, had a question for you, Mr. Manning.

     MR. VLAHOS:  No, I didn't, Mr. Chair.  I'm just wondering whether Mr. Manning has a response for the Panel.

     MR. MANNING:  Thank you.  I did speak with a couple of people.  We also have, in the same way that VECC and PIAC do, a structure issue in the way that instructions are given.  

LIEN, as you've seen, is a coalition, and they have a steering committee, and there is a subcommittee.  So in terms of getting definitive instructions on the question that Mr. Vlahos posed, is something I can't do.  

All this I can sensibly say is that unquestionably the rate assistance program, Issue 6.5, is the main focus of LIEN, and for the pragmatic reasons that I outlined earlier in response to Mr. Quesnelle, we would expect any further issues to develop in the course of interrogatories and the ADR mechanism.  

In all likelihood, most of these other issues will be covered in one way or another by other parties and we won't expect to deal with them, but we won't know that until we are able to participate in that procedure.  And if it does arise that there is overlap or other parties are dealing with them, then, in the way that LIEN have done previously, we will co-ordinate and co-operate and do all those things necessary to fall within Rule 5 of the Practice Direction on costs.

     So I'm afraid I can't give the definitive position or the affirmation that Mr. Vlahos was requesting.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, my sense is you're about to adjourn for lunch and break.  The issues that we're concerned with are not on the to-be-spoken-to list for this afternoon, and I just wanted to inquire, if the Board has any questions about the issues which we've already identified we have an interest in at present, I'll take my leave and won’t be present this aft.

     MR. KAISER:  All right, Ladies and Gentlemen, we'll come back in an hour.

     --- Recess taken at 12:43 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 1:49 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Millar.

PROCEDURAL MATERS:


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, assuming that we're finished with the VECC/LIEN matter, I don't know if you intended to register a decision or if the Panel intends to reserve?


MR. KAISER:  We'll reserve on that and try to get something out in the next few days.  

Is that satisfactory, Mr. Manning?


MR. MANNING:  It's satisfactory, but we're left this afternoon with making submissions without knowing our position on costs.


MR. KAISER:  No, I understand the difficulty.


MR. MANNING:  I had wondered whether it would be possible, and indeed whether it would be acceptable to Enbridge, to agree that VECC and LIEN will be entitled to costs up to today in respect of ‑‑ well, the issues to be dealt with today, in any event.


MR. KAISER:  All right, let me ask them.  That's a fair request.  

Any problem with that, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Good.  That is satisfactory?


MR. MANNING:  I'd be grateful.  Yes, indeed.


MR. KAISER:  Let me check with the panel.  


[The panel confers]


MR. KAISER:  That's fine, Mr. Manning.  

Mr. Cass, thank you.  

Apparently that was the procedure that was followed in Union, as I understand it?  You received your costs in the Union case up until the point of departure?


MR. MANNING:  Yes, indeed we did.


MR. KAISER:  So subject to the usual review by whoever reviews these things, the taxing officer, that's acceptable to the panel.


MR. MANNING:  I'm obliged.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, the next matter ‑‑


MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe I missed it, but that means that we'll both be able to participate in the rest of the Issues Day?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there's one other very ‑‑ I shouldn't say “very minor,” but a small matter that has to be dealt with before we actually get to the issues list, which is of course why we're here today.  


In the Procedural Order, we indicated we would be dealing with the letters of intervention or almost‑intervention from two private individuals, a Mr. Matz and Mr. Neelin.  And perhaps by way of background, Mr. Matz and Mr. Neelin both submitted letters to the Board.  Mr. Matz actually asked for intervenor status.  Mr. Neelin indicated that he would be seeking intervenor status.


The Board Secretary did send a letter to Mr. Neelin advising him that there were time deadlines and whatnot, and we still had not received his intervention letter, and to date we have received no response to that letter and we have received no other correspondence at all from Mr. Neelin.  So unless he shows up in the next five minutes, I take it that he no longer wishes to be an intervenor, and he has not formally asked to be one yet, so I don't think the Board has to take any activity with regard to Mr. Neelin.


Mr. Matz is a somewhat different story.  He actually did ask for intervenor status, and his letter set out a number of concerns he had regarding ‑‑ I wouldn't say they were regarding the application in particular, because he hadn't read the seven binders, or whatever it is, but a number of matters that are commonly issues in a rates case.  Some of them, in any event.


I tried to contact him just to see if he would show up today, and he sent me an e‑mail indicating that he can't come today.  He's at work, and he can't phone in either, because he's at work.


In my mind, the issues that he raises, at least some of them, are rates case types of issues, and subject ‑‑ I guess we'll hear what Mr. Cass has to say and anyone else, but I don't see any reason he should be denied intervenor status, and I should also point out that he has not asked for costs.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Any objection, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, no, we have no objection.  I think our concern is only whether this particular person understands the implications of being an intervenor.  It would mean he would, of course, be served with all of the paper and the interrogatories and responses to interrogatories, and we know he's a person who is unable to even be here today because of work commitments.  


We're not clear, at least the perspective of Enbridge Gas Distribution, that this person truly does understand what he's asking for and what he would get by way of intervenor status.  That would be our concern.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this, Mr. Millar ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, just before you do, I should add for the Board's edification that in one of the pieces of correspondence from the Board secretary to Mr. Matz, they suggested that he and I communicate.  So I immediately contacted him and said that my client was prepared to deal with him and to accommodate his interests.


He wrote back to me, and I apologize, I don't have the exchange here today, because I didn't appreciate it was going to be an issue, but he wrote back to me and said, No, I'd rather do it on my own.


And apropos what Mr. Cass is saying, if the Board would like me to have further exchanges with him and actually talk to him live ‑ this was an e‑mail exchange ‑ I'm happy to do that to see if we can try and represent his interests, even if it's to the point where I express what Mr. Matz wants to express, even if it doesn't happen to jive with the position of my client on an issue.  I'm happy to undertake to do that if it would help.


MR. KAISER:  Why don't we do this, Mr. Millar.  We'll accept him as an intervenor, given that there are no objections.  You have further discussion with him, see if he really wants to receive all of the material.  You can advise him that Mr. Warren has kindly offered to make any submissions on his behalf and see if we can help him out in that regard.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fine with me, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren, for that.  

Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. MILLAR:  We can always take him off the list if he later decides he's bitten off more than he can chew.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  What's next?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Unless there's anything else, I think we can get to the matter of the issues list itself.


By way of introduction, Mr. Chair, as you know, there was an Issues Conference, I guess two days ago, on Tuesday, at which the issues list was largely agreed to amongst the parties.


There are three outstanding issues, two of which are marked "to be spoken to" and which, I guess, there's some clarification or something further that has to be thought about by the Board, and then there is one issue that is actually contested, and we've already heard about that.


In addition to that, Ms. DeMarco indicated to me she had a couple of comments about a couple of the settled issues, and Board Staff had one minor comment on the agreed‑to issues list, as well.


So maybe I'll start with that, unless Ms. DeMarco really feels the need to go first on this.


The only issue I have -- I wouldn't say it's an issue, but the only comment I have on the agreed‑to issues list is really a point of clarification, and I did alert my friends that I might be raising this.  


It's Issue II.3 as it appears on the list before you.  Actually, Mr. Chair, would it be a good idea to give this an exhibit number?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, why don't we?


MR. MILLAR:  This would be KA1.7.


EXHIBIT NO. KA1.7:  ISSUES LIST

MR. MILLAR:  And this, of course, is the proposed issues list that came out of the Issues Conference.  It's not the original draft that was circulated as part of Procedural Order 1.


You'll see on that, Issue II.3 reads:  

"Is the forecast of degree days appropriate?" 


And in the original draft, the wording around that issue related specifically to a new ‑‑ a change in the methodology that's been proposed by Enbridge.


And the only thing I wanted to make clear is that that issue is subsumed in Issue II.3 and in that there is still a decision point relating to this new methodology that is being proposed by Enbridge.  

And I don't think there's any objection to that notion from my friend, so if that's the case, I'm not sure it's necessary to break that out with additional wording, as long as it's understood that that is encompassed in II.3 as it's currently written.


MR. KAISER:  Any objection, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  No, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Anyone else?  

All right.

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Chairman, before we leave the agreed-upon issues, just one question that I have.  And I don't know whether to address that to Mr. Millar ‑‑ I can start with Mr. Millar.


On the very first issue, that's where my question will be.  Overall, I take it the purpose of this proposed issue list is to provide as much specificity as possible to the issues that we have to visit and where decisions have to be made, except the Issue I.1.  It's a bit amorphous or is just too general, and I'd just like to know as to who is the proponent of this, and maybe they can help me understand. 


Is this a catch‑all thing - it may be fine - or can we give more specificity?  Because what follows after that is the specifics of rate base.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Vlahos, maybe I'll take a stab at this, and then I'm sure my friends amongst the intervenors will have comments on this, as well.

     I believe that the specific wording for this issue was added by Mr. Thompson, although it may have been a number of people suggested that this go in as an individual issue.

     I take your point that compared with many of the other issues on this list, it is a bit broader.  Of course, rate base encompasses many things, and there's a lot of money involved in that and a lot of decision points related to that.

     I note, for example, working capital could potentially be an issue that's part of rate base, and it hasn't been broken out separately.  There are certainly a number of other examples as well as particular issues that are captured within 1.1 that if we were to take out 1.1 or change it somehow, we would certainly have to add, I suspect, a long list of additional issues that would make up what is currently captured in Issue I.1.  

I think that's the thrust of why it's been put in in that fashion, and maybe I'll turn it over to my friends, who I’m sure have some additional comments on this point.

    MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps I could add it was actually my suggestion originally that this be added.  Originally it was because one of the issues is the opening rate base; that is, the 2006 capital expenditures of the company are not very similar -- or have some substantial differences from the ones that were proposed and approved last year.

     And it's normal that the time you look at that is the next rate case for a prudency review.  And so originally that's what was proposed.  And then we each we realized that the whole net rate base number is on the critical path to setting rates.  You have to consider it in order to seek dates.  So we thought the easiest way, to put it in, and then we didn’t have to worry about working capital, about opening rate base, et cetera.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Cass, anything?

     MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Mr. Vlahos, I don't really have anything to add.  Of course, it was not an issue that was propounded by the company.  I think others have fairly stated to you the discussion that surrounded this issue appearing on the issues list the way that it does.

     MR. VLAHOS:  As long as you are satisfied that any question will come to you by way of interrogatory that has to do with rate base -- if you're satisfied with that, then I have no issue with it.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe Ms. DeMarco had a couple of comments on the settled issues.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

     MS. DeMARCO:  I apologize if I'm speaking out of turn and if Mr. Cass was intended to cover a few of these things, but in the event that we're here, I'll try and proceed with haste.  

One was simply to reflect on the record an understanding with respect to Issue 2.1, which relates to transactional services.  That issue, as currently framed, deals strictly with the revenue and the associated sharing mechanism, and it's our understanding and agreement of that issue that there are no associated changes in the TS methodology itself that are proposed or will be proposed.  So if the record can simply reflect ...

     MR. KAISER:  Is that the case, Mr. Cass?

     MR. CASS:  I believe that's correct, Mr. Chair.

     The only -- I don't even want to use the word 

"change" -- the only impact on transactional service that's contemplated is anything that might flow out of the NGEIR decision, if any.  Aside from that, there would be nothing that could be described as a change to the methodology.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that's fair, certainly from our perspective.  

The second is very similar to the comment that Mr. Vlahos raised in relation to Issue I.1 relating to Issue 3.2, which is effectively a catch-all for operations and maintenance.

      And it's our understanding that the inclusion of that issue does include the null set; i.e., not going forward with a program or an activity underlying a certain operations and maintenance cost.


MR. KAISER:  Is that correct, Mr. Cass?

     MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  I didn't hear all of that.  I missed the keywords about what the specific concern was.  I apologize.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let me restate.

     It's our understanding that the inclusion of Issue 3.2 includes consideration of whether or not a program or element of the operations and maintenance budget should go forward.  So, effectively, consideration of the null set in relation to one item of the operations and maintenance budget.

     MR. KAISER:  Can you identify what particular aspect you're concerned with?

     MS. DeMARCO:  I note that there are a number of specific O&M aspects identified, such as energy link from the human resources budget, and fuel switching.  And implicit in those specific itemizations are that one can raise questions as to whether or not they should go forward at all, and similarly if this should arise under the general O&M, we understand that the same consideration would apply should you go forward at all.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass.

     MR. CASS:  I think we're in general agreement, Mr. Chair.  I'm sorry, I'm having a little difficulty hearing.

     MR. KAISER:  I know.  They have this pillar; they had this marvellous design.  Ms. DeMarco is hidden behind the pillar.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Appropriately bounded, as the case may be.

     MR. KAISER:  She's just wondering whether she should dispute whether the expenditure should be included at all for some of these other items.  All right?  Is that satisfactory?  

He's shaking his head.

     MR. CASS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  

Issue 7.5, I understand, will be spoken to, so I won't address it right now.  

My last item to be reflected on the record relates to Issue 8.1, in terms of what's reflected and what is fair game in the context of the NGEIR decision implementation.

     And specifically, it's our understanding that that issue implicitly includes the issues associated with customer migration and Enbridge's related assumptions around that.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass?

     MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  So subject to the discussion around Issue 7.5, those are our submissions.  Thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

Mr. Millar.

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I guess maybe we could start with the "to-be-spoken-to" items.  And I think the first one is 4.1.

     I believe again it was Mr. Thompson who originally raised this, so maybe I'd pass it over to Mr. Warren.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Panel.  As I understand the concern of Mr. Thompson, which my client shares, is this:

     As the issue is framed on the issues list, it assumes the application of the current formula consideration.  And the reason that Mr. Thompson raised it is this:  That consideration should be given to the possible impact of the

Board's decision in the EB-2006-0088 and -0089 process, which is the Board's consideration of the cost of capital, and second generation incentive regulation for electricity distribution companies.

     What triggers the concern -- and, Mr. Chairman, I apologize, I didn't make a copy of this.  But in the Board

Staff questions to participants dated September 27th of this year, the following statement appears.  And I quote:

"Several parties have suggested that the Board retain the existing method of calculating the ROE as documented in Dr. Canon's paper, ‘Determination of return on equity and return on rate base for electricity distribution utilities in Ontario,’ dated 1998, and consistent with the ROE methodology used in rate regulation for natural gas distributors under the Board's draft             guidelines on a formula-based return on common equity for a regulated utilities."

That quote sought -- suggests the possibility that in that proceeding, some consideration may be given to abandoning, at least for changing -- abandoning or changing for the electricity distributors the use of the so-called cannon methodology.  

And Mr. Thompson's point was simply if that possibility exists, then some allowance should be made in this proceeding, or at least in the scope of Issue IV.1 for the implications, if any, for this proceeding of a decision like that in that case.

     Now, there is no specific relief which Mr. Thompson is proposing in terms of the wording of that.  But it was really in the category of wanting to alert the Board to the possible spillage, if you wish, from that other proceeding and its implications for this case.

     Now, I appreciate in making that submission that I'm at least fumbling with the catch on Pandora's box, because it invites the possibility of a broad-based consideration of whether the cannon methodology should continue; and if that's the case, the scope of this proceeding increases exponentially and invites the necessary participation of, among others, Union Gas. 

      So I don't think Mr. Thompson -- I know Mr. Thompson doesn't want to go that far; he simply wants to raise the question of the possible impact of the consideration in that other case on this issue in this case. 


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Millar, is the intent that the issue here should be restricted to the existing methodology; that is to say, what's the appropriate rate of return using the existing methodology, which would imply that the issue would not include other methodologies?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, that was my understanding.  Mr. Shepherd, I think, will have something to say on this, as well.  He may take a different view.


MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.


MR. MILLAR:  When we looked at this, our thought was that it would simply be -- it would be plugging the appropriate numbers into the existing methodology, and that's how you get your ROE.


But I think Mr. Shepherd may have a different view on that, so maybe I'll let him comment, as well.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I think if the 88/89 proceeding doesn't say anything negative about Cannon, the conclusion in it isn't Cannon has a problem, that particular methodology has a problem, then I think this issue is limited to:  Was the calculation done right?


But if there is raised in 88/89 some question about whether Cannon is an appropriate methodology in 2007, then it's fairly raised whether if it's not appropriate for electric, it's not appropriate for gas either.


And it may be appropriate to word it in such a way that it's that narrowly defined.  I don't think it's going to happen, but if it does happen, it should be available as an issue.


We do not intend to raise the methodology, unless 88/89 says there should be a change.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  

Mr. Cass.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


The concern of Enbridge Gas Distribution is as follows:  The company's evidence has been presented on the assumption that the ROE guidelines will apply as they have in past cases.  The company has not prepared or presented evidence on matters that are otherwise addressed through the guidelines.


If there is some possibility that a decision in another case could change the use of the guidelines in this case, it would be, in the company's submission, important to know that from the outset, in order to know what the company would need to be prepared for as the case proceeds.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  Well, perhaps the way to deal with it, Mr. Chairman, is this:  Perhaps we don't need to amend the issues list because, as I said, to do so I think invites the risk of increasing exponentially the scope of this hearing.  

Maybe the thing we should do, Mr. Chairman, is that all the people in the room, having heard these submissions, understand that if, by chance, 88/89 casts a shadow of doubt on the appropriateness of the Cannon methodology, there is an understanding that the Board's decision on this issue in this case may have to be revisited.  That's probably the highest we can put it.


MR. VLAHOS:  Was that the Board's decision, or the proceeding itself has to include now another, I guess, facet of ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Well, I don't know the timing of the 88/89 process, Mr. Vlahos.  That's why I framed it the way I did, assuming, perhaps incorrectly, that the 88/89 decision won't be rendered before the decision in this case.  But if it is, then your point is well taken, and the scope of the issue in this case may have to be changed.


MR. KAISER:  But if this case was over before there was a decision in the 88/89, what are you suggesting?  That we re‑open the case?


MR. WARREN:  I don't think there should be an automatic re‑opening, sir.  It would only be if some party, or Enbridge itself, or some party invited you to re‑open it and made a case that it ought to be re‑opened.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Warren actually raises an interesting point, which is that, of course, if the Cannon methodology is put in doubt, then it's put in doubt for both Enbridge and Union, and so the Board would have to decide on a more general basis:  What are we going to do about this?


So it may be that it's an issue in this hearing, in this proceeding, only to the extent that Enbridge happens to be in front of you, but if Union were, it would have to be in their proceeding as well.


MR. KAISER:  I thought the more practical issue was - and maybe the timing will not permit this - that if the Cannon methodology was put in doubt in that other proceeding, then it would be open to the parties here to discuss the methodology in this case.  That would be the real practical issue. 


Re‑opening this case or the Union case, or whatever, is something that somebody else can deal with.


So I guess there are two ways to approach this:  One is we are not going to ‑‑ we're agreed that we're not going to discuss any change of methodology in this case, or we're going to agree we're not going to change any ‑‑ discuss any change in methodology unless, while this case is going on, there's a change in methodology in 88/89, in which case the parties agree that evidence could be brought here.


Now, I take it Mr. Thompson doesn't want a discussion in this proceeding of any changed methodology, like Mr. Cass, I think.


MR. WARREN:  He does not, sir.  What I think Mr. Thompson would adopt is the second of the two formulations you've just articulated, which is if the decision in 88/89 comes down during the currency of this case, then the matter is ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  It's fair game.


MR. WARREN:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair, if I –


MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead, Mr. Millar.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  If I may add something.  There's a couple of issues here.  One is the timing issue.  And I'd be a little bit concerned if the 88/89 decision comes out two weeks into a three-week hearing.  If ROE is going to be thrown into the mix, that's a significant issue which will require significant evidence and significant time, so we may wish to think about some type of deadline.  But we may not have to.  


There's two other issues.  One is that if Cannon is found inappropriate for electricity, that doesn't necessarily mean it's inappropriate for gas.  

And the third issue, which we've heard touched on, is the fact that if there's going to be any changing to the ROE, I would assume it would be of relevance to both Union and Enbridge.  And on the electric side, of course, we're doing it in a generic fashion, and it might be appropriate to do it the same way for the gas utilities.  


So it might not be appropriate to hear it in an individual rates case at all.  It might be something the Board wants to do in a generic fashion.


And none of those decisions have been made, I don't think.  As far as I am aware, there are no intentions to do anything on the gas side about ROE.  I asked, and no one I've spoken to is aware of any intention to change that.


MR. KAISER:  So can I take it from all of that that you're agreeing with Mr. Cass, who says, We don't propose to discuss any change in methodology in this case?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think I am agreeing with Mr. Cass.  I'd prefer to keep it out.  I mean, if the 88/89 decision comes out tomorrow, that's something ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Well, it's not going to come out tomorrow.


MR. MILLAR:  No, it's not.  I think it's scheduled for the end of the year or early next year, something like -- right around the time we're going to be having this rates case.  I think you're sitting on 88/89.  There's an awful lot of evidence to be heard if we're going to open that.  


So if we're going to deal with it, I think that determination has to be made maybe not today, but sooner rather than a later, and not halfway into the case.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, another way of dealing with this is to say that the issue currently is the appropriate application of the Cannon methodology in this case, and if events transpire which raise the question of whether that's still a good idea and this proceeding is still going on, we can come to you at the time and say, Can you please change that?


MR. KAISER:  That makes the most sense.  

Mr. Cass.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  If I might just throw another way of looking at it into the discussion that's occurred.


I think I tend to agree with those who were saying that should events transpire in this fashion, that parties can come to the Board and put it in front of the Board.


It strikes me, though, that given that approach, that perhaps the appropriate way of doing it would be to keep the issue narrow.  A party can always come to the Board and ask for the issues list to be amended at some future time.


By having the broad issue go forward at this point, it seems to imply some expectation that it would be looked at.


Instead, parties are talking about something that's not an expectation that it will be looked at; instead, somebody will come to the Board if they want it to be an issue.  So if they're going to come to the Board, they can ask for an amendment to the issues list.


MR. VLAHOS:  I thought that's what Mr. Shepherd said.


MR. CASS:  Oh, if that's what he was saying, then we're in agreement.  I wasn't sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perish the thought.


MR. VLAHOS:  So, Mr. Chairman, in fact, maybe if it were appropriate, it should be as calculated in the calculated return pursuant to the Cannon methodology.  Would that do it?


MR. KAISER:  Or using the Cannon methodology?


MR. WARREN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  It is, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll add those three words, or four words.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I think the next-to-be-spoken-to issue is -- I don't have the number.  It's number 7.5, and I believe Mr. Hoaken is here from Direct Energy to address that issue. 
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Hoaken.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOAKEN:

     MR. HOAKEN:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

     I would start by saying that our client, Direct 

Energy, has no objection or complaint with the issue as it's presently framed and we think it accurately and faithfully captures what might be described as the leftover issue from the rates case last year, that being the issue of access to the Enbridge-branded bill.  But the submissions that I want to make today really are a two-pronged caveat or qualification to that statement.

     The first of the prongs is as follows, and I'll express it as a question.  And that question is:  What specific areas of inquiry and ultimately what orders are other parties going to be seeking in this proceeding from the Board under the auspices of this issue as framed?

     As part of my effort to answer that question that

I've asked, I would start by reflecting on the importance of framing issues in hearings such as this.  And that importance, and indeed the reason for doing it, is recognized expressly in the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Board in section 30, where three specific reasons are set out; those being, first of all, that it's done to assist the Board in the conduct of the proceedings; and secondly, it's done if the documents filed do not sufficiently set out the matters that are in issue or to be in issue at the hearing; and, third, if the identification of issues would assist the parties to participate more effectively in the hearing.

I submit that the legal underpinning or basis of those grounds in section 30 is at least in part the recognition that the parties to proceedings, and particularly parties against whom orders are sought and whose interests may be directly affected by orders that are made, have an entitlement to know the some specificity – and that's the word Mr. Vlahos just used in his question about the framing of issues - with some specificity about the case that they have to meet, and that quite necessarily, I would submit, in knowing the orders that are going to be sought, and would also include or would at least include being entitled to an opportunity to respond.

     And that's a general proposition that I think few in this room would dare to disagree with.

     But let me put it in context, if I may, for the purposes of this hearing, and particularly with reference to the position of Direct Energy.

     As you know from the record, my client, Direct Energy, is currently the only service provider that is using the Enbridge branded bill.  There is currently a pilot project underway with reference to the use of the envelope, but as far as the bill is concerned, Direct Energy is the sole party that bills its services on that bill.

     And I say because of that, it is effectively in, or actually, in a defensive position in these proceedings; that to the extent that parties are seeking to alter the status quo with respect to Open Bill Access or what we used to call third-arty access, the interests of Direct Energy have the potential, and will, in fact, be directly impacted by, any order that is sought by parties to these proceedings and deemed appropriate by the Board to grant in the context of this rates hearing.

     And so if parties to this proceeding wish to use the issue that has been framed as Issue 7.5 as a guise to pursue a broader range of billing-related inquiries or complaints or agendas and wish to seek some relief from the Board in relation to those, then I submit, as a matter of law, and having regard to the rules of the Board, they must be required to say so now and they cannot be permitted to hang back and then to at some later point in the hearing use the vague or general formulation of the issue as a basis or justification for seeking to introduce something more specific.

     And I say that Direct Energy's entitlement to procedural fairness and natural justice requires that it know now, with some specificity, the extent to which parties are going to seek to explore these issues and pursue remedies that directly impact on Direct Energy and the extent to which the Board views those as legitimate areas of inquiry in the context of a rates case.

     And Direct Energy, in my respectful submission, should not be in the position of learning for the first time after the evidence is concluded what the specific issues are or remedies are that parties are seeking.

     And it's equally untenable, I submit, for it to be in the position of having to lead evidence and participate in a manner that I might describe as prophylactic, or preventive, just in case it is suggested at the end of this case that a certain issue should be granted.

     And that position, I submit, is very much in keeping with the issues and considerations that have recently been identified by the Board in the report that we discussed this morning.  And I wanted to just very briefly reference part of that report, which I think is directly on point with the submissions I'm making to you.  

And that is at page 5 of the report -- and I apologize to my friends; I don't have copies.  It is available, I understand, on the Board's website.

     But at the bottom of page 5, after the authors have identified a number of considerations with respect to the pre-hearing process, they then go on to say, as follows:

"These matters are cumulative in that, as a threshold matter, the Board should exercise greater control over the identification of issues that should be addressed in a hearing."

They then go on, several sentences later, and say:

 “Clear issue identification and development is also required to assist parties in their preparation of cases, and, in particular, it will allow them to identify clearly how their constituency is impacted by the issues in a proceeding."

In other words, how their interests are going to be affected.

     And those are the very same factors or considerations that are the basis of our submission to you here today.

     Now, quite apart from issues of natural justice and procedural fairness, there are practical considerations. 

And it will, in my submission, be disruptive and unproductive if every time a party seeks to do cross-examination of a witness or introduce a document, we have to get sidetracked by a debate about the scope of the issue as framed and the extent to which the matters sought to be addressed by a party fall within the scope.

     And there was a lot of discussion this morning in the submissions about the need for efficiency of the process, and that being an important consideration.  And that, I say, is also a part of the need to clearly and fairly frame the issues in advance so that we all know what we're dealing with.

     So I come back to where I started, really, is that the issue is, as framed, acceptable to Direct Energy.  But if any party is going to take the position in this hearing that certain subsidiary or collateral billing-related issues are subsumed within this and that certain orders ought to be made that would impact directly the interests of Direct Energy, then they ought to be required to come and say so now.

     And if they say so now, in my respectful submission, what the Board can then do is turn its consideration to whether or not those are appropriate issues to be addressed in the context of this rates case.

     That is the first prong of what I said was going to be a two-prong submission.

     The second prong is also related to this concern for efficiency of the process.  And this issue as framed identifies what I might describe as a threshold issue.  And the threshold issue I would paraphrase as follows:  Has

Enbridge done or is it doing that which is necessary to make access to its bill by parties like Direct Energy to continue?  So has it complied with the direction of the Board in the prior rates case?

     And if the answer to that question that the Board, this Panel of the Board, arrives at at the conclusion of this case is yes, there's going to be no need whatsoever for any evidence about what is required, practically speaking, in the time frame in which ‑‑ or the time frame that is required for a transition by Direct Energy off the Enbridge‑branded bill.


If - and I say only if - the answer to that question by the Board at the end of the hearing is no, would it then be necessary for the Board to hear evidence about those transition arrangements, what they consist of, the commercial availability of them, and, consequently, how much time is going to be required for Direct Energy to untangle or unbundle its affairs from those of Enbridge?


So, in other words, that evidence about transition off the bill will be completely unnecessary, in my respectful submission, if the threshold issue is decided in favour of the applicant and in favour of the proposal the applicant has brought forward to address Open Bill Access.


So Direct Energy therefore proposes that the approach to this issue be a staged approach, such that the threshold issue be dealt with first and if the Board determined that Open Bill Access would not or should not continue, thus necessitating a discussion or examination of the transition arrangements, it could then hear the evidence that it would need in order to make an order or decision about transition and the time frame for transition.


So we've raised this as part of our submission on Issue 7.5 in the hope that we can collectively obtain some direction from the Board as to whether Issue 7.5 as framed can or does allow for a staged approach of the nature that I've raised.


So subject to any questions, those are my submissions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Buonaguro, did you have anything on this?  I know you had some issues on Open Bill Access.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, from Issues Day, I recall that Enbridge has some similar submissions with respect to Direct Energy.  Perhaps they should go next.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think that's fair, Mr. Chair, I do go next, because generally Enbridge is in support of the submissions made by Direct Energy.


I must apologize, though, because to get to the point that I need to in order to explain Enbridge's position with respect to what Direct Energy is saying, I need to digress to an issue that, at least to begin with, is a different issue.


What I wish to digress to talk about is the fact that there are, as I think this panel is probably aware, a number of consultatives that are underway involving Enbridge Gas Distribution and stakeholders.


These consultatives started out, if I may say that, essentially because of wording in the Board decision of the panel that heard the 2006 Enbridge rates case.  These consultatives are underway and will presumably have important input into this case that parties are working as quickly as they can to complete and bring to the Board.  There are, I believe, six of them.  One of them addresses this issue of bill access.


Now, the point that I wish to digress to make is that in the framing of the issues list, I don't think it was possible for anybody to foresee what loose end there might be arising from a particular consultative.  


I think it's fair to say that the objective of each consultative is to resolve as much as possible and to leave as few issues for the Board to decide at the end of the consultatives as can possibly be achieved.


However, there is no telling, first of all, that there will be no loose ends; and, second, what those will be.


In the drafting of the issues list, I believe that parties have attempted to accommodate that and to have general issues that will subsume any loose ends that come out of the consultative.  


However, I did just want to make the broad point to begin with that because it's impossible to know in advance what those loose ends might be, it's certainly Enbridge Gas Distribution's submission that there may need to be some flexibility around the issues list when one sees the outcomes of the consultatives and what things may not have been resolved there.


Now, to come more specifically to the Direct Energy submission, first, because there is a consultative on this issue of bill access, it would certainly be the expectation and hope of Enbridge gas distribution that any issues that there may be on this subject would go to that consultative, would be raised there and canvassed, before they show up at this Board.  And, again, I think everyone would hope that, as much as possible, they would be resolved there before anything shows up at this Board.


Second, although it is difficult, in the context of these consultatives, to look ahead and be specific about what might emerge from them, Enbridge Gas Distribution does see the position of Direct Energy as being ‑‑ as creating a difference from the rest of the consultatives.


Enbridge Gas Distribution understands and agrees with Direct Energy's concern that it does need specificity about what it is responding to in this case.  It's not an applicant or a proponent in this case.  It is a third party that effectively will be impacted, depending on positions taken by other parties, and those other parties, I might observe, are, by and large, competitors of Direct Energy out in the marketplace.


The experience of last year, I think, shows that issues are going to arise if the concerns are not identified with enough specificity and timeliness so that Direct Energy knows what it's responding to.


Without going into the history of last year's case, this panel will probably be aware that there was a ruling by the Board.  It gave rise to a review motion with respect to transition issues and some of the things that Mr. Hoaken has spoken to.


In my submission, those types of things can be avoided here if the third party, Direct Energy, is given the specificity it needs so that it knows what it's responding to in this case.


And, again, I say that because Direct Energy, I think, is quite different from an applicant coming to this Board.  As a third party in this proceeding, it needs to know how it may be impacted by the positions of other parties.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Buonaguro.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. BUONAGURO:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


As I've mentioned in my earlier submissions, VECC is a member of the consultative on the Open Bill Access, and I can say that coming out of the 2005 decision, and our submission -- let me just put to a choice -- bring forward an Open Bill Access proposal or not and go to a naked bill.  


That came up in the Direct Energy motion that was heard earlier this year, and the proposal that came forward was that they would put to the Board a proposal for Open Bill Access.  

So from that point forward, a consultative and all the members, I believe I can say, have been acting on good faith to try and construct an Open Bill Access proposal that the Board will accept in this proceeding.


That's the point at which the consultative is right now.


What this issue, which Direct Energy is raising now, is the doomsday scenario, which is referred to in the Direct Energy motion, and I believe Ms. DeMarco actually provided that decision in her book of materials at tab 7, which is if for some reason the proposal that gets presented to the Board or potentially alternative proposals which get presented to the Board are unacceptable, then Enbridge may be directed to go to the naked bill, which releases a host of issues to which Direct Energy is referring to.


I would expect that at the time that decision is made and the Board either accepts the proposal, in which case everything that he's talking about becomes moot, or the Board orders a naked bill, in which case I would expect that the day after that happens, Enbridge and Direct Energy would be moving towards a naked bill, the question that's being raised is:  Do you want to hear evidence now just in case that happens, or do you want to wait and assume that the proposal will probably be accepted in some form or another and treat the possibility of a naked bill as just that, a possibility?


Either way, it's more of a procedural problem, and I don't think it necessarily affects the interests of our group in terms of what happens in the interim.  

I mean, procedurally, maybe it would be preferable to hear all the evidence up front, but, on the other hand, there's utilities that -- assuming that some kind of proposal can be crafted which the Board finds acceptable.  


I don't actually have specific submissions on which way you should go.  I know that other people have a much more direct business interest in what happens if a naked bill is ultimately ordered, and on what terms that should be proceeding.

      But for our purposes, Enbridge was directed to make a choice.  It made the choice; the choice is Open Bill Access.  

We're trying to put together a proposal in the consultative.  And until the Board turns that down, that's how we're proceeding.

     MR. KAISER:  Will we see that proposal as part of this case?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  There is in the material a proposal for Open Bill Access.  I don't think it's complete.  There are a number of details which obviously aren't in it.  The consultative is ongoing.

     MR. KAISER:  So the results of the consultative will not be in time for this case?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And then there are issues –- on the previous Tuesday, VECC raised some specific issues which fairly fall under the general issues list which we put in.

      We have some concerns about, for example, whether Open Bill Access is properly construed as a non-utility versus a utility undertaking; whether or not on that basis it should be subject to fully allocated costs versus incremental costs; whether or not the proposal should include profit-sharing or not.  These are all details which have been put forward in the application.  

We have some objections.  There's going to be an IR.  So it's not a slam dunk.  The proposal that you have in its infancy is the one that's going to be supported by the consultative as a whole or in part.  But everybody's trying to get together something that will be put forward to the Board.

     I don't know if I can add more than that, other than there is a possibility at the end of the day that whatever proposal gets put to you, you may not be able to accept for one reason or another, whether it simply doesn't fit within the context of a utility undertaking or not, for example.

    And so there's going to be a need to at least address here what could happen down the road if the Board is unable to accept the proposal.

     MR. QUESNELLE:  Just from a mechanics point of view,

Mr. Buonaguro, am I to understand from what you're suggesting that there will be parallel activities here that we are actually going to take, even if it's in its infancy, the pre-filed evidence, and there will be IRs based on that, and go through an interrogatory process at the same time a consultative is going on?  Or is that process being parked while we go through this stage?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I can tell you that it's part of the consultative process.  

For example, one of the things that were raised by not just VECC but, I believe, SEC, for example, was what would Enbridge's position be or what would its information be on fully allocating the costs, for example, of the CIS system, which would incorporate Open Bill Access to the pricing scheme that they're going to propose for the Open Bill Access?  

Their proposal as it stands now, I believe, is based on incremental costing.  We don't have that from them.  We may have to ask for that as an IR to show us the fully allocated costs.  We may have to co-ordinate with intervenors to put in a study of how that would have to work.  These are unresolved issues, and if we can't get the information in the consultative, we may have to do it in the hearing.  

I'm not saying that we won't get it in the consultative; as of right now, we haven't.  

So, as I said, I think that all the parties in the consultative are working in good faith toward Open Bill Access -- don't get me wrong.  But we are at the hearing and the Board is going to have to give a decision at the end of the day about whatever proposal gets before you, whoever supports it or opposes it, is going to be acceptable; and if it's not acceptable, the option, I think fairly stated, is naked bill.  And there are ramifications which have to be dealt with. 


Again, we don't have a specific position right now on whether that should be dealt with in the evidence now or later, but we recognize the possibility.

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. DeMarco, would you want to add something?

     MS. DeMARCO:  Not to usurp my friend, Mr. Shepherd, but just to protect the accuracy of the record, I believe my friend Mr. Buonaguro said the proposal is not included in the application, in the record as it currently stands.  But to be fair, it's included at Exhibit D1, tab 11, schedule 3, the process coming out of the consultative.  

And it's referred to specifically in the application at D1, tab 11, schedule 1, paragraph 6, where it specifically indicates that the proposal coming out of the consultative in relation to Open Bill Access is in the evidence, and we do have five schedules in the evidence detailing that.  

And you have those in the book of materials, which I don't believe has been marked as an exhibit yet.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think what I said is that the proposal in its infancy, that there is material, and obviously Ms. DeMarco is correct.

     MR. KAISER:  It’s not the final proposal.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  The consultative hasn't concluded, and there are remaining questions.  So what they put in their application, I wouldn't fairly characterize as the joint product of the consultative.  It comes out of Enbridge's experience of the consultative.  But the consultative is ongoing; we still have open questions that haven't been answered.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I'm taking off my School

Energy Coalition hat and I'm putting on my HVAC Coalition hat.  The School Energy Coalition doesn't really have a major interest in this.  HVAC does.

     Let me start with the consultative.  The consultative is ongoing.  You can think of it as sort of almost like an

ADR.  And, in fact, we've talked about making sure that the results of the consultative are in time for the ADR in this proceeding, because that would be the efficient way of going.

     MR. KAISER:  Is that likely to happen?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  A reasonable chance.  It's hard to say. 

It's in negotiation right now.

     There may indeed be some parallel process in the sense that we may ask IRs to get information on the record.  And it may be adversarial in nature or it may be agreed between the members of the consultative that the easiest way to get it on the record is to ask IRs so the company can put it on the record, if we have stuff that has to go on the record.

     But I think it's fair to say that the expectation is that the consultative will report, one way or another, by the time of the ADR.  Maybe it will be a report that we couldn't figure it out and we have to fight about it.

     So that's the first thing.

     And -- oh, in that regard, by the way -- perhaps I can respond to Mr. Hoaken's comment that Direct should be entitled to know what the parties' positions are now on various components of this issue.  

I think the simple answer is we're in the middle of a consultative.  We're listening to each other.  Direct is an active participant in the consultative, as is HVAC Coalition, and we're hopeful that nobody has dyed in the wool positions yet because we're still trying to talk about it.

     So my client certainly is not prepared to say this is the position we're going to take on this, that or the other thing, because we want to listen and try to figure it out, rather than fight about it.

     The procedural question is a tricky one, because the

Board last year said in its decision:  Enbridge, file a complete proposal on Open Bill Access or tell us how you're going to get Direct Energy off the bill by January 1, 2007.

     Direct filed evidence after that, in terms of seeking a review.  They filed evidence saying this would really disrupt us a lot.

     And the Board said, Well, we don't actually need to review our decision because Enbridge says they'll file a complete proposal.  If they do, you don't have to worry about January 1, 2007.  The Board Panel in the 2007 case will figure out what arrangements have to be made.

     That leaves you in a position where one of three things can happen:  A complete proposal is filed and it's either ADR'd or you approve it, in which case everybody is fine; there is open access.

     The second possibility is a complete proposal is filed but you don't approve it.  And then you have to decide, Well, now, what do we do?  Do we kick them off the bill tomorrow?  Do we give them some transitional time?  That evidence is already on the record, by the way.  Their evidence as to how long it would take them to transition is already on the record in the review motion.

     But in any case, in making the decision, you'll have that choice.

    
Or the third thing is you can say, This is not a complete proposal.  We can't tell from this enough to know whether it's a good idea, and you haven't filed something that's complete; therefore, the original decision January 1, 2007, still stands.  They have to get off the bill right now.

     The likelihood of the third one happening, I think, is low, and I don't think anybody particularly wants that.  But whether it's the third one or the second one, the Board will have to decide at that time what are the conditions of denuding the bill.  

Sorry, I'm looking for words to maintain the analogy.

     MR. KAISER:  Stripping the bill.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Stripping the bill.

     And in doing so, the HVAC Coalition, for example, will ask for some interim terms, like removing Direct's materials from the envelope earlier, if they're off the -- if it takes them nine months to get a new CIS, for example, maybe the advertising component of it, putting their flyers in the bill, can stop the day after.  So those are things that need to be discussed at that time.


So the question, then, that's put to you is:  Do we have a phased hearing in which you first decide, Are we going to have an open bill or not, and is this proposal good enough to achieve that?


And then if you decide, no, this isn't good enough, we can't do it this way, we're going to have to go to a naked bill, then deal with that in a second phase, which I think is what my friend Mr. Hoaken is proposing; or do you say to the parties, We have one case, we're going to have to decide what to do about the bill?  We can't keep spinning it out.  We got to deal with it, and so whatever evidence you want to put in on what we do with the bill, put it in and we'll deal with it all at once.


The practice of the Board has been, with very few exceptions, to do the latter.  

And, in fact, the most recent example of that is in the DSM proceeding.  The generic DSM case had a problem that there was a partial settlement, and, if the partial settlement was ultimately accepted, then no additional evidence was required, but if it wasn't accepted, then a number of parties wanted to put in evidence on their original positions, the people who had been party to the settlement.


And so we argued ‑ I was one of the ones who argued ‑ that we should have an opportunity to have a next phase.  If the partial settlement wasn't accepted, we should have an opportunity to put in more evidence.


And the Board said, No, no, no, that's not how we do things.  You put in your best case now, and if you decide you don't want to put in evidence on something, don't come to us later and say, No, no, no, I didn't realize that was going to happen and now I have some more evidence.  That's not the right way to do it.


And so we believe the right way to do it is, if they have evidence on the disruption that will be caused by a naked bill, in addition to what they've already filed, which was quite extensive in the review proceeding, then they should file it now, and the Board then, when it comes to decide on what's going to happen to the bill in March, whenever it is that you're sitting down deciding that, will have all the evidence before you to make a balanced decision on what makes sense.


Now, the one final comment I want to make on this is this:  My friend has characterized Direct as sort of under attack and in a defensive mode.  Let's keep clear on what the situation is.  For five years, they've had exclusive access to Enbridge's customers in a preferred way that is sufficiently inappropriate that the Board said it's got to stop.  The Board's already decided that that's got to stop.


And so for my friend to say, Well, you know, Jeez, we're the poor innocents here; it’s not true.  In fact, the members of the HVAC Coalition, who are basically all the other contractors in the province, are the ones who have been suffering through this all the way through, and every day that my friend is able to delay this further - let's add another phase, another proceeding, let's add another six months - that's another few million dollars of sales that they get by their preferred position that are taken away from their competitors by an unfair advantage, and that's not right.


Those are our submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Your client, I take it, competes with Direct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I think that's fair.


MR. KAISER:  So when Mr. Hoaken says he's looking for some idea of the orders or relief other parties would be seeking, is he referring to relief or orders that you would be seeking?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely he is, I think.  I mean, he can speak for himself.


MR. KAISER:  Is that not clear from this consultative that you guys have been involved in?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's been pretty frank.  We've talked across the table pretty clearly.  I'm not sure that Direct has any doubt about where HVAC Coalition stands on any of this stuff.  And, indeed, it almost doesn't matter, because the Board's already said if there's a legitimate way of having open bill, that's what should happen; if not, it should be a naked bill.


So we can't take a position inconsistent with that.


MR. KAISER:  So what is it you're looking for, Mr. Hoaken?  What further clarification do you need from the people who are opposed to you?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Hoaken, your microphone.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOAKEN:


MR. HOAKEN:  Excuse me.  The only further clarification we need is with respect to remedies being sought against Direct Energy and the time frame in which they're being sought and the terms on which they're being sought.


And there has been, and is an ongoing process, the consultative.  But to say that every concept or idea or proposal that has been raised in that process somehow puts us on notice of everything that parties might conceivably be bringing before this Board and expecting us to deal with or respond to in the evidence, is a stretch, in my respectful submission.


So what we want to know is:  When Mr. Shepherd says, Put your best case forward, put in your best evidence, I mean, that is a submission that makes sense only when you know what the case is and only when you know what you have to respond to.


And so my submissions here are designed to say to other parties, If you're seeking something else or if there are other aspects of billing beyond those which are clearly referenced and incorporated in the issue as framed, you have to tell us now.


And so I'm listening very carefully to what the submissions are, and I think in the absence of anyone seeking to expand the issue, I am content with that.  But we are going to be saying to the Board -- if issues arise later in the course of the hearing, we are going to be saying that the literal interpretation has to be given to the issue as framed.


MR. KAISER:  Well, the problem is the issue as framed is fairly broad.  He wants open access, I mean, and he wants open access as soon as he can get it, I presume.


MR. HOAKEN:  Well, here's the problem, is that in the course of his submissions, I think Mr. Shepherd amply identified what Direct's problem is.  He said, Well, if the proposal is not acceptable - and I'm paraphrasing - but if the proposal is not acceptable, then we may well be saying to the Board that we want interim relief and we want relief in relation to the stuffing of envelopes, for example.


So is that or is that not his position, and is the Board going to entertain that as part of the issue as framed as Issue 7.5?  That's what we need to know.  That's an example of what we need to know.


MR. KAISER:  The problem is, I mean, there's a proposal in the evidence; right?  


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  There's no decision on that proposal.  He's not going to know what his position is until he gets a decision.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right, I appreciate that, and that is at least part of the reason why we're advocating for the staged process or proposal.


MR. KAISER:  And the staged process is, what, that we should decide this proposal earlier, rather than later?


MR. HOAKEN:  No, the staged proposal is quite legitimately part of this case, no question about that.  Excuse me, not the staged proposal, but the proposal for Open Bill Access is part of his case.  


So the Board is going to hear evidence -- there is prefiled evidence, and we will hear further evidence about the proposal, and we will presumably hear evidence from the intervenors or, at least, hear evidence based on cross‑examination by them, and then be in a position to have a full record to decide whether or not the proposal is, having regard to the criteria that the Board stated in its previous decision, acceptable or not acceptable.


And at that point, having decided -- and I think I agree with Mr. Shepherd that there's three possible outcomes.  Then having decided on one of those outcomes will, in my respectful submission, be in a better position to entertain specific submissions, such as the one Mr. Shepherd says he might be making, about an interim order for the stuffing of envelopes, for example.


MR. KAISER:  Why can't he just make that in argument, I mean, just on the basis of the evidence?  You say, Well, I need to know what his proposal is or what his request is before you can respond.  And you might want an opportunity to call evidence.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  Well, I guess the problem we foresee is that in the absence of greater specificity or at least an opportunity to address any identified deficiencies in the proposal that ultimately is brought forward, we are left in the position of trying to anticipate what the specific objections are to the bill access proposal that's going to be brought forward.


MR. KAISER:  But is this something we need a lot of evidence on?  Let's say he's going to make an argument as part of his final submission, If you don't accept this, then I want this; I want interim relief or whatever.  And you could respond by way of argument and say, Well, we can't do it, or whatever your response is.  


It's not a question of whether you need to call evidence, is it?


MR. HOAKEN:  Well, here's an example.  I think there is actually evidence needed.  Let's deal with the idea or, at least, concept that there's customer confusion caused by the affiliation on the bill, of Direct Energy and Enbridge.  And my friend makes a number of general and conclusory statements about this arrangement and what it is and what it means, and it's certainly our view that those statements will have to be substantiated with evidence.

     So, for example, if there is evidence put forward of customer confusion, if there is survey data or some other objective evidence to support the proposition, we may at that point feel obliged to file evidence in response.  But faced with the bald conclusory statement that's not supported by any evidence in the record, why in heaven’s name would we enter the fray and lead evidence?  That's not exhaustive, but that's an example of the practical difficulty we face.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could interrupt for a second.  The words "customer confusion" have not passed

my lips.  I hadn't raised the issue in any way, shape, or form.  And I think the transcript will reflect that.

     MR. KAISER:  I think it’s just an example.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I didn't mean to suggest that you did.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm going to go back to basics.  There is a proposal, Mr. Cass, right, by -- I want to understand all the facts first.

     There is a proposal by Enbridge.

     MR. CASS:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  To attempt to comply - because I don't know if it complies or not, and I guess the parties will tell us if it does or not - to comply with the Board's direction? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, there is, Mr. Vlahos.  Again, subject to this ongoing consultative, yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Okay.  Do you have to push it on and off every time?  It looks a bit awkward for you.  Do you need to do that?

     MR. CASS:  I don't know.  I'm sorry.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So you intended to imply, and that's in the evidence, in the pre-filed evidence, and part and parcel of that pre-filed evidence is this ongoing consultative, or is it a complete piece that one can sink his teeth in it and say "yes" or "no"?  What kind of proposal is it?


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

     MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if I can be of assistance to the Board in this regard and mark as an exhibit the materials you have in front of you.

     MR. KAISER:  Can we get the proposal so we all know what we're talking about?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is tab 1 of Ms. DeMarco's material.

     MR. KAISER:  I don't think we have that book.  It's being hidden over there.


MR. MILLER:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair. 

We'll mark that as an exhibit.  In fact, Mr. Battista had already helpfully written it down on the list.  That's why I'm going from KA1.7 to KA1.6, but Ms. DeMarco's book of materials will be KA1.6.

     EXHIBIT NO. KA1.6:  BOOR OF MATERIALS OF MS. DeMARCO

     MS. DeMARCO:  And for the reference of the Board, the proposal is included at tabs 1-5, which is the company's direct evidence.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, that's about 50 pages or so.

     MR. KAISER:  Since you kindly put this together, can you summarize it briefly for us?

     MS. DeMARCO:  I can.  And I wonder if it would help to actually go to my submissions in this regard.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's do that.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is that fair?

     MR. KAISER:  Sure.  Anything's fair.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And our submissions are fourfold, particularly in relation to the direct proposal to split the proceeding or somehow phase the proceeding.  And they are first that it's contrary to the Board's position in RP-200- --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Ms. DeMarco, I hate to talk – I was trying to find out the facts first before we get to the details.  

Can someone help me with the facts first, what is it all about, and then we can discuss the areas of disagreement?

     MS. DeMARCO:  Sure.  If you turn to tab 1, the Open Bill Access --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, maybe Mr. Cass can do it for us, since it's his proposal.

     MR. CASS:  I was afraid you were going to say that,

Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You can thank him, Ms. DeMarco.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

     MR. CASS:  I'm struggling, Mr. Vlahos, with the best way to sum this up for the Board.

     There was a direction in the previous decision that the company has endeavoured to comply with, so you'll see that in paragraph 1 at the excerpt appearing at tab 1 of Ms. DeMarco's materials.  

So the company was directed to produce a comprehensive proposal, and so in paragraph 1 it summarizes how the company has attempted to do that.  And then that is described further in the evidence that follows.

      The proposal was also supposed to include an interim solution.  That was part of the Board's direction.  If the comprehensive proposal was for continued access to the bill by others, then there was to be an interim solution.  And the company has endeavoured to address that as well, which also is discussed in greater detail in the evidence that follows.

     For example, at page 5 of that evidence, you'll see the heading "Interim solution" just above paragraph 13.  

At paragraph 14, you'll see what the three elements of the interim solution are:  Access to bill inserts and bill marketing, number one; and number two is open access to bill transactions; and number three is a re-designed bill.

     In short, the company's proposal, which it believes responds to the directions in the previous decision, is contained in this evidence.  However, there is, as the evidence also discusses, an ongoing consultative process around this issue.

     The objective of the consultative is, as is indicated in paragraph 3 on page 1 of this excerpt, to arrive at a fair and equitable solution supported in part or in full by the interested parties.

     So you have the company's proposal described in the evidence, the company's understanding that it complies with the direction, but you have an ongoing effort to broaden it and, as far as possible, to make it a solution that is supported in full or in part by other interested parties.

     Does that help, Mr. Vlahos?  


MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, yes, and the quotation -- I'm sorry, what was the last reference to?  Page ...?

     MR. CASS:  Paragraph 2, at page 1, at tab 1, where it says "Background."  And it talks about the consultative process that was established with stakeholders, and in the third sentence, it refers to the objective which I described, that being:

"... to arrive at a fair and equitable solution supported in part or in full by the interested parties."

So, again, there is a company proposal, but there is an effort, if I can use this term, to broaden out the support for that proposal and bring -- or, I'm sorry, to come up with a solution that has broader support and, in fact, is supported in part or in full by interested parties, if that can be achieved.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And why couldn't this be brought forward as part of the ADR process?  I mean, the consultative can go on right now as it has been.  Why can't deliberations conclude together with the ADR on all the other issues?

     MR. CASS:  Yes, if I --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Could it?

     MR. CASS:  If I understood you correctly, Mr. Vlahos, that is the expectation or the desire to have these consultatives in a position that they will feed into the ADR in this case, if I can put it that way, and I think that's what people are working towards.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And, Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Hoaken, any reason why we cannot get there?  I mean, we're talking about perhaps months from now; many weeks, anyways.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We are hopeful that a resolution can be found, but obviously the interests of Direct or the interests of some of the other participants may not be identical.  It's a negotiation and they don't always work out nicely.

     I could add, Mr. Vlahos, you asked for a sort of a capsule description.  The one thing I should be aware of is that the interim proposal of the company is what can be done technically with the existing CIS.  The comprehensive proposal, then, says what more can be done to open up the bill once we have a new CIS and we can build it into the new CIS.  That's in 2009 or 2010.  So the interim solution goes for quite a few years.

     The other thing I think you may wish to be aware of is that the proposal includes a proposal on how the profits are calculated for this enterprise, which is the ratepayer benefit or whatever, and how they're shared between the shareholder and the ratepayers.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So going beyond HVAC issues.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, absolutely.

     MR. VLAHOS:  It goes to --

     MR. KAISER:  That's paragraph 32, isn't it?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why Mr. Buonaguro was there.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you for that, Mr. Chairman.

     MR. KAISER:  Is the sharing between ratepayer and shareholder also part of the consultative?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It is, and as is the costing.  These are all part and parcel of the package, as it were.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So let's go back to Direct's problem.  This negotiation goes on.  There's ADRs.  There's this consultative, and they don't get to where they want.  The HVAC people don't get to where they want.


I guess we'll know that by the time the case opens; right?  We'll either be there or we won't be there at that point.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right, but we won't know it by the time we have to file evidence in accordance with the Procedural Order.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So that's a fairly narrow problem we could deal with if it happened at the time; right?  Right now it's an academic problem.  But on the day the case opens, if there's no solution, and you came forward at that time with this issue and said, We want to know from Mr. Shepherd what his position is, given that we now know where we are, and in the event his position is A, B, or C, we want an opportunity to call evidence on that, the panel could deal with that at that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Chairman ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Couldn't we?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure that's the case.  The first part of it I agree with, that, as with anybody, any participant in this process, by the time we get to ADR, we better figure out what we have to say, because otherwise the ADR is not going to be very useful.  And the same is true, by the way, of Direct Energy, whose position is, of course, they're still negotiating, too, so that's fluid.


But I think it's fair to say that it would be unusual to say, let's listen to ‑‑ let's have part of the evidence led, then state our positions, and then other people can file more evidence.  That's not normally how this process works.  Normally all the evidence gets filed, and then you look at it and you decide what your position is.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, but this is a bit different, because this is not really evidence in the usual sense.  This is a proposal that's coming forward.  And I presume if the parties agree, Enbridge is going to put forward the proposal.


All Enbridge is trying to do is comply with the Board's order in the last case.  They're sort of a neutral party in this.  As long as these people are happy, you're happy.  Is that right?  Is that fair?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure that's true.


MR. KAISER:  In any event, this is an evolving process, and the best evidence we will get will be at the opening of the case we'll find out where the parties are in terms of ‑‑ or the best evidence we'll get is coming out of the settlement agreement in this case.  We'll either have a settlement or we won't have a settlement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Once we know that, then presumably on this narrow issue everyone could reassess their position and decide what evidence they wanted to call or what evidence they didn't want to call.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And anybody affected or anybody who had a position on it could then file additional evidence if they felt it was appropriate, given the fact ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Isn't it as simple as people say, I don't know what case I have to meet, whether I'm for it or I'm against it, or in the middle, until I know whether this dog is going to bark or not bark, and I won't know that until the settlement conference is finished?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOAKEN:


MR. HOAKEN:  That's right, but our position, Direct Energy's position, is distinguishable from those other parties, because we are, by definition, in a responsive position, and so the need to lead evidence and ultimately the arguments we make will be dependent upon, A, the evidence being led by the intervenors, and, B, the orders or revenues that they're seeking.


So we don't ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  They're not seeking orders.  They're seeking to make an argument in a rate case, out of which will come a decision on this issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Hoaken is seeking the right to lead reply evidence.


MR. HOAKEN:  No, I'm not.  I'm seeking the right to know what specific issues the Board is ‑‑ or the parties are going to be urging upon the Board.


So, I mean, for example, is Mr. Shepherd, as part of his submission, going to be urging upon the Board that there should be a naked bill and the naked bill should be, in effect, as of Monday?  I think that's something that we're entitled to know well in advance so that we can govern our affairs accordingly and lead what evidence we need to lead.


MR. KAISER:  But don't you know what he wants by now?  You've been negotiating with him in these consultatives?


MR. HOAKEN:  Well, I think he said it best when he said the positions of the parties are fluid.  So in answer to your question, in all seriousness, I don't think we know what their bottom line is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Nor do we know what Direct's bottom line is.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I don't think we know what anyone's bottom line is.


MS. DeMARCO:  In fairness, can I just jump in for a second?  I find it shocking that we're arguing, with well over a hundred pages of evidence on the record by Direct, and we don't know what case we have to meet.  We are arguing about whether customer confusion is an issue, when it's clearly in the evidence, at E1, tab 11, schedule 1, page 8.  


We're arguing about the three-pronged proposal, saying we don't know what case we have to meet, when it's clearly laid out.  

I don't see any prejudice.  I don't see any notice issues.  There's no uncertainty in my mind as to what's on the record and what's fair game, in relation to the company's proposal.  


And in the interim, the delay associated with one entity continuing to have sole and exclusive access to that bill is very, very much of concern to the Board and the subject of two rulings; not one, but two.


MR. HOAKEN:  Well, that's ‑‑ and I'm sorry to interrupt my friend, but that is a mistake.  

And going back to Mr. Shepherd's characterization of what the Board said and did, the commercial arrangements between Direct Energy and Enbridge which provided for exclusivity ended, and exclusivity was no longer an issue.


The issue was how practically to effect the shared desire, quite frankly, of Enbridge and Direct Energy that there be open access.  Both of those parties took the position in the last hearing that they were not opposed in any way, shape, or form to the opening.


So we're not talking about exclusivity anymore.  And that's, in my respectful submission, just not an accurate characterization of the situation factually, or of the issue that is going to be before the Board.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I can just say ‑‑ I know this is starting to get a bit multilateral here, but I wonder if I can just add one thing that has not come up and should have.  I'm sorry, maybe I should have mentioned it earlier.


And that is my friend wants to put the other parties to their election as to what their positions are.  I think what's sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander, and I think that the company and others might like to know ‑ including the Board - might like to know, if the Board orders a naked will, will Direct go to vendor‑consolidated billing or not, because clearly that would be of interest in terms of the Board's long-term policy direction.


And I'm sure that the company might be interested in that, too.  We certainly would be.


And I'm not asking for that, but it's good example of how these things will develop over the course of the hearing, and it is not obvious who goes first and who goes second.  We all have positions that we have to come to.


MR. KAISER:  But it seems to me one thing is clear.  We're not going to be able to decide this today.  We might be able to decide something at the opening of the hearing - am I right - when we know to the extent there's been an agreement or hasn't been an agreement?  


The problem today is that you guys are still negotiating, and it sounds like there's some promise, at least, that there might be some success before we have to start this case.  

So wouldn't it be prudent to see how far we get, and then, if there are some legitimate ‑‑ we can hear all these arguments at that point based on where we really are.  We'll know what the division is between the parties at that point.  


At this point, we don't even know.  We're dealing with some hypothetical.


MR. HOAKEN:  Right, and we agree with that.  That is acceptable to Direct Energy, assuming that part of that discussion would then be a revisiting of the time frames and requirements –-


MR. KAISER:  Well, you can raise any as you want, then.

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'd just like to raise a single caution related to that.  As we've heard, there is sort of a partial proposal by the utility before us today; but as we've heard, the consultative is still sitting and deciding on this.  There is a bit of a concern, from Board Staff's perspective, that we have to ask our interrogatories by November 9th and ‑‑ pardon me, October 19th.  I'm mistaken.


And if we don't have the proposal before us, then it's very difficult for us to frame our IRs.  And I've heard what you've said, that we may be able to alter some time lines around this issue, but if we're not getting a final proposal before us until -- it sounds like it could be days before the hearing starts, December or -- December, Mr. Shepherd is indicating, or even later, perhaps; that really affects our ability to assess the proposal and to look at it.  


And of course the intervenors have to ask ‑‑ some of the intervenors are not members of the consultatives, so they may also have questions on that.


So I don't want to see this ‑‑ I'm not necessarily opposed to some slightly different time lines around this particular issue, but we have to keep in mind that we have a hearing coming up, and we need to make sure there is time to address the final proposal before that hearing.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. KAISER:  Let's ask that question.  When is the settlement conference?


MR. HOAKEN:  I'm just looking for the ‑‑


MR. MILLAR:  December 11th, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Well, it seems to me on this issue we're not going to know what the final proposal is, given the nature of this particular little problem.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I'm not sure when ‑‑ is there any way that the consultative can be pushed forward perhaps?  I don't know if it can be done quicker, but I'm a little nervous about going into the ADR without knowing one of the proposals.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The scheduling of the consultative is in the hands of Enbridge, and we haven't had a meeting in, what, about six weeks, something like that, I think?  Because preparing a rate case and that sort of stuff gets in the way, but I think it's expected that there will be another meeting relatively soon.  Enbridge could perhaps help us with ...

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Hoaken, the normal process is

Enbridge is the applicant.  They filed their evidence.  And one piece of that evidence is to comply with the Board's direction in the last decision on this specific matter; right?

     So they have done so.  It is their case to prove.  And

I understand it's an interim solution, and now I understand partial also.  There are some details that may be missing.

      So following that completion of the evidence, there is this process of, like in Issues Day, and then you're going to go to an ADR once we issue the issues list, and that's where it is possible there will be an agreement. 

That is a possibility; right?

     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And then everybody is happy, and it is presented to the Board; and if it's acceptable to the Board, okay, it's done.

      So if there is no agreement in the ADR process, it will be open to you to file a motion with the Board to set out the prejudice, if you like, if the time line is not extended to address Direct Energy's specific concerns.

     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Do you understand that?

     MR. HOAKEN:  I do, yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So what is the problem with that?

     MR. HOAKEN:  I think in answering Mr. Kaiser's question, who posed something similar to that, it didn't, as least to my understanding, involve a motion, but the same –-


MR. KAISER:  The same substance.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, I’m talking about when the ADR deadline hits, if there's no agreement, you just file a motion.

     MR. HOAKEN:  Well, assuming that all other evidence that is relevant to the issues in the record, I think we have no difficulty with that.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, what other evidence, sir?  It is the evidence before us now as filed by Enbridge.

     MR. HOAKEN:  Right.  I meant by other intervenors,

Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, why would the intervenors file evidence on this?

     MR. HOAKEN:  If that's the case, I'm content.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, I understand they would not be filing evidence –- they do not have to file evidence. You're content with that?

     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, I'm trying to be very patient before we get to my submissions here.  Just to ensure is that I'm clear, in no way is Superior agreeing at this point not to file evidence on the Open Bill Access issue. 

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, by whom?

     MR. KAISER:  Superior.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Superior itself?  Anybody can file evidence, if they wish.

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's my understanding.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Within the deadlines.  We don't change anything, okay?  The deadlines for the final evidence have been set, and they're 'til when, Mr. Millar?  The evidence has to be filed by intervenors?

     MR. MILLAR:  November 14th, Mr. Vlahos.

     MR. VLAHOS:  November 14th.  So anybody can file evidence by November 14th.  It is up to Direct Energy to file evidence or not file evidence.  And when ADR comes and there is no successful conclusion to this issue, Direct

Energy is welcome to come and ask for a motion for extended time lines to address matters that they are in need of more time to address.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And just to clarify, Mr. Vlahos, I would assume that HVAC Coalition would be in the same position, that if we wanted an interim --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Of course.  And that was, I guess, Ms. DeMarco's concern, because if Superior wants to file evidence now, is this your concern that you may want to file evidence but others will not?

     MS. DeMARCO:  My concern is that we have a comprehensive proposal in front of us -- there's a ton of evidence laid -- that there's the ability to ask interrogatories on everything that's in that proposal, the three prongs, that the consultative is going on in relation to particular issues associated with that proposal, and that we should be proceeding by the normal course of action, consistent with the Board's decision.

     And I think maybe it's worthwhile having a look at those decisions because you might be functus.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Well, that's what I'm suggesting, that we go with a normal course.  If Direct Energy is not satisfied at the conclusion of the ADR, then it's up to them to file a motion, and there's no guarantee that -- how the motion will go.  I'm not saying that it will be granted.  That is their risk.  They have chosen not to file evidence now, so they have to live with the risk whether the motion will be accepted or not.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:

     MS. DeMARCO:  My understanding was that the Board's original proposal -- I accept the procedure and I understand where that is going, but the original direction from the Board was that they file a comprehensive proposal, a complete proposal, as part of its 2007 rates case.  And then, again, in the decision on the motion, the Board specifically indicated that in this proceeding -- and I think the wording there is very, very telling, so if you don't mind, I'd like to point you to it.  It's tab 7 of the materials.

      On page 5 of that decision, second paragraph, it indicates:

“Direct Energy raised a concern that it is possible that the Board will not accept EGD's proposal for shared bill access and that if this were to occur, Direct Energy would have to make separate billing arrangements."

It's the same issue that I understand Direct are raising right now:

"Although it is indeed possible that the Board will ultimately reject EGDI's proposal, the decision did not set a timetable for the provision of a stand-alone bill in the event that EGDI's proposal proves unacceptable, either to the Board or to Direct Energy."

And then the Board goes on to indicate:

"If this eventuality comes to pass, it will be within the purview of the Panel hearing the 2007 rates application to make a determination regarding the timing of a stand-alone bill."

That appears to be the precise issue we're discussing again for the third time in this context.

     So it's our submission that the Board has heard these submissions.  They directed very clearly the parties to file a complete proposal, and the Board went on to clarify that since EGD has stated that it will be presenting a proposal for shared bill access, EGD will not be required to explain to the Board how it will provide a stand-alone bill by January 1, ‘07 but it will not vary its decision.

     So the existing decision stands.  We have direction from the Board as to what to do if you order them to go with the stand-alone bill, and we have evidence on the record, over a hundred pages, saying here are the four elements of the proposal, one of which includes financing, and all of this is properly the subject of Issue 7.5.

     I understand that, as in any case, if new issues are raised following the outcome of the procedures, that the parties have available to them the ability to bring a motion.  That's nothing new.

     But to go into this convoluted process because of decisions that are already on the record, and a clear application in this regard seems to me quite confusing to an otherwise very simple process.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD

     MR. VLAHOS:  Ms. DeMarco, I'm not sure where we've disagreed.  

The only question left with me now is whether this proposal by Enbridge is complete or partial in a sense that it cannot be visited in this hearing.  It cannot be tested because of its imperfections or incompleteness.  That's the only question in my mind.

     MR. CASS:  Again, Mr. Vlahos, from the perspective of

Enbridge, the proposal is the comprehensive proposal requested by to the Board.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. CASS:  What remains is whether there can be a solution with broader "buy-in," if I can put it that way, from other stakeholders.  But Enbridge's comprehensive proposal is on the record.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's why we have the ADR process.


MR. CASS:  Yes, and we have the consultative as well.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  And that's a matter outside the proceeding proper, if you like.  But, Mr. Hoaken, if that’s the normal process, and it would be open to you if there's no successful agreement on that issue, then you can file your own motion; or alternatively, you can file your evidence now, prior to November 14th.

     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So it has to be your choice.

     MR. HOAKEN:  The only difficulty I have with the idea,

Mr. Vlahos, of the normal process is that, as I said - and I think as Mr. Cass said - this is not the normal situation and Direct Energy is not in a normal position.  It's not the applicant yet.  It is a party whose interests stand to be very seriously affected by the Board's acceptance or non-acceptance of the proposal.  And it therefore has a direct and material interest in the basis upon which others may be saying to this Board in the evidentiary foundation for those suggestions that this proposal is somehow incomplete or otherwise inadequate.

      And at this point, we do not know the specifics of what those suggestions are going to be, and that's the difference --

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, Mr. Hoaken.  I guess my response to that is that in any application by Enbridge, there are myriads of parties that have been affected and they don't know exactly what type of impact or type of decision that this Board may come down on, so this is not unusual for Direct Energy.  It's not the first time that a party has been directly or indirectly affected by an issue before the Board.  

Mr. Chairman, I have no more questions from that.

     MR. KAISER:  I suppose one issue that's obvious from this discussion is you certainly have the opportunity of filing evidence based on this proposal.  Do you intend to do that?


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  You do?


MR. HOAKEN:  We are still considering that, but at this point I would say yes.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, just before we leave this, and because I am receiving instructions from a counsel who can be a difficult taskmaster, indeed can be a grumpy taskmaster, I think it incumbent on me to put the position of his client on the record.  It may now be my submissions may be redundant, but they're opposed to the relief Mr. Hoaken is asking for.


First of all, with respect to the request for parties to set out their positions now, that's an extraordinary remedy, as Mr. Vlahos has pointed out.  No one is ever required to do that, and the exact analogue to the position, the perilous position he claims Direct is in, is the position of Enbridge, which doesn't know until the arguments are filed what relief people are asking for in every single case that it's in.  So Direct is really no different than anybody else.


Secondly, with respect to the question of a possible delay, I think the questions or the suggestions that Mr. Vlahos has provide an ample form of relief, should it be necessary for them to do so.


Thank you, sir.


I can now send my staggering bill to my instructing counsel.


MR. KAISER:  Do I assume that Mr. Thompson's client is one of these that's opposed to ‑‑ that's, in effect, competing with Direct?


MR. WARREN:  It is, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. DeMarco, we've interrupted you about 15 times.  Did you have something you wanted to ...?


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:


MS. DeMARCO:  Let me try and be concise for you, if I can stretch my ability here.


MR. KAISER:  All three of us have agreed to say nothing for the next five minutes.


MS. DeMARCO:  I am probably a guilty party.  I have four main submissions.  The first is that the relief requested by Direct is contrary to the Board's decision in 2005‑0001.  I think we canvassed that.  


Similarly, the second submission is that it's contrary to the Board's decision on Direct's motion, and I think we've also sufficiently canvassed that.  

The third point is that to proceed in absence of the complete record, in absence of full detail on what Enbridge actually has in its proposal before you, may fetter the Board's discretion and prejudice the Board's full consideration of the Open Bill Access issue.  And in no way, shape, or form, given importance and the time the Board has spent on this issue to date, would we suggest or would we recommend, in my clients' submission, that the Board proceed in any other way than through full and fair consideration of the issues that are encompassed in this Open Bill Access.


And the fourth is more of a general point regarding the Board's processes and procedures, and is somewhat related to some of the issues we were talking about this morning.


What we have here is a decision by the Board that was very, very clear in the last rates case.  Secondly, we have a motion decision by the Board which provided additional clarity as to the Board's instruction.


We have Enbridge doing its best to attempt to comply with that proposal, and we now have a third party trying to effect further delay in the implementation of that proposal.


And it's our submission that that type of conduct, sanctioning that type of conduct ultimately dilutes respect for the Board's authority and adherence to the Board's decisions by sanctioning selective and delayed implementation of the Board's rulings and should not be encouraged by this Board.


And just a final comment here.  My friend Mr. Hoaken points out that Direct is not in the same position as other intervenors.  In fact, it's in a privileged position, because it remains on the bill while this issue is outstanding.


Those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  So, Mr. Hoaken, as to the final question, which is where we started, on 7.5.


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Outside of all of this discussion we've had - and you now understand it more fully - everyone is agreed that that wording is satisfactory as we proceed?


MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  There's nothing we need to do today with respect to 7.5, is there?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, if we're finished that part of the discussion, there is another part to do with 7.5 that I need to get on the record.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can do it now, if you would like.


MR. KAISER:  Sure.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's related to open bill, but not related to that, to the Direct Energy debate.


I understand that we have agreed - that is, the parties have agreed - that this issue includes the extent to which EGD is involved in the proposed financing affiliate of Enbridge Inc.  Enbridge Inc. is proposing to do, in effect, equipment financing in Ontario through an affiliate and is likely to want to do that through the EGD bill.  And we don't have all the details of that yet, but I think that's the proposal.  

And my client certainly, and I think others, are concerned that everybody understood that that is encompassed in the question of Open Bill Access.


MR. KAISER:  To be specific, the matter in which Enbridge finances equipment?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The manner in which the utility participates in that financing activity.  The financing activity itself is an affiliate relations issue.  It's not a rates issue, but how the utility facilitates it or has arrangements to assist it is part of the rate case, and I think that's generally agreed.  

I just wanted to make sure it got on the record that that's the case.


MR. KAISER:  Do you agree with that, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  May I just have a moment, Mr. Chair, please? 


[Mr. Cass confers with client]


MR. CASS:  Yes, Mr. Chair, I think the answer is an affirmative answer, in the sense that in the same way that such an arrangement with any party would be relevant under this open ‑‑ it sounds redundant, open bill ‑‑ under this bill-access issue, an arrangement with an affiliate would be relevant in the same manner.


MR. KAISER:  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's fine.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Anything further, Mr. Hoaken?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. HOAKEN:


MR. HOAKEN:  If I may just very quickly, Mr. Chair, I didn't get an opportunity to respond.  Just two submissions that I wanted to make in response to Ms. DeMarco.


First of all, I certainly regret that she has concluded that the intention of Direct Energy is to delay.  I think it's hopefully quite clear from our past participation in the processes, and our admitted contribution to the clarity of the issue that Ms. DeMarco now relies upon, that we are not in any way trying to impair or delay this process.  And, indeed, the basis for the suggestion we made today about the staging of evidence was to facilitate and to try to keep things moving forward.


As for the suggestion that Direct Energy enjoys some privileged type of position or preferential position, that's simply not the case, and I have to correct the record every time my friends say that, because that is simply not the case.  


Those arrangements are now there to be bargained for by any of our competitors, and they cannot, in my respectful submission, rely on the fact that they've chosen for commercial reasons perhaps known only to them not to do so.


MR. KAISER:  All right, thank you.


Mr. Millar, what's left, 6.5?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right, Mr. Chair.  Of course this is a LIEN issue, so I think I should defer to Mr. Manning.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Mr. Manning.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MANNING:


MR. MANNING:  Thank you, sir.


LIEN, as you say, is the proponent of the low‑income rate assistance issue in 6.5, which is contested, as you've seen.  

Firstly, could I just check?  Among the many sets of materials you have in front of you now should be a second book of authorities for the Low‑Income Energy Network which is called "Book of authorities of the Low‑Income Energy Network, Issues Day Conference."  I just want to check that the panel has that before them.  

So I'll start by reading briefly Issue 6.5, which is contested:

“Should the residential rate schedules for EGDI include a rate affordability assistance program for low-income consumers?  If so how should such a program be funded?  How should eligibility criteria be determined?  How should levels of assistance be determined?”

That's virtually identical with the wording that was also put forward by LIEN in the Union Gas rates case earlier in the year.

     This is a vital and urgent issue for LIEN, and it's a vital and urgent issue for the poor.  I don't think it's too melodramatic to say that for the poor, the cost of gas can mean the difference between heat or food.  It's undoubtedly an unpopular item, not only with the utilities but also with some intervenors, but unpopularity should not determine what is a proper issue to be heard in this proceeding.

     The Board has already acknowledged the importance of this issue in the Union Gas rates case in 2007 a little earlier this year.  

I'd like to take you first of all to tab 5 of my materials, which is a transcript containing the decision of the Panel on a motion that was brought by Union Gas in that proceeding to strike LIEN's evidence of its expert in support of this issue.  I'll come back to the status of that issue and how it was dealt with, but in terms of this being agreed as an important issue, I'd just like to read from the decision.  

I'm looking on page 86 in tab 5, and we're down in line 18.  So the decision:

"Regarding this motion, the Board grants Union's motion to strike the evidence of Roger Culpman         and denies the cross-motion of LIEN.  The

Board agrees that either including the evidence of Mr. Culpman under 6.1 or adding LIEN’S new issue would cause significant procedural problems.  

“The Board is concerned that issues were not clearly identified earlier.  However, this is not an absolute bar to the consideration of the issue in this proceeding per se.  Of greater concern is the generic nature of the evidence and its applicability to a very broad range of stakeholders.  

“The evidence clearly raises policy questions.  An issue of this importance demands an appropriate forum.  It is not clear at this time what that forum will be, but Board Staff will develop a generic approach to the appropriate forum and timing for the Board's consideration of this important issue.”


I’ll come back to that decision, but I wanted to draw to this Panel's attention fact that the matter has been before the Board and the Board have already considered it to be an issue of importance and one which merits hearing as an issue.

     So just to summarize that, where LIEN considered that therefore this is an issue which is directly relevant to this proceeding, it is an issue of acknowledged importance and one which is proper for hearing by the Board in this proceeding.

     I suspect that there may be some question as to the

Board's jurisdiction to hear a matter of this sort, and I would like to refer to some legislation and case law in support of my submissions on those issues.

     Firstly, I would take you, please, to tab 3 of my materials, which contains some very familiar legislative provisions from the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998.

    Firstly the Board's objectives for its responsibility in relation to gas, objective 2 is:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."

     And then we get to section 36, which is an excerpt on the same page.  And that's simply the provision which everybody knows under which the Board makes orders approving or fixing rates.  And it's an order to approve or fix just and reasonable rates for the sale by gas transmitters, gas distributors, and storage companies and for the transmission, distribution, and storage of gas.

     So the key phrase and a very familiar one is "just and reasonable rates."

     First thing I would note is the word "rates" and not

"rate" is used, and so the legislation envisages the possibility of more than one rate.  

And of course we have rate classes, as is quite a common occurrence, and sometimes we have rate classes which are sometimes split at the behest of the Board or on the application of a utility or an intervenor.

     We then have the concept of what is just and reasonable.  I have some case law to deal with that, although usually, as again I think the Panel will be well aware, it's designed to refer to the balancing exercise that is undertaken saying what a reasonable rate of return to the utility should mean.  

And I would turn and ask you to turn to tab 2 of the materials.  And this is the case of Union Gas versus the Board back in 1983.  It dealt with a similar statutory provision under the then-Ontario Energy Board Act back in 1980.

      If I could ask you to turn to page 6, paragraph 32, at the bottom of the page, I'll read from there.

"The phrases ‘just and reasonable’ or ‘fair and reasonable’, ‘rate base’, and ‘used’ and ‘useful’ have been used to describe the principles and methodology to be used by public utility boards and commissions in fixing public utility rates in the United States and Canada for many years.  See, for example, Northwestern Utilities Limited v. City of Edmonton.

“The duty of the Board was to fix fair and reasonable rates, rates which under the circumstances would be fair to the consumer, on the one hand, and which, on the other hand, would secure to the company a fair return for the capital invested.  

“By ‘a fair return’ is meant that the company will be allowed as large a return on the capital invested in its enterprise which will be net to the company as it would receive were it investing the same amount in other securities possessing an attractiveness, stability and certainty equal to that of the company's enterprise."

So that's helpful.  It takes us a little bit further in understanding what "just and reasonable" and "fair and reasonable" mean; although, again, we’re usually looking into these interpretation as to what is the Board's rate of return.

     It's helpful to note, though, that specifically in the excerpt that I've just quoted it speaks of being fair to the consumer, on the one hand, as well as how it treats the return to the utility.

      Moving on in the same decision in the same tab, page 11, paragraph 41, the judgment continues as follows:

"The general background in considering the rate-making function performed by the OEB, it is useful to consider a quotation from the ‘Principles of Public Utility Regulation’ by A.J.G. Priest.  

“At page 4 the learned author quotes the speaker on this subject in the following terms:  In the United States private enterprise operates a larger share of these vital industries than almost any other country because our balance system of regulation by public authority.  

“This system is designed to protect consumers against exploitation where competition is inherently unavailable, inadequate, and to ensure that these industries will serve the public interest.  At the same time, it provides these companies necessary assurance of the opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return on their investment and to attract capital for expansion.  

“Put another way, it is the function of the OEB to bounce the interest of the appellants in earning the highest possible return on the operation of its enterprise, a monopoly, with the conflicting interest of its customers to be served as cheaply as possible."

And then just the first sentence of the next paragraph:

 "That in balancing these conflicting interests and determining rates that are just and reasonable, the OEB has a wide discretion is not in issue or in doubt."

So dwelling on that last point, the Board, as I'm sure you will be well aware, has a wide discretion in these matters, and LIEN would respectfully suggest that that alone gives it the jurisdiction to consider the issue before it in Issue 6.5. 


But, also, it gives us a little more information about what is considered to be the meaning of an expression like "just and reasonable" in the legislation.  Particularly, I note the idea that the consumer shall be served as cheaply as possible.


We're still not getting to the question of what "just" means in "just and reasonable."  We hear about “fair.”  We can understand what "reasonable" is.  We can see that the legislation talks about a balancing exercise.  But I haven't been able to find any jurisprudence that specifically interprets the meaning of "just."  And those words have been specifically chosen by the legislatures in producing section 36 of the OEBA.


In the absence of such interpretation, I've turned for simple definition to a dictionary definition as a starting point, and I would refer you to tab 4 of my materials, simply an extract from the Concise Oxford Dictionary of Current English.  And on the third page of that, we have our definition about halfway down the right column:  "’Just’ means "acting or done in accordance with what is morally right or fair."  And there are a number of other definitions which we could go through, but the principal definition is that.


So if that is to be taken as a proper definition of what is just in the legislation, then it means there is a moral component when considering the balance between the monopoly which the utility has and the obligation to the consumer, which the utility has and which the Board is bound to apply in asserting this legislative provision and in determining the rates.


LIEN's view is that taking that moral component into account, there is a different balance to be made between Enbridge and its poorest customers and Enbridge and, say, an industrial group of consumers.  And it is a proper question to be asked as to exactly how that balance should be drawn in respect of the poorer sections of the community, as distinct from other sections of the community.


Now, that is at the heart of what LIEN's proposal for Issue 6 ‑‑ what lies behind LIEN's proposal for Issue 6.5.


Now, whether or not that's an easy proposition for you to take on board today and to determine, I don't know, but I think what we're deciding today is a question of what issues should be before the Board, and I would respectfully submit that this is eminently an arguable issue that falls within the statutory provisions that I've mentioned and the judicial interpretation, so far as it goes, and a matter that properly, therefore, ought to be allowed into this hearing for consideration and debate and argument in the normal way.


I'd like to return, at this point, to the question of the Union Gas rates case and the decision on the motion that I read to you from.  I used that to show that the Board have considered it an important issue that merits hearing. 


So you may ask a few questions.  You may say, and I may hope to pre-empt some questions on this:  So what happened there?  If that issue was up before the Board, why did it get thrown out?


Well, the fact of the matter is that it wasn't specifically on the issues list and not in terms, at any rate, and also the evidence of LIEN's expert before the Board was quite wide‑ranging in its nature and content, and the Board therefore considered, in the context of the motion by Union Gas, to strike it, that it should be struck for those reasons.


The Board did not make a decision on the merits of the issue itself to be heard in a proceeding, save to the extent that I've already mentioned.


So you may then say, Well, that's all very well, but surely you got your hearing, because there was an instruction or decision to give an instruction to Board Staff to develop an appropriate forum for a generic hearing.


Well, there has been some dialogue, but notwithstanding the goodwill of Board Staff, which LIEN are satisfied exists, the first meeting on that issue took place only in the last couple of weeks.  And whilst the dialogue was satisfactory, LIEN were concerned to understand that this is not a high‑priority item for Board Staff at present, given, presumably, the other pressures and demands on their time.


It is a high‑priority item for LIEN, and it is a high‑priority item for those poor sections of the community and Enbridge's customer base who will, as I've said, and although it seems melodramatic, will in some circumstances be making a choice this winter between how much they eat and how much heating they have.  


So the situation that somehow we should fall in the middle of this potential promise of a generic hearing and the hearing here and now, where this issue could be heard, the idea we would fall in the middle of that is something that's completely unacceptable to LIEN.


So LIEN respectfully submits that it is a high‑priority item for poor consumers and that, in the absence of an order now for a generic hearing on this issue, low-income consumers are left without a forum where the issue can be raised, unless it is included in these individual rate cases.  And LIEN are of the view that this was contrary to the rules of natural justice and procedural fairness.


So in my respectful submission, unless the Board is prepared to order now, of its own motion, that there should be a generic hearing on this issue, this is an issue that should properly be included in the list as Issue 6.5.  

And that, subject to any questions you may have, concludes my submissions.  Thank you.

QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Manning, I understand the problem you had in the Union case, and the problem here, of course, will be whether this is an appropriate issue in a rate case.  But you could have simply just brought a motion to have this special rate struck, and the Board would have heard that application.


MR. MANNING:  Yes, yes, we could.  We had been directed to dialogue with Board Staff, and we have done.


It's difficult for my clients to know what is the balance of -- what is the correct balance of deference to pay to a direction like that in an order of the Board.


Also, there is -- to be blunt about it, there is an issue of how eligibility for costs works in those circumstances.  

If we had brought our own motion, I am not entirely clear that that would have given us eligibility, given LIEN eligibility for costs.  And, in the context of our discussion this morning, LIEN simply can't operate if it doesn't get a full award of costs.  Half costs, a bit of costs, no costs, LIEN's voice is unfortunately lost.  It doesn't have that kind of cash flow.


So having an informal dialogue and relying on the goodwill of Board Staff and direction of Ms. Nowina in the Union Gas rates case seemed to be the appropriate way.


If it's appropriate for us in the context of this hearing - assuming we have eligibility for costs and intervenor status - to raise such a motion, then, yes, that becomes a feasible and attractive proposition.  And, indeed, that may be the right way to go, but this is my first opportunity to address the issue.


MR. KAISER:  Well, I was just dealing with your concern that you didn't have any other options other than this case.  I think there have been motions brought by other parties.  

I think Pollution Probe brought a motion asking for LRAM and SSM, if I remember, that started the dialogue more than two years ago with respect to CDM, and I'm pretty sure they were awarded costs.

      But that's an aside.  I think you're saying that the

Board has not been responsive to your first attempt to address this issue.

     MR. MANNING:  They have been responsive --

     MR. KAISER:  I'm just trying to get the dates right. 

When did you first get that decision?  You mentioned you had your first meeting two weeks ago.

     MR. MANNING:  I think it was within the last couple of weeks.  My clients were at the meeting; I was not at the meeting.  And this was back in ... I think it was back in May.  Sorry, I should have --

     MR. MILLAR:  May 23rd.

     MR. MANNING:  Yes, May 23rd.

     MR. KAISER:  That was the decision?

     MR. MANNING:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  And at the meeting -- you've had one meeting ...

     MR. MANNING:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Did I hear you say that there didn't seem to be great enthusiasm?  Who did you meet with?

     MR. MANNING:  Again, it was my clients and not me who met, and I haven't had a full report.  It has been very recent.  It will be only next week that I get a full report of that.

     My clients were not discouraged by the meeting, but they were concerned that it wasn't a high-priority item and it had already taken this long for there to be a meeting.

     I'm not really making the point -- I'm not making the point at all -- to criticize Board Staff.  I don't know what their other pressures are.

I'm just saying, in terms of timing and how long we can wait for that discussion to mature into an appropriate forum, the line is drawn by the fact that we have this rates case now and we have to take some action, because otherwise another winter goes by and another rate is set and our issue, which for us and for our constituency is very important, doesn't get to be heard.

     MR. KAISER:  Were you told that there will be a hearing or there will not be a hearing?

     MR. MANNING:  No.  No, there was no firm decision.

     MR. KAISER:  No commitment.

     MR. MANNING:  I think my clients got a warmish feeling about it, I think is the best I could say, but it was one of those "this is very preliminary," and that's the best of the impression that I got.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Cass, what's your position on this?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. CASS:

     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

      I will try to keep my submissions brief, sir.  I would hope, though, that the brevity of the submissions would not cause the Board to be under any misapprehension.  Enbridge Gas Distribution is strongly opposed to the inclusion of this issue on the issues list.

      When the matter came up in the Union Gas proceeding,

Enbridge Gas Distribution appeared at that time to make submissions.  The company's position is set out in the transcript from May 23rd in the Union proceeding.  That was the day upon which the issue was heard there and was ruled upon by the Board.

      I won't repeat those submissions here.  Mr. Manning heard them at the time.  Many of the people in this room heard them.

     I know that two members of this Panel did not.  But they are on the record.  I think it's pages 47-54 of that transcript.

      Essentially, the position of Enbridge Gas Distribution is, first, that this concept is such a radical departure from what this Board traditionally does in respect of rate-making that that sort of policy decision ought to come from the Government.  In the submission done May 23rd, I discussed several ways that might occur.  Again, I won’t go into it. 

    Second, the submission of Enbridge Gas Distribution was then, and is now, that if the Board is inclined to entertain this sort of a concept, that it is a generic issue; it is not an issue that is suited for the rate case of a particular utility like Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

Again, the reasons for that were all set out previously and are on the transcript.

      The important point, I think, from the point of view of Enbridge Gas Distribution, is, in our submission, that second part of the company's position was accepted by the

Board.  So the Board did not, at least on that occasion, accept that this was a matter for the Government, but it did accept, in my submission, that it's a generic issue not appropriate for a particular rate proceeding.  And I will come to the decision on that.

     Now, this was important for Enbridge Gas Distribution. 

The whole point of becoming involved in that case and making an argument there was a concern that if the issue did not proceed in that case simply because of some sort of procedural ground, then it would immediately land in this case and need to be addressed again.

     So this was part of what I said to the Board on that occasion.  There was a concern that this was a generic issue, that it should be dealt with in that fashion, and the company was concerned about the Board making that sort a ruling, rather than just a process-type of a ruling, which would just end up having the issue argued again in this case.

     In my submission, that is exactly what the Board did in the ruling that is included in Mr. Manning's materials at tab 5.  The Board started out by expressing a concern about the manner in which the issue had come up.  That's at page 86.  

The Board said it's concerned that the issues were not clearly identified earlier, but then the Board did go on to say:

"However, this is not an absolute bar to the consideration of the issue in the proceeding per se.  Of greater concern is the generic nature of the evidence and its applicability to a very broad range of stakeholders ..." and so on.

So from the point of view of Enbridge Gas

Distribution, the concern that brought the company to that proceeding was answered in the Board's decision.  The Board recognized some procedural issues that had been raised there but said there is a broader basis upon which this should not proceed and that broader basis is that it's a generic issue that's applicable to a broad range of stakeholders.

     The Board went on to say that:

“This demands an appropriate forum and Board Staff will develop a generic approach to the appropriate forum and timing for the Board's consideration."


Now, what that means for Enbridge Gas Distribution in this case is that the company has not prepared or presented any evidence on the issue in the context of this 2007 rate case.  Just as the Board ruled in Union's 2007 rate case that it should be dealt with generically, the company accepted that ruling and proceeded with this case on the basis that that is the way the issue will be dealt with by the Board.  It will be treated as a generic issue.

      Consequently, to now put it on to the issues list in this case would, in my submission, be a very serious setback for the schedule of this case.  Enbridge has not even begun to marshal any the considerable evidence that could be needed to address an issue of this nature because the Board did, in my submission, rule that the appropriate forum for consideration of the issue is a generic one.

     I think those are my submissions, Mr. Chair.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let me just deal with them.

     You would agree with what Mr. Manning has said, that this time out there's no notice issue.  He doesn't face that problem.

     MR. CASS:  Yes, I think that's fair, Mr. Chair.  I didn't take part in them, so I'm not familiar, but I don't think there were procedural issues in the Union case that are not present here.

     MR. KAISER:  So there is this matter that it should be dealt with generically.  But if we put it on the issues list here, Union can always participate in this case, just as you went in and participated in their case on this issue, couldn’t they?

     MR. CASS:  That could be so, Mr. Chair.  But again, the issue I don't think is just a Union issue.  In fact, in my submissions on May 23rd, I referred to, in fact, some of the material on this issue that made clear that it's one that extends to electricity LDCs, as well as gas LDCs.

     MR. KAISER:  He's not asking for any relief with respect to electricity.

     MR. CASS:  But, Mr. Chair, it's presented as a policy issue, and the manner in which it's presented --

     MR. KAISER:  Did the Board say that it needs to be dealt with in electricity and gas?  Needs to be dealt with at the same time?  Or were they talking about a generic gas hearing?

     MR. CASS:  I don't know that they were specific, sir. 

I'm just quickly looking at it; I don't know if they were specific.  It was certainly part of my submissions.  

Again, the Board can read those, and the materials that were put in front of the Board at that time talked about it as an issue for electricity customers, as well as gas.

      But the other concern is to bring that, and to bring Union into this proceeding now would, again, be a serious setback to any schedule for this case at this time.

      I wouldn't even want to hazard a guess as to how many more months that would add to the schedule, but it would be, I think, a serious timing problem now.

     MR. KAISER:  Is it really months?  Have you addressed your mind as to how long this would take to deal with this? 

Your friend is now saying it's going to set this case back for months if we include this issue.  Realistically how much time would this add to this case, in your view?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MANNING:


MR. MANNING:  Sorry.  From our side, it wouldn't involve a great deal of time.  I understand that from a utility's point of view, they would have to provide more of the information, so I can see that there would be a burden on them.  But the information is statistical and other information that they already have in one form or another, and obviously it's easy for me to say this, but I can't see that it would take months and months for them to do that.  


If they've understood ever since the Union Gas decision we have before us that there was going to be something going on, then presumably they have already started to marshal their information and to make sure they have it to hand in preparation for the event of the generic hearing, if that's really what Enbridge is saying.  


I'm sure they didn't say or were thinking to themselves when that was said ‑‑ sorry, I'm taking Mr. Cass's submission at face value that they heard what they did from the panel in the Union Gas case and they said, Oh, well, it's going to be dealt with in the generic hearing.  Then they thought to themselves, Well, that's not going to happen for a year and a half, so we're not going to do anything.  


Presumably, if they really did what he is saying, they started to prepare their information now, and the exercise of pulling it together will be a relatively simple matter.


MR. KAISER:  I haven't looked at what you filed in that previous case, but did you file a specific proposal or was it just sort of a general submission that this was a good idea?


MR. MANNING:  We had expert evidence from an economist who's an expert in similar systems in the U.S., which are the best example.


Our difficulty ‑‑ I mean, I'm talking very blithely about our procedural errors, because we only came in - "we", Willms & Shier Environmental - only came into the case for that particular hearing, for that particular motion, for reasons that I do not know the detail of.  


The issue and terms never got onto the list, and the evidence that had been produced by the expert had been designed to be applicable to more than one proceeding should the need arise, and the Board concluded at that time that that evidence was too widely drawn and that the issue should have been on the list.  That's why it got kicked out.


So I think you could probably say that LIEN, one way or another, didn't get its act together properly for that proceeding, but that's not the issue here.


In terms of the ‑‑ in terms of the evidence, this is a proper expert in the field who could give proper expert testimony about comparable systems.  All of the information on which we could assess what Enbridge or, for that matter, Union could do is with the utilities, and would have to come out either in evidence or in interrogatories.


So it is correct to say they would have some work to do to produce additional evidence.  I don't want to detract from that idea.


MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if I might ‑‑ I'm sorry, if I might just elaborate on that a little bit?


MR. KAISER:  Let's hear from Mr. Warren first.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, before the exchange goes any further, Mr. Chairman, I thought it would be helpful for the Board to understand that my client and that of Mr. Thompson agree with Mr. Cass.  We're strongly opposed to having this issue put on the issues list.


First of all, let me say I disagree strongly with Mr. Manning about the effect of the Board's decision in the earlier case.  

If you would turn to tab 5 of his materials, and on page 87, first of all, let me preface this by saying you don't have the benefit of the voluminous evidence that was put in by Mr. Colton on behalf of LIEN the last time, but it consisted of an analysis of certain measures that had been undertaken in various jurisdictions in the United States. 


That evidence, obviously, was never tested or examined, but the implications of the Colton regime that he sketched out stretched well beyond the gas utilities and extended to the electric utilities.  And I say, with the greatest of respect, it would be naive on our part to assume that any order the Board made in this case wouldn't immediately have effect on the electric utilities.


But what the Board decided in that case, and I quote:

"The evidence clearly raises policy questions.  An issue of this importance demands 'an appropriate forum'." 


It didn't say "this forum" or this Board should do it, because the position which our client took in this case is that this is a matter that involves decision about indirect taxation and it is a decision which should be made by the elected representatives of the people and not made by a regulatory agency.


The second point I want to make is that the Board did not have, because we didn't have the opportunity in that case, to get detailed submissions by various parties on the jurisdiction of the Board to entertain and grant this kind of relief, and we still don't have that, Mr. Chairman.  And the reason we don't have it in this case is that we were relying on the fact that this was going ‑‑ at least my client was relying on the fact that the issue of whether or not it should be heard by the Board, in a generic hearing or otherwise, was going to be a matter that was raised.


What Mr. Manning neglected to tell you is that not long after the Board's decision was rendered I wrote to the Board saying that you should give all parties an opportunity to make submissions about the issue of jurisdiction and the issue of the appropriate forum before you convene a generic process.


So all of those threshold issues are out there.


Now, with the greatest of respect to Mr. Manning, in my respectful submission, we say this issue should not be considered by the Board at all, but if the Board is going to consider it, it should allow all of the affected stakeholders, including Union Gas and the electric utilities and anyone else - for example, the Ministry of Energy, if it wishes - to make submissions about whether, A, this is an appropriate forum, and, B, whether the Board has the jurisdiction to embark on granting this kind of relief.


Now, I agree with Mr. Cass that in order for the utility to respond to Mr. Colton's proposal would take a substantial amount of time, a substantial -- I believe a substantial amount of expert evidence, as to the experience in the United States.  But I'll go beyond that by saying that it would not be Mr. Cass's client alone who would likely lead evidence. 


Certainly speaking on behalf of my client, the Consumers Council, we would likely lead evidence on this, and it would require expertise from the United States, as well.


So I don't think, again, with the greatest of respect, that we should be naive about the fact that including this issue on the issues list would balloon this case into something that wouldn't be finished until next June, at a minimum, because the issues raised by Mr. Colton's evidence are very dense and very complex.  


So I say, with the greatest of respect to Mr. Manning, that if he wants the Board to hear this, the appropriate thing to do is to engage all stakeholders, not a private conversation between his client and Board Staff about what should be done, but engage all stakeholders on the threshold question of jurisdiction and the appropriate forum, and then the Board as a whole can decide what it wants to do.  


It should not be added, in my respectful submission, as an issue in this case.


Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. DeMarco.


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:


MS. DeMARCO:  My submissions are on behalf of TransAlta.  And essentially my client, TransAlta, takes no position on the inclusion of this issue on the issues list but wishes to emphasize for the Board that it was its understanding that, much like Mr. Warren has submitted, this issue would be dealt with in a broad public policy or generic forum.


And that was certainly a safe assumption, based on the Board's decision in the Union case.  And, with respect, they think that that is the appropriate way to proceed.


That being said, they remain taking no position on the issue.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, do you have anything on this?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No submissions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I do have a submission, if the other parties are finished.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  I have to say that on this issue, we side with Enbridge and Mr. Warren.  The Board's decision in the last hearing was quite clear.  It says Board Staff will develop a generic approach as to the appropriate forum and timing for the Board's consideration of this important issue.  

And if we were to stray from that, first, I think it flies in the face of what the Board has already decided on this very issue, but it also raises a question of, first, what happens to this generic process that Board Staff is already working on?  Does that continue or does it work in conjunction with this?  I mean, there has to be some discussion of that.


And, second, what happens to Union?  You suggest that they are a party to this, but this Board is not empowered to make any decisions that would affect Union.  So I don't see how Union's intervention in this case really gets to the heart of the matter that this is a generic, a generic issue, to say nothing of what Mr. Warren has already pointed out, in that the report by Mr. Colton clearly could apply to the electric LDCs, as well.  And certainly this hearing has nothing to do with that.


Mr. Chair, it's our position that the Board has directed Board Staff to come up with -- they didn't say “a generic hearing.”  They said “develop a generic approach to this matter.”  And Mr. Manning is perhaps fair to say that it hasn't got off to a running start, but this decision was made in the late spring.  It's now early fall.  It is starting to work its way through the Board, and we're going to be coming forward with something, I suspect ‑‑ well, I don't want to put a time line on it, because I don't know.  


I appreciate his frustration, but it's been a very busy summer with the Board, and we just haven't had time to give it the attention it deserves.


And just one more matter.  I know Mr. Warren mentioned that this shouldn't be a matter that's decided between the Board and LIEN, and I agree with that entirely.  There was a meeting recently that was requested by LIEN, but that's not different than -- we get requests from people to meet with Board Staff all the time to discuss matters that are before the Board, and the Board does meet with parties from time to time to discuss matters.

     Whatever proposal comes forward from Board Staff will be one developed by Board Staff, and we'll consult with other parties as necessary.  But this is not LIEN working through Board Staff to bring forward a proposal.  This will be a Board Staff proposal.

     Subject to any questions, Mr. Chair, those are my submissions on this topic.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

     MR. KAISER:  I have two questions for you.  

Mr. Manning's back here.  He got kicked out the first time, and he was late getting his material together and so on.  He's tried to remedy that, got rid of some of those issues.

      Basically, he wants know when he's going to get his hearing.  Could you report back to us and tell us on the record when you think Board Staff might come up with some kind of concrete proposal?

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, I don't know that he will get a hearing.  There's nothing in here about a hearing.  It says “generic approach,” whatever the approach will be.

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I’m asking if he's going to get a hearing or whether he’s not going to get a hearing or what he’s going to get and when he's going to get it.      


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm certainly happy to make inquiries on that and report back as best I can.

     MR. KAISER:  Just tell us what they tell you.

     MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough, and I'll do that.

     MR. KAISER:  Now, the second issue relates to this matter of jurisdiction.  It's been raised by Mr. Manning; it's been raised by Mr. Warren.  It's still floating out there.

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

     MR. KAISER:  Leaving aside whether, if we were to hear this, this would turn it into a huge case that would take forever, there is still that jurisdictional issue which is going to have to be resolved regardless of what proposal Board Staff comes up with.  In other words, on the narrow legal question, the Board either has jurisdiction over this or it doesn't.  I'm asking you whether there's any merit to this panel, since it's before us now, getting submissions on jurisdiction, possibly even in writing, whether we could include it in this case for whatever reason as a second issue.  

Do you see any merit in us at least addressing this jurisdictional issue?

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, I think that would probably be putting the cart before the horse.  If it's not going to be on the issues list, I don't see any -- the jurisdictional issue, I have done a little -– we don’t have the Board Staff position on it yet, but it's not a simple matter to look up.  It's not a one-page memo by any stretch of the imagination.  It's a complicated issue.

     Board Staff doesn't have a final position on that yet, but --

     MR. KAISER:  Did the jurisdictional issue come up the first time?

     MR. MILLAR:  It was raised, but the reason the report was excluded from evidence is related, I think it's fair to say, to the fact it hadn't been on the issues list before. 

People had discussed the jurisdictional question, but there was no finding on that.

     In any event, depending on what approach the Board comes up with, that may affect the jurisdiction.  The Board may have jurisdiction to do some things and not do other things, and without knowing the forum and the extent of the approach the Board is going to take, I think it’s premature to look at jurisdiction, because that may well inform the jurisdiction issue.

     MR. KAISER:  I would have thought it would be of help for the Staff to know whether the Board has jurisdiction in the first instance.

     MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Warren has suggested -- there was a letter, I believe, from IGUA and from CCC saying that as a threshold issue, the Board should consider jurisdiction, and we may still do that.  But I think that properly falls within the generic approach the Board is doing, not within a rates case, where, in my submission, this issue shouldn't be heard.

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Manning?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MANNING:

     MR. MANNING:  Thank you, sir.

     I'm pleased that the dialogue is taking place, but there are several things that puzzle and concern me.

     Firstly, if jurisdiction is important, I seem to be the only one who's actually put submissions and referred to legislation and case law to suggest that the Board does have jurisdiction.  So as we sit here today, the legal argument before you is only mine, and everyone else has seen fit to criticize the idea, but nobody has had the desire or maybe the time or the courage, or who knows, to actually address the issue before you, even though the issue is up for discussion.

     So --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, sorry, are you referring to just this book of authorities?

     MR. MANNING:  And the argument I made before you, yes.     
MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  That's fine, just to know whether you were referencing other material in other proceedings or just --

     MR. MANNING:  No.  I've heard about the complexity, but I haven't heard any other argument by anybody either in the Union Gas rates case or this case to the contrary, so I came here in good faith to --

     MR. KAISER:  In the Union case, did you make an argument as you have today?

     MR. MANNING:  Referred to similar legislation and case law, yes, sir.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, on that, you said that you referenced the last Board decision in this matter.  I just wonder whether you've done any search on past Board decisions on this issue, special rates, special request for rate relief.  

Have you done any search to come up with decisions and therefore legal arguments on that issue?

     MR. MANNING:  We've done research on the interpretation of the authority of the Board under the just and reasonable rules and have come up with nothing.

     MR. VLAHOS:  You've only come up with the one source that you've filed here?

     MR. MANNING:  On that, yes, for this particular hearing, particularly in the background of a challenge against our intervention and costs eligibility.  Funding is really -- is an issue for LIEN.  We can't spend hours of endless research with the risk that we may not have got funding for our hours.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I appreciate that, but I'd suggest to you that if you did a search on Board decisions on special rates, then you'll come up with a plethora of decisions that speak to this matter, including jurisdictional aspects of it, and perhaps other case law.

     MR. MANNING:  Yes.  I mean, we have done research. 

I've had associates doing research.  I haven't found anything which seemed to be directly germane to this issue, but certainly we could -- if the matter is to be deferred or referred, or whatever, then in the context of a suitable hearing, we can do that.

      Again, forgive me for saying, if we're just asked to do that in a vacuum without a hearing in which we're eligible and which LIEN is eligible for costs, it's unlikely to get done.  The funding is a serious issue for LIEN's ability to address these issues.  

And when Mr. Warren talks about engaging everybody, that's a very nice idea, but if it's not done in a situation where LIEN is going to be paid its professional costs and disbursements and things like that, then they're not going to have the funds do it.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Manning, I didn't mean to argue with you.  All I suggest is that if you go to the OEB, there's a website where you can search for past decisions.  You can put in "special rates."  There's all kinds of things that you can do.

     MR. MANNING:  I'm obliged to you, Mr. Vlahos, and we are familiar with the site; thank you.

     A couple more comments.  You'll have heard that there are differing opinions on whether there should be a generic hearing by this Board or some generic solution or no decision that, no, it should be entirely a matter for the Government.  So it's not agreed.

     So the idea that we're going to go through this process and LIEN are going to have their issue heard is -- if it goes that route, is in doubt.  If it goes through the route of the dialogue with Board Staff, for all their good intention, you can hear that Mr. Warren and his clients are going to challenge jurisdiction, forum, and all sorts of things, and we may be strung out with that forever.  

And notwithstanding the timing inconvenience, we have a real live hearing with what I am contending is a Board with jurisdiction to hear our issues and the issue up in a timely manner in front of the Board.  

If it's not heard now, and we are left to spin in the wind until this comes up for discussion, and then maybe get shot down in some way or another, then, frankly, it will disenfranchise LIEN's constituency, and LIEN respectfully submits that it's a matter where they have a right to be heard.

     And this is the only real prospect, the only procedural prospect available to them to do this.

     When I first heard Mr. Cass speaking, I thought for a moment that he was favouring a generic hearing, and I couldn't immediately remember whether Enbridge were one of the parties who had written to Board Staff saying there's a threshold issue about jurisdiction.

     And I was quite excited about the idea that there may be some common agreement for a generic hearing.  And let me make it clear that if there were an order now, particularly one that was agreed by the utilities that there should be a generic hearing, then LIEN would support that.  

If not slavishly pursuing this rates case, it just wants to be heard and it wants certainty about being heard.  And having waited since May, now is the time, it respectfully submits, that a decision should and must be made.


I think that concludes my response.  So subject to any questions, thank you.

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Manning.  

Anything further, Mr. Millar?

     MR. MILLAR:  Unless I'm mistaken, Mr. Chair, I think that concludes the issues we have to deal with today.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, gentlemen, ladies.  We will get a decision to you as quickly as we can on the outstanding issues.

     --- Whereupon the Issues Day adjourned at 4:31 p.m.   
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